Apex Ace Holding Limited
HEREEZERERAT

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability) o
(REIBRBEMA L HHRAA) \ -

Stock code B3 X5% : 6036

Annual Report ’ o o
Fi 2023 \

* For identification purpose only 1% 5]



Contents

Eka:

Corporate Information

Chairman’s Statement

Biographies of Directors and Senior Management
Management Discussion and Analysis

Corporate Governance Report

Report of the Directors

Independent Auditor’s Report

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Five-year Financial Summary

Glossary

NSV

RS
EENHREEBREE
SHEERE S
TEERRS
EXTWRS
VR ER Gk e

R B A At

RE M B REME
LFEPHHE
ARK

7

1

24

1

57

63

65

67

69

71

176

177

ANNUAL REPORT 2023£E%R

1



Corporate Information
NIV

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Lee Bing Kwong (CEO)
Mr. Lo Yuen Kin
Ms. Lo Yuen Lai

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Cheung Siu Kui
Mr. Yim Kwok Man
Dr. Chow Terence

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Yim Kwok Man (chairman)
Mr. Cheung Siu Kui
Dr. Chow Terence

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Cheung Siu Kui (chairman)
Mr. Lee Bing Kwong
Mr. Yim Kwok Man

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Lee Bing Kwong (chairman)
Mr. Cheung Siu Kui
Dr. Chow Terence

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. Tang Yuen Ching, Irene, CPA, FCCA

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Lee Bing Kwong
Ms. Tang Yuen Ching, Irene

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR
Graham H.Y. Chan & Co.

Certified Public Accountants and Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited
Hang Seng Bank Limited

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P O Box 2681

Grand Cayman

KY1-1111, Cayman Islands

2 APEX ACE HOLDING LIMITED Yt EERIS IR A R AE

EFg

WTES

FRIFE (TERITHAE)
BTkt

EEYL

BIFNITESR
R/ NE SR E
BEIX feE
SEHEEE
BEREEY
BEIX ek (Z/%)

s/ NE SR E
SREHRBE

FMESE
sRNBSTE ()
FRICKE
BEIX SeE

RHEET
FRNFKE (EE)
/N STE
SREHBELE

ATME
B8 85 22 1= > CPA~FCCA

RIERR
FRICKE
WEE L

ENVE L]
v =h e
BFE DDA AR F 2t B RE1Z AT

FEFRIRTT

BB LBESRTARAT
ERIRT &B) BARAT
1BERITARAR

sEHINEREE

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P O Box 2681

Grand Cayman

KY1-1111, Cayman Islands



Corporate Information
NIV

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Units 2-3, 1/F

Sun Cheong Industrial Building
1 Cheung Shun Street
Kowloon, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN THE PRC

26K, NEO Tower A
6011 Shennan Avenue
Futian District
Shenzhen, The PRC

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P O Box 2681

Grand Cayman

KY1-1111, Cayman Islands

BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Union Registrars Limited

Suites 3301-04, 33/F

Two Chinachem Exchange Square
338 King's Road, North Point
Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISOR

As to Hong Kong Law:

Mason Ching & Associates

2403, 24 / F, World-wide House,

19 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong

As to PRC Law:

Guangdong Baocheng Law Firm

18/F, Huitong Building,

Wenxin 5" Road, Nanshan District, Shenzhen,
Guangdong Province,

PRC

CORPORATE WEBSITE
http://www.apexace.com

INVESTOR RELATIONS CONTACT
E-mail: ir@apexace.com

LISTING INFORMATION
Place of Listing
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

Stock Code
6036

Board Lot
5,000 shares

EATESEIMNE,
EENEE
RIEH5E
HETIXKXRE
1182-3%F

REFES LML
FEDZEYIT

BmHE

R ARIE601 15

NEOAE = 42 To KB AEE26K

FERDBRECE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P O Box 2681

Grand Cayman

KY1-1111, Cayman Islands

EBRSBEEINE
eSS ELRABRAE
s

JEAREE3385%
EMRBES
33E3B01 EUE

VRES LG

BELE
EEIEEME
EADIREEEE 1995
IREKARE 24182403 F

HE L

R E I A=

HrER

BEEREE
FEYIHELE SO A58
ERAE181E

YAGIE

http://www.apexace.com

B ERRREAE

B ir@apexace.com

LEHEH
EsthEh
BEMEZSERATER

RRAR SR
6036

BEE
5,0008% B& 17

ANNUAL REPORT 2023£E%R



Chairman’s Statement

THEHS

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, | hereby present the audited annual results of the
Group for the Year 2023.

In the Year 2023, driven by the sluggish macroeconomic environment
and cyclical downturn in the industry, market demand represented
by consumer electronics has weakened. During this period, leading
suppliers actively reduced their production output in response to the
downward cycle. The destocking effect was obvious, and terminal demand
recovered, with some categories showing a trend of unit price rebound.
The bottoming out of the storage industry was basically completed.
Additionally, the development of new energy, automotive electronics,
artificial intelligence Al, and industrial automation drove the continued
growth of the relevant markets.

The Group has adopted a diversified strategy to better cope with the
impact of industry fluctuations, promote product structure optimisation
and supply chain optimisation, and achieve stable business operations. In
the Year 2023, the Group achieved revenue of approximately HK$2,529.8
million, representing a decrease of 59% compared to the same period
last year; the attributable net loss to owners of the Company was
approximately HK$16.2 million, a significant decrease of approximately
50.1% from the approximately HK$32.4 million for the Year 2022.

During the Year 2023, the Group continued to expand its product agency
layout while improving the supply chain ecosystem and strengthening
its competitive advantages, maintaining the steady development of the
Group's business. Meanwhile, the Group continued to expand into the
sector of new energy in response to market changes. Through the newly
established new energy product design company, the Group designed
inverters and energy storage products under our own brand to seize the
growth opportunities in the new energy market. In addition, the Group
also established a trading platform company for new materials during the
Year 2023 to accelerate the introduction of new material products and to
expand new sources of income.

Looking ahead, the bottoming out of the storage chip segment in second
half of 2023, the consumer electronics market, such as smartphones
and PCs has gradually recovered, the storage chip market is expected to
continue to recover in 2024. The recovery will drive the semiconductor
industry to end its downward trend. At the same time, with the
deepening of digital transformation, the demand for high-performance
chips in emerging fields such as artificial intelligence and the Internet of
Things is expected to increase; new markets are constantly emerging in
industries such as new energy, 5G, and autonomous driving, accelerating
the development of the semiconductor industry, coupled with the
advancement of domestication, which will provide the semiconductor
industry with greater room for development in the future, providing strong
support for the Group's business operations.
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Chairman’s Statement
FERS

In the traditional consumer electronics market, with the economic
recovery, the explosive increase in global demand for Al and High
Performance Computing (HPC), as well as the disappearance of long-term
inventory adjustments and the stabilization of demand in markets such
as smartphones, personal computers, and servers, it is expected that the
global semiconductor market will return to the growth track in 2024.

In emerging markets, the rapid development of new energy industries
and the intelligence of automobiles will drive the continuous growth of
demand for semiconductor market. According to the forecast of China
Association of Automobile Manufacturers, China’s total automobile sales in
2024 would have reached 31 million vehicles, representing a year-on-year
growth of 3%. Among them, the sales of new energy vehicles would have
exceeded 11.5 million vehicles, representing a year-on-year growth over
20%; at the same time, export sales would increase to around 5.5 million
vehicles. In terms of photovoltaic energy storage, the National Energy
Administration has stated that China's new wind power and photovoltaic
installed capacity would have reached approximately 200 million kilowatts
in 2024. Alongside the development of new energy vehicles and the
photovoltaic industry, supply chain opportunities will continue to propel
the rapid development and technological breakthroughs of power
semiconductors and third-generation semiconductors.

With the advancement of automobile intelligence and electrification, in-
vehicle entertainment systems and advanced driver assistance systems
(ADAS) will become important drivers of the semiconductor market. In
terms of photovoltaic energy storage, Insulated Gate Bipolar Transistor
(IGBT) power devices are the core semiconductor components for
photovoltaic inverters, wind power converters, and energy storage
converters. With the acceleration of energy transformation, its future
development potential is enormous. On the other hand, with the iteration
and upgrade of technology, traditional silicon-based power devices have
reached their limits, and third-generation semiconductors with superior
performance such as high frequency, high efficiency, high power, high
voltage resistance, high temperature resistance, and strong radiation
resistance will become key core materials to support the sustainable
development of industries such as new energy vehicles and photovoltaic
energy storage.

Domestication also provides development opportunities for Chinese
semiconductor companies. In recent years, countries like the United
States have continuously escalated technical sanctions on China’s chip
industry, highlighting the increasing urgency for chip domestication.
China has introduced policies to support the development of domestic
chip manufacturing. Currently, the import volume and proportion of
imported semiconductors in China remain significant, indicating a vast
space for domestication. With continuous technological breakthroughs in
key industrial chain links such as semiconductor equipment and materials,
wafer manufacturing, and Electronic Design Automation (EDA) in China,
the domestic semiconductor industry is expected to unleash tremendous
growth potential, and domestic brands are set to benefit continuously.
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Chairman’s Statement

THEHS

In summary, driven by the recovery of the traditional market cycle, the
continued growth of emerging markets and the acceleration of localisation
replacement, the global semiconductor industry is expected to enter a new
round of economic upcycle in 2024. While consolidating its advantages
in the traditional consumer electronics market, the Group will actively
promote its market layout in the field of new energy and new materials, so
as to enhance the robustness and growth potential of the Group's business
operations and consolidate its core competitiveness. Meanwhile, the Group
will also comprehensively improve management efficiency and operational
efficiency and enhance profitability to return its shareholders and investors
with better performancel!

Lee Bing Kwong
Chairman
27 March 2024
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

SEhEHREERERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lee Bing Kwong (“Mr. Lee”), aged 69, the founder of the Group and
a Controlling Shareholder, was appointed as an executive Director on 4 July
2012 and is also the CEO and the Chairman as well as the chairman of the
Nomination Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee.
Mr. Lee is also a director of certain Subsidiaries. Mr. Lee obtained a
bachelor's degree of applied science from the University of Toronto, Canada

1980. Mr. Lee established Nicegoal Investments in 1987 with business
mainly in manufacturing of personal computer motherboard and trading
of components and accessories for personal computer and AVT in 1992
which started its business of trading of electronic components in 2005.
Prior to the establishment of Nicegoal Investments, Mr. Lee acted as sales
engineer and marketing engineer in the sales and marketing department
of Motorola Semiconductors (HK) Limited during the period from 1981
and 1985. Mr. Lee has been active in the semiconductor field for more than
30 years. Mr. Lee is the sole director of Best Sheen Limited, a Controlling
Shareholder. Mr. Lee is the husband of Ms. Lo Yuen Lai and the brother-in-
law of Mr. Lo Yuen Kin, both being executive Directors, and the father of Mr.
Lee Chak Hol, (a Vice President of the Group).

Mr. Lo Yuen Kin (“Mr. Lo”), aged 61, was appointed as an executive
Director on 21 February 2014. Mr. Lo is also a director of certain
Subsidiaries. Mr. Lo joined our Group in May 2012 as finance director and
was appointed as the Vice President of AVT in May 2021. He has been a
project manager of AVT since August 2020. Mr. Lo obtained a bachelor’s
degree of engineering from The Cooper Union for the Advancement of
Science and Art, New York, US in 1988 and a master’s degree of science
(aeronautics and astronautics) from Stanford University, California, US in
1990. In 1987, Mr. Lo was elected by The Cooper Union — Cooper Union
Pi Phi Chapter and declared a certified member of Pi Tau Sigma Fraternity.
Further, Mr. Lo was a responsible officer of Positano Wealth Management
Limited for the supervision of Type 4 (advising on securities) and Type 9
(asset management) regulated activities under the SFO during the period
from September 2017 to February 2019 and was a responsible officer of
China Shenghai Investment Management Limited responsible for the
supervision of Type 1 (dealing in securities) (for the period from September
2009 to August 2013), Type 4 (advising on securities) (for the period from
April 2009 to August 2013) and Type 9 (asset management) (for the period
from April 2009 to August 2013). During the period from December 2002
to February 2007, Mr. Lo worked for SinoPac Capital Limited as director
of equity trading. During the period from 1990 to 2016, Mr. Lo worked
with various financial institutions and accounting firm, including Price
Waterhouse, Credit Lyonnais (Asia) Limited, Mees Pierson Securities (Asia)
Limited, Morgan Grenfell Asia Securities (HK) Limited, BZW Asia Limited,
China International Capital Corporation (Hong Kong) Limited, ING Baring
Securities (Hong Kong) Limited, GK. Goh Securities (H.K.) Limited and YGD
Asset Management (HK) Limited. Mr. Lo is the younger brother of Ms. Lo
Yuen Lai and the brother-in-law of Mr. Lee, both being executive Directors
and an uncle of Mr. Lee Chak Hol (a Vice President of the Group).
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

SEhENEERERE

Ms. Lo Yuen Lai (“Ms. Lo”), aged 68, was appointed as an executive
Director on 22 March 2019. Ms. Lo is also a director of certain Subsidiaries.
Ms. Lo worked as the assistant to the chief executive officer of AVT, an
indirect wholly-owned Subsidiary, from August 2015 to February 2018 and
has been the sales director and a director of AVT since February 2018 and
March 2019 respectively. Ms. Lo has also been a director of I-Sky Electronic
Limited, an indirect wholly-owned Subsidiary, since March 2004. Ms. Lo is
the wife of Mr. Lee, (a Controlling Shareholder, the Chairman, the CEO and
an executive Director), the elder sister of Mr. Lo, (an executive Director), and
the mother of Mr. Lee Chak Hol (a Vice President of the Group).

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Cheung Siu Kui (“Mr. Cheung”), aged 74, was appointed as an
INED on 15 February 2018. He is also the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee and a member of each of the Audit Committee and the
Nomination Committee. Mr. Cheung obtained a bachelor’s degree of
applied science from the University of Toronto, Canada in 1975. Mr. Cheung
was elected a member of the Association of Professional Engineers of the
Province of Ontario, Canada and the Institution of Electronic and Radio
Engineers in 1977 and 1983 respectively. Mr. Cheung retired in 2008. Prior
to Mr. Cheungd’s retirement, he acted as vice president (Greater China
Operation) of Renesas Technology (Hong Kong) Limited during the period
from 2003 to 2008 responsible for, amongst others, strategic planning
and operation support for the Greater China Market. During the period
from 1983 to 2003, Mr. Cheung worked in various electronic components
companies, including Motorola Semiconductors (HK) Limited and Hitachi
Electronic Components (Asia) Limited; and was responsible for the sales
and marketing of electronic components.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

SEhEHREERERE

Mr. Yim Kwok Man (“Mr. Yim"), aged 55, was appointed as an INED on
15 February 2018. He is also the chairman of the Audit Committee and

a member of the Remuneration Committee. Mr. Yim has over 20 years'

experience in the areas of corporate finance, debt and equity capital
markets, asset management and merger and acquisition advisory. He
has been a fellow member of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants in the UK since 2003 and an associate member of the Hong
Kong Society of Accountants (now known as The Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants) since 2002. Mr. Yim is currently an
independent non-executive director of Tsui Wah Holdings Limited, the
shares of which are listed on Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
1314), with effect from November 2012. Mr. Yim is also a non-executive
director of Star Group Company Limited (formerly known as Star Properties
Group (Cayman Islands) Limited), the shares of which are listed on Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1560), with effect from March
2016. Mr. Yim was a responsible officer of Odysseus Capital Asia Limited
(formerly known as GALAXY CAPITAL LIMITED), a corporation licensed
under the SFO, for Type 6 regulated activity (advising on corporate finance)
till July 2014. Mr. Yim graduated with a bachelor’s degree of engineering in
civil engineering from Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University) in 1991 and obtained a master in business
administration degree from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in 1994.
From Mr. Yim's graduation to present, he worked with various financial
institutions and investment banks, including Rabobank International Hong
Kong Branch, DBS Asia Capital Limited and CITIC Capital Markets Holdings
Limited.

Dr. Chow Terence (“Dr. Chow"), aged 61, was appointed as an INED on
15 February 2018. He is also a member of each of the Audit Committee
and the Nomination Committee. Dr. Chow obtained a Bachelor of Medicine
and Bachelor of Surgery degree from The Chinese University of Hong Kong
in 1987. Dr. Chow worked in various public and academic units, including
medicine, surgery, orthopaedics & traumatology, oncology, anaesthesia
and intensive care before starting his private general practice in 1991. Dr.
Chow founded Bright Growth Doctors & Associates in 1993, which was the
first private medical group in Hong Kong to have its own CT (computerised
tomography) machine. In 2000, Dr. Chow founded TY Healthcare
Corporation and has been its chairman and medical director since then.
From 2007 to 2012, Dr. Chow was appointed by the Government of the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region as a Penal Member of the
Human Organ Transplant Board. He is currently a member of the Hong
Kong Medical Association and the Hong Kong College of Family Physicians.
Dr. Chow is also an Honorary Clinical Assistant Professor in Family Medicine
at The University of Hong Kong.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

SEhENEERERE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Lau Wai Yee (“Ms. Lau”), aged 57, joined our Group in August 2018
and was appointed as the Regional General Manager of the Group. Her
scope of duties include market development, sales and marketing and
customer development. She has over 20 years of management experience
in electronics field on sales and marketing in listed company.

Mr. Pan Yulong (“Mr. Pan”), aged 55, joined our Group in March 2021
and was appointed as a Vice President of the Group. Mr. Pan is mainly
responsible for market development, sales and marketing as well as
customer development for the products of the Group. He has more than
28 years of experience in electronics and information industry held various
positions, including hardwares engineer, software programming, research
and development manager, sales engineer, vice president of sales and
senior management. Mr. Pan graduated with Executive Master of Business
Administration in Peking University, PRC in 2006 and a Master Degree in
Electromechanical Control and Automation in Hohai University, PRC in
1993.

Mr. Ho Yuen Tung (“Mr. Ho"), aged 44, joined the Group in 2017 and
was appointed as the financial controller of the Group in July 2018 and
was promoted to Vice President, Finance of the Group in January 2021.
Mr. Ho is responsible for the Group’s financial management, including
financial budget, accounting, strategic planning, merger and investor
relations. He has extensive experience in auditing, financial and treasury
management, information technology, credit control as well as banking. He
has accumulated more than 15 years of experience in accounting, auditing
and financial management in international audit firms and listed company.
On 11 March 2022, he was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of Minerva Group Holding Limited (formerly known as Power
Financial Group Limited) (stock code: 397), the shares of which are listed on
Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He holds a Bachelor’s degree in Business
Administration (Accounting) from Hong Kong Baptist University and he is a
fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in the
United Kingdom.

Mr. Lee Chak Hol (“Mr. CH Lee"), aged 32, joined our Group in October
2015 and was redesignated as a Vice President of the Group on 1 April
2022. He is mainly responsible for the procurement of the corporate
management strategies for administrative operation and business
operation of the Group. He is also a director of certain Subsidiaries.
Prior to the re-designation, Mr. CH Lee was appointed as the Deputy
CEO of the Group and was mainly responsible for assisting the CEO in
daily management of the Group for relevant coordination with internal
management and external business alliances, including but not limited
to the operation and management of the Information Technology and
Human Resources Departments of the Group and the supervision of
internal control implementation. Mr. CH Lee obtained a Bachelor of Science
degree from the University of Toronto, Canada in November 2014. Mr.
CH Lee is a son of Mr. Lee and Ms. Lo and the nephew of Mr. Lo, all being
executive Directors.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

SR e S

INDUSTRIAL OVERVIEW

The Group is a Hong Kong-based distributor of semiconductors and other
electronic components, and is engaged in the supply of digital storage
products and general electronic components along with the provision
of complementary technical support. It focuses on identifying, sourcing,
selling and distributing quality electronic components produced by
branded upstream manufacturers to downstream manufacturers within the
technology, media and telecommunications sector in Mainland China and
Hong Kong.

In 2023, affected by various factors such as excessive inventory of upstream
suppliers, demand for end consumer electronics such as smartphones,
personal computers, and servers, and the seasonal consumption downturn
in the first quarter of each year, the industry's performance growth rate in
the first half of the Year 2023 fell sharply on a year-on-year basis. During this
period, leading suppliers such as Samsung, SK Hynix, and Micron actively
destocked in response to the downward cycle, and the overall industry
inventory decreased quarter by quarter. The destocking effect was obvious,
and the launch of new models by Huawei, Apple and other companies
drove the recovery of terminal demand, with some categories showing a
trend of unit price rebound. The bottoming out of the storage industry was
basically completed.

However, due to the continued release of demand in industries such as
new energy, automotive electronics, Al, and industrial automation, the
performance of the automotive industry (especially electric vehicles),
defence, and aerospace industries was better than most of the other
application areas. In particular, the wave of generative Al has spawned
a demand for high-performance computing chips, and the application
of artificial intelligence has driven strong growth in non-storage
semiconductors. However, from a global perspective, industrial growth is
relatively weak, and the automotive electronics industry is still in the early
stages of increasing penetration. The development trend of automotive
sensors is constantly evolving with the development of technologies
such as artificial intelligence and the Internet of Things, posing higher
requirements for onboard storage chips in terms of capacity, reliability, and
security.

In addition, developed countries such as the United States have further
restricted the export of semiconductor-related technologies and
equipment to China since 2023. Under the situation where restrictive
policies are not relaxed, domestic substitution is still an important direction
for the development of China's semiconductor industry. Driven by the
demand for domestic substitution, domestic policies strongly support
the development of the domestic semiconductor industry, and domestic
brands will continue to benefit from the wave of such substitution.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
SEE D

BUSINESS REVIEW

As a stable supplier of digital storage products and general electronic
components, the Group has adopted a diversified strategy to better
cope with the impact of industry fluctuations, promote product structure
optimisation and supply chain optimisation, and achieve stable business
operations. In the Year 2023, the Group achieved revenue of approximately
HK$2,529.8 million, a decrease of 5.9% compared to the same period
last year; the attributable net loss to owners of the Company was
approximately HK$16.2 million, a significant decrease of approximately
50.1% from the approximately HK$32.4 million in the Year 2022.

By Product type
Digital Storage Products

The Group's digital storage products include dynamic random access
memory (‘DRAM"), flash (“FLASH") and multi chip package (“MCP") memory
products, which are widely applied to multimedia and mobile devices such
as set-top boxes, smart TVs, wearable devices, mobile phones, etc. These
products also include optical and mass storage products which are mainly
used in enterprise-level storage and server systems.

During the Year 2023, revenue generated from this product segment
amounted to HK$1,753.9 million (Year 2022: HK$2,020.0 million). Gross
profit of the segment increased to HK$97.0 million (Year 2022: HKS44.5
million), representing an increase of 117.9% compared to 2022. Gross profit
margin was 5.5% (Year 2022: 2.2%). Gross profit margin for the Year 2022
was below the industry norm, which was affected by the overall inventory
buildup in the channel caused by the optimism for the Year 2021, while the
gross profit margin resumed to normal level in the Year 2023.

General Components

General components include switches, connectors, passive components,
main chips, sensors, power semiconductors and analog-to-digital
converters, which are mainly designed for use in mobile and multimedia
devices.

The Group achieved revenue generated from this segment was HK$775.9
million for the Year 2023 (Year 2022: HK$669.1 million). However, gross
profit of this segment decreased by 4.7% to HK$67.0 million (Year 2022:
HKS$70.4 million) due to lower prices for most of the general components
as a result of lower demand. Gross profit margin decreased slightly to 8.6%
(Year 2022: 10.5%).
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEEE WD

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The two major product segments, namely (i) Digital Storage Products; and
(i) General Components, contributed 69.3% and 30.7% of the Group's total
revenue during the Year 2023 respectively.

The Group's revenue for the Year 2023 was HK$2,529.8 million (Year 2022:
HK$2,689.1 million), representing a decrease of 5.9% from the Year 2022,
The decrease was a result of a combination of the weak demand in the
consumer market and the downward cycle in semiconductor industry.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The Group's gross profit for the Year 2023 amounted to HK$164.0 million
(Year 2022: HK$114.9 million), representing an increase of 42.8% when
compared with the Year 2022. The gross profit margin for the Year 2023 was
6.5% (Year 2022: 4.3%).

Other income and decrease/increase in fair value of investment
property

For the Year 2023, the fair value of an investment property of the Group was
decreased by HK$3.0 million (Year 2022: increased by HK$0.2 million). The
other income dropped from HKS$5.3 million in Year 2022 to HK$3.7 million
in the Year 2023, which was mainly due to the lesser amounts subsidised by
the government and the drop in commission income in the Year 2023.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
SEE D

Impairment loss/reversal of impairment loss on trade
receivables

An impairment loss on trade receivables of approximately HK$8.2 million
was recognised during the Year 2023 (Year 2022: reversal of impairment
loss of HK$7.6 million). The increase in impairment loss was caused by the
prolonged outstanding sums owed to the Group.

In respect of trade receivables, the Group has put in place a credit policy
and will perform credit evaluations on all customers requiring credit over
a certain amount. Certain trade receivable balances on open account
terms are covered by customers’letters of credit or are factored to external
financial institutions.

As at 31 December 2023, trade receivables past due over one year
amounted to HK$73.9 million (31 December 2022: HK$60.5 million) and
provision for impairment loss amounted to HK$66.5 million had been
made (31 December 2022: HK$60.5 million). Substantial part of which
was brought forward from the Year 2022. To the best knowledge of the
Directors, the past due over one year as at 31 December 2023 was mainly
attributable to the business deterioration of several customers as a result of
COVID-19 pandemic. Up to the date of this Report, approximately HKS6.7
million has been settled from customers.

The Group has been negotiating various repayment schedules
with customers taking into account their respective circumstances.
Contemporaneous to the negotiations and rescheduling, we have also
sought legal advice from our Hong Kong legal advisor and PRC legal
advisor on the procedures for taking legal actions against the relevant
customers and/or their guarantors (if any).

For the customers who have been making partial repayments from time to
time, we will withhold taking legal action against them. The Group will pay
close attention to their business development and continue monitoring
their progress of repayment. If they cease to make any further repayment or
if the amount of their further repayment is not to the Group's satisfaction,
the Group shall take all such steps as are appropriate to recover the sum,
including taking legal actions.

The Group aims to maintain healthy business relationships with these
customers while taking all reasonable steps to recover the trade receivables
as it is the Group's belief that their business performance should
progressively improve as the COVID-19 pandemic gradually subsides.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Distribution and selling expenses

The distribution and selling expenses mainly include salaries of marketing
and sales staff, commission expenses, transportation fees, freight charges,
declarations and sample expenses. For the Year 2023, distribution and
selling expenses amounted to approximately HK$49.9 million (Year 2022:
HK$54.5 million), mainly as the result of decreased commission expenses.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses primarily comprise salaries and benefits (including
emoluments to executive Directors), legal and professional fees, insurance,
short-term lease expenses and other premises fees, foreign exchange
differences, bank charges and depreciation expenses. The Group's
administrative expenses decreased by HK$1.7 million to HK$78.1 million in
the Year 2023 (Year 2022: HK$79.8 million), which was mainly attributable to
the appropriate cost control measures implemented by the Group.

Finance costs

The Group's finance costs mainly represent interest expenses on its bank
borrowings during the Year 2023. Such bank borrowings were obtained
by the Group for general working capital. For the Year 2023 the Group had
finance costs of approximately HK$35.3 million (Year 2022: HK$20.0 million),
which edged up on the back of an increased use of factoring loans, import
loans and trust receipts loans and increase in market interest rate.

Net loss for the Year

For the Year 2023, the Group recorded a net loss of HK$10.2 million
(Year 2022: HK$33.0 million). The improvement was mainly attributable
to the increase in gross profit of the Group resulting from the improved
sales performance in the second half of the Year 2023, partially offset by
increased finance costs and impairment loss on trade receivables, as well as
decrease in fair value of investment property.

Net loss attributable to the owners of the Company

The net loss attributable to the owners of the Company for the Year 2023
was HK$16.2 million, compared with a net loss attributable to the owners
of the Company in the sum of HK$32.4 million in the Year 2022. The loss
was mainly due to continued decline in the unit price of certain products
in the first half of the Year 2023, resulting in a decrease in gross profit. As
the relevant unit price rebounded in the second half of the Year 2023, gross
profit increased significantly, which partially offset the losses in the first half
of the Year 2023.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

During the Year 2023, the Group met its liquidity requirements principally
through a combination of internal resources and bank borrowings. The
Group's cash resources as at 31 December 2023 were approximately
HKS$96.5 million (31 December 2022: HK$99.6 million) and were mainly
denominated in RMB, Hong Kong dollars ("HKS") and United States dollars
("USS").
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Management Discussion and Analysis
SEE D

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's total outstanding bank borrowings
amounted to approximately HK$759.1 million (31 December 2022:
HK$483.7 million), which mainly comprised bank factoring loans, import
loans, trust receipts loans, instalment loans and revolving loans. The Group’s
bank borrowings that were unrestricted and carried at amortised cost with
a clause of repayment on demand are classified as current liabilities. The
gearing ratio increased from 148.4% as at 31 December 2022 to 252.4% as
at 31 December 2023 as a result of rapidly increase in the Group's capital
needs as the market became more active in the fourth quarter of 2023.
Gearing ratio is calculated based on total external loans and borrowings
divided by total equity at the respective reporting dates.

The Group's financial statements are presented in HKS. The Group carried
out its business transactions mainly in HKS, RMB and USS. As the HKS
remained pegged to the USS, there was no material exchange risk in this
respect. As the portion of RMB revenue is insignificant, there is no material
exchange risk in this respect. The Group currently does not have any
interest rate hedging policies. However, the management will monitor the
Group's exposure to interest rate risk on an ongoing basis and will consider
hedging that risk should the need arise. Credit risk was mainly hedged
through credit policy and factored into external financial institutions.
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On 21 October 2021, I-Sky Electronic Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company (the “Purchaser”), the Company and Nicegoal Limited
(the "Vendor"), which is ultimately wholly-owned by Mr. Lee Bing Kwong,
a controlling Shareholder, an executive Director, the chairman of the
Board and the CEO, entered into a sale and purchase agreement (as
supplemented on 25 November 2021) (the “Agreement”), pursuant to
which the Vendor has agreed to sell, and the Purchaser has conditionally
agreed to purchase, the target property, namely Unit No. 1, 1st Floor,
Sun Cheong Industrial Building, Nos. 2 Cheung Yee Street, Cheung Sha
Wan, Hong Kong (the “Target Property”) at the consideration of HK$30.0
million. The consideration shall be settled by the issue of the PSCS in the
principal amount of HK$10.0 million and the CB in the principal amount of
HK$20.0 million. On 23 February 2022, the Company issued the CB in the
principal amount of HK$20.0 million and the PSCS in the principal amount
of HK$10.0 million to the Vendor for the acquisition of the Target Property
pursuant to the terms of the Agreement as detailed in the circular of the
Company dated 13 January 2022. The PSCS was issued without maturity
date, it bears a distribution rate of 0.5% per annum and carries rights to
convert the principal amount into Shares at a conversion price of HK$0.35
per Share (to be rounded down to the nearest board lot of 5,000 Shares
as per the deed poll constituting the PSCS), convertible into 28,570,000
conversion Shares, representing 2.66% of the issued Shares as at 31
December 2023 and as at the date of this Report or 2.59% as enlarged by
the conversion Shares. The Company has an option to redeem the PSCS at
any time at 100% or 50% of their principal amount plus any accrued but
unpaid distribution.

The CB was issued with a maturity of five years from date of issue (i.e.
23 February 2022), it bears an interest rate of 0.5% per annum and
carries rights to convert the outstanding principal amount into Shares
at a conversion price of HK$0.35 per Share subject to adjustment (to
be rounded down to the nearest board lot of 5000 Shares as per the
instrument constituting the CB), convertible into 57,140,000 conversion
Shares, representing 5.31% of the issued shares of the Company as at 31
December 2023 and as at the date of this Report or 5.05% as enlarged by
the conversion Shares of CB. The Company has an option to redeem the
CB at any time before their maturity in whole or in part of their principal
amount plus any accrued but unpaid interest.

The aggregate conversion shares of CB and PSCS represent 7.97% of the
issued shares of the Company as at 31 December 2023 and at the date
of this Report or 7.38% as enlarged by the conversion Shares. As at 31
December 2023 and up to the date of this Report, none of the PSCS and CB
have been converted into any Shares.
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any material contingent
liabilities.

CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2023, the banking facilities of the Group were
secured by its trade receivables with an aggregate carrying amount of
approximately HK$452.8 million (31 December 2022: HK$138.5 million), the
legal charge over the investment property of the Group of approximately
HKS48.2 million (31 December 2022: HKS51.2 million), the Group's
leasehold land and buildings valued at approximately HK$76.0 million (31
December 2022: HK$79.2 million), the deposit placed for life insurance
policy of the Group of approximately HK$13.1 million (31 December
2022: HKS12.7 million), bank deposit of the Group of approximately
HKS$10.4 million (31 December 2022: HK$10.0 million), personal guarantee
executed by Mr. Pai Yin Lin (a director and a non-controlling shareholder of
subsidiaries of the Company) and corporate guarantees executed by the
Group.

DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to recommend any final dividend for the Year
2023 (Year 2022: nil).

EMPLOYMENT AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 141 employees (as at
31 December 2022: 144) in Hong Kong and the PRC. The Group’s
remuneration policy is built on the principle of equitability with incentive-
based, performance-oriented and market-competitive remuneration
packages for its employees. Remuneration packages are normally reviewed
on a regular basis. Other staff benefits include provident fund contributions,
medical insurance coverage and performance-based bonuses. In addition,
the Company has adopted a Share Option Scheme and a Restricted Share
Reward Scheme as incentives or rewards for eligible participants for their
contribution to the Group, and the Company also provides continuous
training to its employees to improve their marketing skills and enhance
their product knowledge.
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SHARE SCHEMES
Restricted Share Award Scheme

On 23 July 2021, the Company granted 9,550,000 restricted shares
(the “Restricted Shares”) to nine selected participants (the “Grantees”)
in accordance with the terms of the Restricted Share Award Scheme
("Restricted Share Award Scheme”) at nil consideration, and as a result, on
12 August 2021, the Company issued and allotted 9,550,000 Restricted
Shares under the general mandate granted by the shareholders of the
Company (the “Shareholders”) at the general meeting of the Company
held on 26 May 2021 to the custodian nominated by the Company (the
“Custodian”). These Restricted Shares are held on trust by the Custodian
who shall transfer the Restricted Shares to the Grantees in three tranches
subject to satisfaction of the vesting conditions as specified in the
grant notice issued to each Grantee. To the best knowledge of the
Directors, none of the Grantees is a Director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company, or an
associate (as defined in the Listing Rules) of any of them. The Custodian
and its ultimate beneficial owner(s), and all of the Grantees are third parties
independent of the Company and are not connected persons of the
Company. During the Year 2023, 2,700,000 Restricted Shares have been
vested. Accordingly, there were 4,940,000 Restricted Shares unvested as at
31 December 2023, which represented 0.46% of the issued share capital
as at 31 December 2023 and as at the date of this Report. In addition, the
Custodian purchased a total of 7,145,000 Shares on the market for the
purpose of the Restricted Share Award Scheme on 18 April 2023, from
27 November 2023 to 30 November 2023 and 4 December 2023 to 8
December 2023 respectively. Accordingly, the Custodian held 19,155,000
Shares, representing 1.78% of the issued Shares, as at 31 December 2023
and as at the date of this Report.
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The number of Shares that may be issued in respect of share awards
granted under the Restricted Share Award Scheme divided by the
weighted average number of Shares in issue during the Year 2023 was nil.

Subject to any early termination of the Restricted Share Award Scheme as
may be determined by the Board, the Restricted Share Award Scheme is
valid and effective for a term of 10 years commencing on 30 August 2019
(i.e. the adoption date of the Restricted Share Award Scheme). As at 31
December 2023, the remaining life of the Restricted Share Award Scheme is
approximately 5 years and 8 months.

Details of the grant of the Restricted Shares are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 23 July 2021. Capitalised terms used herein shall
have the same meanings as those defined in such announcement.

Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme was adopted by the Company on 15 February
2018 and is valid for a period of 10 years from its adoption. As at 31
December 2023, the remaining life of the Share Option Scheme is
approximately 4 years 2 months. No options have been granted under the
Share Option Scheme since its adoption. Accordingly, the number of shares
that may be issued in respect of share options granted under the Share
Option Scheme divided by the weighted average number of Shares in issue
during the Year 2023 was nil.
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USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM LISTING

The net proceeds received by the Company from the Global Offering in
March 2018 was approximately HK$116.9 million and the net proceeds
received by the Company under the Placing was approximately
HK$25,566,000. The net proceeds received under the Global Offering and
the Placing had been applied by the Company from 16 March 2018 up to
31 December 2023 as follows:
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NAB B ZE—/N\FE=AETHRD IR
E WIS R EEAL11698 8 B7T
A ABREE FEE MBI ERIEF
BB 449255660008 T c R ABIH —_F— /\F
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Expected
Actual Use of timeframe
Net Proceeds ~ Actual Use of of full
Application upto  NetProceeds Percentage utilisation
ofNet  31December during  Unused Net of Unused  of unused
Proceeds 2023 the Year 2023 Proceeds  NetProceeds  Net Proceeds
EZ
-t
+ZR
=+-B ZECZEE AER EUBRAER
figaE  BRER  BRER AER FEREIE FMENEEN
BORE FMERERE FENERE FENERE gl MR
HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKs 000 %
71 71 71 71 %
Intended Use of Net Proceeds FiERERENEERR
Under the Global Offering BESHEE
Repayment of bank loans BERTER 39,045 39045 = = S
Establishing a new product and WRERREE 2810 2810% - - - -
development department
Strengthening sales and marketing and BREE \ B LM 10,750 10750% = = = 5
technical support team by recruiting SEalMssEE &5
staff and providing trainings R A
Enhancing warehouse and office HEBBNEER 4600 2746 287 1854 4 QA-Qd 204
inHong Kong WER “RTMERCEE
“Z_MEENE
Installing enterprise resource planning TREZERRIZA 709 5419* 606 1671 U Q32004-04 2005
and supporting software rEeetiN CE-MEESER
“TCREEMS
Establishing new offces in the PRC FhERURBER 5007 5007 = = S
Acquisition and establishment BEREL 35888 - - 35888 100 Q32004-Q4 2025
of Shenzhen head office S “RTMEE=FE
“ECRERNE
Working capitalfor general corporate purpose. ~ fE—fR/A %) B IRH9 11690 11,690% - ) - -
gEES
Under the Placing RERESE
General working capita —REEES 25,566 25,566* 25,566 s S

The Company will continue to utilise the net proceeds from the Global

Offering for the purposes as mentioned above.

* Such net proceeds had been used as intended.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES

The Group did not have any material acquisitions and disposals of
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during the Year 2023.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD AND FUTURE PLANS
FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group did not have any significant investments held as at 31
December 2023 and did not have any future plans for material investments
or capital assets as of the date of this Report.

SUBSEQUENT EVENT

The Board is not aware of any significant event affecting the Group and
requiring disclosure that has been taken place subsequent to 31 December
2023 and up to the date of this Report.

PROSPECTS

As the time of destocking of storage chips continues to extend, the
consumer electronics market, such as smartphones and PCs has gradually
recovered, and the unit price of storage chips has begun to rebound in
the second half of 2023. In 2024, the storage chip market is expected
to continue to recover, driving the semiconductor industry to end its
downward trend. In the medium to long term, with the deepening
of digital transformation, the demand for high-performance chips in
emerging fields such as artificial intelligence and the Internet of Things
is expected to increase. At the same time, new markets are constantly
emerging in industries such as new energy, 5G, and autonomous driving,
accelerating the development of the semiconductor industry. According to
the latest forecast by the World Semiconductor Trade Statistics Association
(WSTS), global semiconductor sales are expected to grow by 13.1% in 2024,
reaching US$588.36 billion.

Benefiting from China’s “dual carbon” strategy, the new energy industry
(including electric vehicles/smart cars and photovoltaic energy storage)
is developing rapidly. According to the China Association of Automobile
Manufacturers, China’s total automobile sales are expected to reach 31
million vehicles in 2024, a year-on-year increase of 3%. Among them, sales
of new energy vehicles are expected to reach around 11.5 million vehicles,
a year-on-year increase of 20%; while export sales are expected to increase
to around 5.5 million vehicles. In terms of photovoltaic energy storage, the
National Energy Administration stated that China's wind and photovoltaic
new installed capacity will reach about 200 million kilowatts in 2024. In
the future, with the development of new energy vehicles and photovoltaic
industries, supply chain opportunities will continue to drive the high-speed
development and technological breakthroughs of power semiconductors
and third-generation semiconductors.
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On the one hand, with the clear trend of global automobile intelligence
and electrification, in-vehicle entertainment systems and advanced
driver assistance systems (ADAS) will become important drivers of the
semiconductor market. In terms of photovoltaic energy storage, Insulated
Gate Bipolar Transistor (IGBT) power devices are the core semiconductor
components for photovoltaic inverters, wind power converters, and
energy storage converters, and play a role in rectifying and converting
electricity to achieve functions such as AC grid connection for new energy
generation and charging and discharging of energy storage batteries.
With the acceleration of energy transformation, its future development
potential is enormous. On the other hand, with the iteration and upgrade
of technology, traditional silicon-based power devices have reached their
limits, and third-generation semiconductors with superior performance
such as high frequency, high efficiency, high power, high voltage
resistance, high temperature resistance, and strong radiation resistance
will become key core materials to support the sustainable development of
industries such as new energy vehicles and photovoltaic energy storage.

In addition, with the upgrading of technical sanctions on China's chip
industry by countries such as the United States and others, the vulnerability
of China's chip supply chain has been exposed, prompting China to
increase efforts to achieve semiconductor self-sufficiency and accelerate
the process of domestication. In recent years, China has continuously
introduced policies to support the development of the domestic chip
industry. At present, China's imports and import ratio of semiconductors
are still relatively high, leaving room for domestic substitution. With
continuous technological breakthroughs in key industrial chain links such
as semiconductor equipment and materials, wafer manufacturing, and
Electronic Design Automation (EDA) in China, the domestic semiconductor
industry will open up greater room for growth.

In the face of the development trend of the semiconductor industry,
the Group has implemented a diversified development strategy to seize
the development opportunities brought about by industry changes and
achieve long-term and sustainable development. In the traditional market
field, the Group continues to expand its product agency layout while
improving the supply chain ecosystem and strengthening its competitive
advantages. In the emerging market field, in addition to be a distributor,
the Group has expanded its business operation into new energy product
design and own brand product marketing.

Especially in the sector of new energy, the Group established a new energy
product design company in 2022 to design inverters and energy storage
products under our own brand to seize future growth opportunities in
this sector. The new energy company has scheduled to actively attend
global trade shows exhibiting its own products and promote its brand
name in 2024. In addition, in order to further expand sources of income,
the Group has established a trading platform company for new materials
to accelerate the introduction of new material products. In the future,
the Group will continue to monitor and assess the market trends, as well
as to adjust business development strategies in order to cope with the
market changes with a view to mitigate any adverse impact of downstream
industry changes and provide better performance to the Shareholders and
its potential investors.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining and ensuring high standards of
corporate governance practices and the corporate governance principles
of the Company are adopted in the best interest of the Group as well as the
Shareholders. The Company has adopted the applicable code provisions
and, where appropriate, adopted the recommended best practices as set
out in the CG Code as its own code of corporate governance.

Except for deviation from code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code during
the Year 2023, the Company had complied with all the applicable code
provisions as set out in the CG Code as in force during the Year 2023:

Under code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the responsibilities between
the chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Lee, who has considerable
experience in the semiconductor and other electronics components
industry, is the Chairman and the CEO. The Board believes that vesting
the roles of both the Chairman and the CEO in Mr. Lee has the benefit
of ensuring consistent leadership within the Group and enables more
effective and efficient overall strategic planning of the Group. The Board
considers that this structure will not impair the balance of power between
the Board and the management of the Company. The balance of power is
further enhanced by the Audit Committee, which comprises all INEDs and
is responsible for overseeing the internal control procedures of the Group.
The INEDs have free and direct access to the Company's independent
auditor and independent professional advisers when considered necessary.
The Board will, nevertheless, review the structure from time to time and
separate the roles of the Chairman and the CEO to two individuals, if
appropriate.

To enhance the Board's function and effectiveness, the Board conducted an
evaluation of the performance of the Board and the Board committees for
Year 2023. Each of the Board members provided an evaluation of identified
areas and also suggestions for improvement. Notwithstanding the
suggestions made by the members of the Board, no material issue which
requires immediate improvement had been identified by the members
of the Board. The Company will continue to strive to improve its Board
performance through this and other processes.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the code for dealing in
securities of the Company by the Directors. A specific enquiry has been
made by the Company with each of the Directors and all the Directors have
confirmed that they had complied with the requirements set out in the
Model Code throughout the Year 2023.

THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Group and
oversees the Group's businesses, strategic decisions and performance.
The Board has delegated the day-to-day responsibility to the executive
Directors and senior management who perform their duties. The Board
has established the Board committees and has delegated to these Board
committees various responsibilities as set out in their respective terms
of reference. The responsibilities of these Board committees include
monitoring the Group's operational and financial performance and
ensuring that appropriate internal control and risk management are in
place.
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As at the date of this Annual Report, the Board comprised three (3)
executive Directors and three (3) INEDs. The members of the Board during
the Year 2023 and up to the date of this Annual Report are set out below:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Lee Bing Kwong (Chairman and CEO)
Mr. Lo Yuen Kin

Ms. Lo Yuen Lai

INEDs:

Mr. Cheung Siu Kui
Mr. Yim Kwok Man
Dr. Chow Terence

The biographical information of the Directors and relationship between
the Directors are set out in the section headed “Biographies of Directors
and Senior Management” on pages 7 to 10 of this Annual Report. Save
for such relationship disclosed in the “Biographies of Directors and Senior
Management’, there is no other financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationships among the members of the Board.

Chairman and CEO

The Company has appointed Mr. Lee Bing Kwong as the Chairman
and CEO, who is primarily responsible for overseeing the corporate
development and strategic planning of the Group.

INEDs

In compliance with the Listing Rules, the Company has appointed three
(3) INEDs, representing at least one-third of the Board, with one of whom
possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise. The Company has received a written
confirmation from each of the INEDs in respect of their independence in
accordance with the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all INEDs are independent
during the Year 2023 and up to the date of this Annual Report.

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of the
Board and Management

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Company and
oversees the businesses, strategic decisions and performance of the Group
and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Company
by directing and supervising its affairs. Directors take decisions objectively
in the best interests of the Company.

All Directors, including INEDs, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable
business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its
efficient and effective functioning.

EA$EE$EEIHH EETH-QBUITESER
QBBIUIFITESEN - — T - =FF
&ﬁxﬂiﬁ%&ﬂﬁﬂé%’*ﬁiﬁ%ﬁﬂ?ﬂ? ;

HITEFE -
FRICKE (TERITHARE)
B85kt

ETELt

BUIFHTESE -
R/ NE SR E
BEIX feE
SREHRBLE

EEREENMEFZBNBERHNEAER
FE0REFhGREERBERE —& &
RIEERESREERERE RENVRRIN
ESEHEZEHEECAAEMMT  E5-
RIGREMEBE, AERARA (R

FERITHAER
RABDEREFTRALESEERITEE
2 TEEEREAEENTEERKRERE
REo

BIFRPTES
=BT EHRR RATBEZRE=3)RBI
FRTEF HEFGANBEL=002—>

HA—- ABBBEEEXERNGTAE /M
BEEER -RBE L HRBE3MRAH
BItiES) R AT BREE %j%#ﬂﬁ%
EEAFREEIIMENERE - ARBEREE
REIIFRITEE] 6:3:_fﬂ*)§z§ki$
FHRAPHAHBILA Lo

ESSHEEENRE - MABTREL
BR

EFgAREREEARNTUKREERE
E’J%%’z RERERKBNEE WERE
BERETEEASHLUEEEARTMI
%%%ﬁ%ﬁ% FIERRITER AT REF

/\O

SRES QEBFNTES DAESY
B R B A SRS T B B B 54
B AR R o

ANNUAL REPORT 202353 25



Corporate Governance Report
TEERWS

All executive Directors actively involve in managing the affairs of the
Company with a good understanding of the business, and play important
roles in the daily operations, whilst all INEDs participate in the Board
meetings and bring their independent views and judgments on various
issues.

INEDs provide the Group with a wide range of skills, expertise and varied
backgrounds and qualifications through their regular attendance and
active participation at various Board committee meetings of the Company.
They bring independent opinion and judgment on the strategy and
policies to ensure that the interests of all Shareholders are taken into
account.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of the
Company and the management has an obligation to supply the Directors
with adequate information in a timely manner to enable the Directors
to perform their responsibilities. The Directors may, upon request, seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expenses for discharging their duties to the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices held by
them and the Board regularly reviews the contribution required from each
Director to perform his/her responsibilities to the Company.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to policy
matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management,
material transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of
interests), financial information, appointment of Directors and other
significant operational matters of the Company. Responsibilities relating
to implementing decisions of the Board, directing and coordinating the
daily operation and management of the Company are delegated to the
management team. Such management team is accountable for their
performance to the Board.

During the Year 2023, each executive Director frequently met and
discussed with the management team in order to maintain an effective
feedback system and enable the Group to react to changes or problems
quickly and efficiently. The Board reviews its arrangement on delegation of
responsibilities and authority regularly to ensure that such delegations are
appropriate in view of the Company’s prevailing circumstances and that
appropriate reporting system is in place.

Each Director is free to seek advice from and has access to the Company’s
senior management team independently.
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Board Proceedings

The Board is required to convene four (4) regular meetings in a financial
year with intervals of not more than four (4) months. Notices of not less
than 14 days are required to be given to all Directors and each Director is
invited to include matters in the agenda. The Company Secretary assisted
the Chairman in establishing the meeting agenda. Detailed agenda and
related meeting materials were circulated to all Directors at least three days
before the date of the regular meetings.

Minutes were recorded in sufficient detail and draft minutes have been
circulated to all Board members for comments. Finalised minutes were
also sent to all Directors for their records within reasonable time after the
meetings. All minutes were kept by the Company Secretary and were open
for inspection by Directors.

All Directors have been given the relevant guideline materials regarding
the duties and responsibilities of being a Director, the relevant laws and
regulations applicable to the Directors and duty of disclosure of interest.

During the Year 2023, the Board held four (4) meetings and, one (1) AGM
was held. Details of the attendance of the Directors are set out below:
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Attendance of
HE
Board
Meeting(s) AGM
EE88E RRBEXY
Attended/eligible to attend

Name of Directors EFHa BHE SERUE
Executive Directors BiITES
Mr. Lee Bing Kwong =Z2HRE

(Chairman and CEO) (Z/ERITEHEH) 4/4 1/1
Mr. Lo Yuen Kin ETEiE 4/4 1/1
Ms. Lo Yuen Lai BBt 3/4 1/1
INEDs BIEMITES
Mr. Cheung Siu Kui sRANEI ST 4/4 11
Mr. Yim Kwok Man B & 4/4 1/1
Dr. Chow Terence PEHELE 4/4 1/1
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Directors’ Induction and Continuous Professional Development

All Directors should participate in continuous professional development
which is relevant to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
Every newly appointed Director has received a comprehensive, formal
and tailored induction package to ensure that he or she has a proper
understanding of the Company’s operation and business and the relevant
statues, common laws, the Listing Rules, legal and regulatory requirements
and governance policies. The Company Secretary also provides the
updates on the latest development and changes in the Listing Rules and
other relevant legal and regulatory requirements to the Board from time
to time. All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training courses
at the Company’s expense and they have been requested to provide the
Company with their training records.

During the Year 2023, all Directors attended suitable training and/or
briefings by certain professional advisers and/or participated in continuous
professional development courses organised by professional bodies/firms
on corporate governance or updates on laws, rules and regulations relating
to the roles, functions and duties of a director to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills.

According to the training records maintained by the Company, the
continuous professional development programmes received by each of the
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Directors during the Year 2023 is summarised as follows: K
Type of Training

Name of Directors EEN4A 1By

Executive Directors BiTES

Mr. Lee Bing Kwong =R HRE Aand B
ATZB

Mr. Lo Yuen Kin ExRiE AandB
ATZB

Ms. Lo Yuen Lai ErxELL Aand B
ATZB

INEDs BIERITES

Mr. Cheung Siu Kui sRANEI ST Aand B
ATZB

Mr. Yim Kwok Man BB E Aand B
ATZB

Dr. Chow Terence SPEHEL Aand B
ATZB

Notes: MsE -

A attending training sessions, including but not limited to, seminars, briefings,  A: SRR > GIFEEFRERANE E

AN

conferences, forums and workshops
B: reading materials relating to the seminars material, regulatory updates on

laws, rules and regulations to directors'roles and functions, economy, general
business, corporate governance and directors' duties and responsibilities
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The Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors

Under the Articles of Association, all directors appointed to fill a casual
vacancy shall be subject to election by shareholders at the first general
meeting after appointment and that every director, under the Articles of
Association and the CG Code, including those appointed for a specific term,
shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three (3) years.

Each of the executive Director has entered into a service agreement with
the Company for an initial term of three (3) years, and thereafter continue
on a monthly basis; and each of the INEDs has renewed the letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three (3) years, and is subject
to retirement provision pursuant to the Articles of Association.

The Articles of Association contains provisions for the appointment, re-
election and removal of Directors as follows:

Appointment of Directors

Article 83(2) of the Articles of Association provides that subject to the
Articles of Association and the Act, the Company may by ordinary
resolution elect any person to be a Director either to fill a casual vacancy on
the Board, or as an addition to the existing Board.

Article 83(3) of the Articles of Association provides that the Directors shall
have the power from time to time and at any time to appoint any person
as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as an addition to
the existing Board.

Re-election of Directors

Article 83(3) of the Articles of Association also provides that any Director
so appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the
first general meeting of the Company after his/her appointment and be
subject to re-election at such meeting and any Director appointment by
the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the
next following AGM and shall then be eligible for re-election.

Pursuant to the article 84(1) of the Articles of Association, at each AGM
one-third (1/3) of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not
a multiple of three (3), the number nearest to but not less than one-third
(1/3) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be
subject to retirement at an AGM at least once every three years.

Article 84(2) of the Articles of Association provides that a retiring Director
shall be eligible for re-election and shall continue to act as a Director
throughout the meeting at which he/she retires and any further Directors
so to retire shall be those of the other Directors subject to retirement by
rotation who have been longest in office since their last re-election or
appointment and so that as between persons who became or were last
re-elected Directors on the same day, those to retire shall (unless they
otherwise agree among themselves) be determined by lot.
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At the AGM held on 24 May 2023 (2023 AGM"), each of Mr. Lo and Mr.
Yim retired and was re-elected as a Director by the shareholders of the
Company (“Shareholders”). The Company has arranged appropriate
insurance cover for the Directors in respect of legal action against them.

Removal of Directors

Under article 83(5) of the Articles of Association, the members may, at
any general meeting and by an ordinary resolution, remove a Director at
any time before the expiration of his/her period of office notwithstanding
anything to the contrary in these articles or in any agreement between
the Company and such Director (but without prejudice to any claim from
damage under any such agreement).

Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management

The Directors’ remuneration for the Year 2023 are set out in note 9 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the remuneration of the
members of the senior management (other than the Directors) whose
particulars are contained in the section headed "Biographies of Directors
and Senior Management”in this Annual Report for the Year 2023 by band is
set out below:
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Number of

individual(s)

Remuneration band (HK$) FEN&R R GEJT) A#
Nil to 1,000,000 4 251,000,000 3
1,500,001 to 2,000,000 1,500,001 2,000,000 1

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the following corporate
governance duties:

1. to develop and review the Company’'s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

3. to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4. todevelop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors; and

5. toreview the Company's compliance with the code and disclosure in
this report.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three (3) Board committees, namely the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee. All the committees are empowered by the Board under the
respective terms of reference of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee, which are posted on the
respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company and are
available for inspection by the Shareholders upon request made to the
Company Secretary. The Board committees are provided with sufficient
resources to discharge their duties.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises all the INEDs, namely Mr. Yim, Mr. Cheung
and Dr. Chow. Mr. Yim is the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The Board considers that each Audit Committee member has extensive
commercial experience and the Audit Committee has a suitable expertise
in various businesses, financial and legal sectors and that the composition
and establishment of the Audit Committee complies with the requirements
under Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are mainly (i) to review and
supervise the financial reporting process and to oversee the audit process
of the Group, (i) to oversee internal control procedures of our Group, and
(ii) to review risk management and internal control systems of our Group. It
has the responsibilities and powers set forth in the terms of reference.

The Audit Committee members shall meet at least twice a year to consider
the interim and final results prepared by the Board.

During the Year 2023, the Audit Committee held three (3) meetings to,
among others, review and supervise the financial reporting process and
review the risk management and internal control systems of the Group
and its audit related matters. It had, in conjunction with Graham H. Y.
Chan & Co., the Independent Auditor, reviewed the Group's audited
consolidated financial statements for the Year 2022 and the unaudited
consolidated financial statements for the six months ended 30 June
2023 and recommended the same to the Board for its consideration and
approval. The Audit Committee was of the opinion that the relevant results
were prepared in compliance with the applicable accounting standards
and requirements and that adequate disclosures had been made. The Audit
Committee also carried out and discharged its other duties as set out in the
CG Code.
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The attendance of each INED at the Audit Committee meetings during the
Year 2023 is as follows:

EEUFNTEEN B =FEHREEZ
LZEEEEMREWT !

No. of Attendance/
No. of Meetings
Eligible to Attend

BHE AE%
Members [54=1 HENSERE
Mr. Yim Kwok Man =GR 3/3
Mr. Cheung Siu Kui sR/NEIST A 3/3
Dr. Chow Terence BB L 3/3

The Audit Committee held one (1) meeting on 27 March 2024 and, among
other matters, reviewed the Group's audited consolidated results for the
Year 2023.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises two (2) INEDs, namely Mr.
Cheung and Mr. Yim and one (1) executive Director, Mr. Lee. Mr. Cheung is
the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are mainly (i) to
develop a transparent policy in relation to remuneration; (i) to review the
remuneration policy and the structure relating to all Directors and senior
management of our Group; (jii) to assess performance of all Directors and
review performance-based remunerations payable to Directors and senior
management of our Group and determine the remuneration packages
of individual executive Directors and senior management, which include
benefits in kind; (iv) to make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration of non-executive Directors; and (v) to review and/or approve
matters relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

During the Year 2023, the Remuneration Committee held two (2)
meeting for reviewing and determining the remuneration and other
benefits payable by the Company to the executive Directors and senior
management and recommending the Board of the remuneration of non-
executive Directors.
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The attendance of each member of the Remuneration Committee at its
meeting during the Year 2023 is as follows:

HIMEEEEMENR S _=FENLES
BRI

No. of Attendance/
No. of Meetings
Eligible to Attend

BHE AER
Members 24=1 HENEERY
Mr. Cheung Siu Kui sR/NEIST A 2/2
Mr. Yim Kwok Man BREISC T E 2/2
Mr. Lee Bing Kwong ERAKE 2/2

The Remuneration Committee held one (1) meeting on 27 March 2024
and considered certain remuneration-related matters of the Directors and
senior management.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises two (2) INEDs, namely Mr. Cheung
and Dr. Chow and one (1) executive Director, Mr. Lee. Mr. Lee is the
chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are (i) to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board on a regular basis; (ii) to
make recommendations to the Board relating to the appointment, re-
appointment and any matters relating to the continuation in office of the
Directors; (iii) to identify individuals suitably qualified to become members
of the Board; and (iv) to assess the independence of the INEDs.

The Board has adopted the Board Diversity Policy on 15 February 2018 and
the Nomination Committee shall monitor the implementation of the Board
Diversity Policy and review the progress of its measurable objectives from
time to time.

A summary of the Board Diversity Policy, together with the implementation
is disclosed as below.

The Board Diversity Policy aims to set out the approach to achieve and
maintain diversity on the Board in order to strengthen the performance
of the Board, promote effective decision-making and better corporate
governance and monitoring. To achieve a sustainable and balanced
development, the Company encourages increasing diversity at the Board
level as an essential element in supporting the attainment of its strategic
objectives and sustainable development. In designing an appropriate
composition of the Board, the Board diversity has been considered
from a number of perspectives, including but not limited to gender,
age, culture and educational background, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. All Directors appointment will be based
on applicable merits and candidates will be considered against objective
criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.
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As at 31 December 2023, the Board encompasses a wide range of age
groups, from 55 to 74. Regarding gender diversity, the Board consists of
one female director, who accounts for approximately 17% of the Board.
Considering the nature and scope of the Group’s business, the Nomination
Committee is of the opinion that the current Board has sufficient
independence and is well-balanced in terms of gender, age, nationality,
professional experience, skills, and knowledge to support the execution of
business strategy and maintain the Board's effectiveness.

In addition, as at 31 December 2023, the proportion of female members
among all employees (including senior management) of the Company
was 44%. Based on the current gender ratio in the Group's workforce, the
Board is of the view that the Company has basically achieved a certain
degree of balanced diversity. The Company will take steps to maintain
gender diversity among all employees (including senior management). The
Company plans to provide comprehensive training for female employees
who we believe have the appropriate experience, skills and knowledge in
operations and business, including but not limited to business operations,
management, accounting and finance, legal compliance, and research
and development. The Company expects to perform a further review of its
diversity in workforce by the end of 2024.

During the Year 2023, the Nomination Committee held one (1) meeting for,
among other matters, reviewing the structure, size and composition of the
Board, assessing the independence of INEDs and making recommendation
to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors.

The attendance of each member of the Nomination Committee at its
meeting during the Year 2023 is as follows:
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Members 24=1 HENEERY
Mr. Lee Bing Kwong =RAKE 174
Mr. Cheung Siu Kui sR/NEIST A 174
Dr. Chow Terence BREBIEEE L 1/1

The Nomination Committee held one (1) meeting on 27 March 2024
and recommended the re-appointment of all the retiring Directors at the
forthcoming AGM after assessing their contribution and performance
based on the Nomination Policy.

Nomination Policy

The Nomination Policy which sets out the selection criteria and nomination
procedures to identify, select and recommend candidates for Directors. The
policy is embedded in the NCTOR. Please refer paragraphs 8.1.1 to 8.1.4 and
paragraph 9 of the NCTOR.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Group for the Year 2023.

The statement of the independent Auditor about its reporting
responsibilities and opinion on the financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 57 to 62 of this Annual Report.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

An analysis of the remuneration paid/payable to the Independent Auditor,
Graham H.Y. Chan & Co,, in respect of audit services and non-audit services
for the Year 2023 is set out below:

EFHRBRRNVEE
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Fee paid/payable

gt EHER

HKS$'000

Service BR#S FET
Annual audit services FEEZARTS 1,716
Non-audit services IEEIZARF 479
Total st 2,195

Non-audit services mainly include review of interim financial statements.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for maintaining an adequate
and effective risk management and internal control systems to safeguard
the interest of the Company and the Shareholders and through the Audit
Committee, reviewing the effectiveness of such systems on an annual basis.

Procedures have been set up for, amongst others, identifying, analysing,
categorising, mitigating and monitoring significant risks, and safeguarding
assets against unauthorised use or disposition, maintaining proper
accounting records and ensuring reliability of financial information,
ensuring compliance with relevant legislation and regulations and
protecting the interests of the Shareholders. Such systems are designed
to manage, rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and aims to provide a reasonable, as opposed to an absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Main Features of Risk Management and Internal Control
Systems

The key elements of the Company’s risk management and internal
control systems include the establishment of a risk register to keep track
of and record identified risks, the assessment and evaluation of risks, the
development and continuous updating of responsive procedures, and the
ongoing testing of internal control procedures to ensure their effectiveness.
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An ongoing risk management approach is adopted by the Company
for identifying and assessing the key inherent risks that affect the
achievements of its objectives. A risk matrix is adopted to determine risk
rating (L = low risk, M = medium risk, H = high risk) after evaluation of the
risk by the likelihood and the impact of the risk event. The risk ratings reflect
the level of managements, attention and risk treatment effort required.

Process used to identify, evaluate and manage significant risks

During the process of risk assessment, each risk owner of departments
and major Subsidiaries is required to capture and identify the key inherent
risks that affect the achievement of its objectives. Each inherent risk is
evaluated according to the risk matrix. After taking into consideration the
risk response, such as control measures in place to mitigate the risk, the
residual risk of each inherent risk is evaluated again. The risk register with
the risk responses and residual risks is reported to the Audit Committee.
The Audit Committee evaluates the effectiveness of the systems and
reports to the Board. The highest category of residual risks is subject to the
Board's oversight.

Process used to review the effectiveness of the Risk
Management and Internal Control Systems and to resolve
material internal control defects

The Audit Committee has performed ongoing review of the effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems (during which
an external independent consulting firm was engaged to offer assistance)
for the period from 1 October 2022 to 30 September 2023, according to
the scope of review covering the Group's material controls in financial,
operational and compliance aspects agreed and approved by the Audit
Committee and in compliance with the requirements under Code Provision
C.2 of the CG Code.

The Audit Committee was satisfied that there had been no major
deficiency noted in the areas of the Group's risk management and internal
controls systems, following the implementation of recommendations
against the internal control defects revealed. The Audit Committee has
access to information necessary to fulfil their duties and responsibilities
with respect to risk assessment and risk management. Accordingly, the
Audit Committee and the Board considered the risk management and
internal control systems to be effective and have been implemented with
adequate resources during the Year 2023.
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Procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information

The Board has already established a policy on the procedures and
internal controls for the handling and dissemination of inside information.
The policy stipulates the obligations of the Group, in respect of the
restriction on disseminating non-public information, handling of rumours,
unintentional selective disclosure, exemption and waiver to the disclosure
of inside information, and also compliance and reporting procedures.
Senior management must take all reasonable measures to ensure that
proper safeguards exist to prevent a breach of any disclosure requirement
from time to time, promptly bring any possible leakage or divulgence of
inside information to the attention of the Financial Controllers, or his/her
delegates, who will notify the Board timely and accordingly for taking the
appropriate action promptly. For any material violation of this policy, the
Board will decide, or designate appropriate persons to decide the course of
actions for rectifying the problem and avoiding recurrence.

The Company does not have an internal audit department. The Board
currently takes the view that there is no immediate need to set up an
internal audit function in light of the size and nature of the Group's
business. The need for an internal audit function will be reviewed from
time to time. However, for the Year 2023, the Audit Committee, through
the engagement of an external independent consultant, has conducted
a review of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group covering all material controls, including financial,
operational and compliance controls. The Board considers that the Group's
risk management and internal control are adequate and effective. The
Board expects that a review of the risk management and internal control
systems will be performed annually.

DISCLOSURE OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group acknowledges its responsibilities under the SFO and the
Listing Rules and the overriding principle that inside information should
be announced as soon as reasonably practicable when it is the subject
of a decision. The procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information are as follows:

the Group conducts its affairs with close regard to the disclosure
requirement under the Listing Rules as well as the “Guidelines on
Disclosure of Inside Information” published by the Securities and
Futures Commission of Hong Kong in June 2012;

the Group has implemented and disclosed its policy on fair disclosure
by pursuing broad, non-exclusive distribution of information to
the public through channels such as financial reporting, public
announcements and its website;
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the Group has strictly prohibited unauthorised use of confidential or
inside information; and

the Group has established and implemented procedures for
responding to external enquiries about the Group's affairs, so that
only the executive Directors, Company Secretary and investor
relations officers are authorised to communicate with parties outside
the Group.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Tang Yuen Ching, Irene has been appointed by the Board since 1
February 2022. Ms. Tang has undertaken not less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules
during the Year 2023.

DIVIDEND POLICY
The Company adopted the Dividend Policy on 31 December 2018.

According to the Dividend Policy, in deciding whether to propose any
dividend payout and/or determining the amount of any dividend to be
paid, the Board will take into account, amongst other matters:
(@)  the Group's actual and expected financial performance;

(b) interests of Shareholders;

(c) retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and
each of the other members of the Group;

(d)  the level of the Group’s debts to equity ratio, return on equity and
financial covenants to which the Group is subject;
(e)  possible effects on the Group's creditworthiness;

(f)  any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by
the Group’s lenders;

(@) the Group's expected working capital requirements and future
expansion plans;
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(h)  liquidity position of the Group and any future commitments at the
time of declaration of dividend;

() taxation considerations;
() statutory and regulatory restrictions;
(k) general business conditions and strategies;

() general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group's business
and other internal or external factors that may have an impact on the
business or financial performance and position of the Company; and

(m) other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The declaration and payment of dividends shall be subject to all applicable
laws and regulations including but not limited to the Companies
Ordinance and the Memorandum and Articles.

The Company will review the Dividend Policy from time to time and
reserves the right in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and/
or modify the Dividend Policy at any time.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution is
proposed for each substantially separate issue at general meetings of the
Company (the “General Meeting”), including the election of individual
Directors. All resolutions put forward at General Meetings will be voted on
by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the
respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company after each
General Meeting.

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting by Shareholders

Pursuant to article 58 of the Articles of Association, any one or more
Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right
of voting at General Meetings of the Company shall at all times have
the right, by written requisition to the Board or Company Secretary, to
require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition; any such meeting
shall be held within two (2) months after deposit of such requisition; and
if within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed
to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may
do so in the same manner and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to
the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

There are no provisions in the Articles of Association or the Act for the
Shareholders to move new resolutions at General Meetings. Shareholders
who wish to move a resolution may request the Company to convene
a General Meeting in accordance with the procedures set out in the
preceding paragraph.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders may send
written enquiries to the Company. The Company will not normally deal
with verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned above to
the following:

Company Secretary

Apex Ace Holding Limited
Units 2-3, 1/F

Sun Cheong Industrial Building
1 Cheung Shun Street Kowloon
Hong Kong

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholders must deposit and send the
original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry (as
the case may be) to the above address and provide their full name, contact

details and identification in order to give effect thereto. Shareholders'

information may be disclosed as required by law.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS/
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders is
essential for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding of the
Company’s business performance and strategies. The Company endeavors
to maintain an on-going dialogue with the Shareholders and in particular,
through AGMs and other General Meetings. At the AGM, Chairman and
the relevant chairman of the Board committees (or their delegates as
appropriate) are available to meet the Shareholders and answer their
enquiries.

The Company maintains a website at www.apexace.com as a
communication platform with the Shareholders and investors, where the
financial information and other relevant information of the Company are
available for public access.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the Group will be
issued simultaneously with, but separately from, this Annual Report and will
be available only on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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The Board is pleased to present the report of the Directors together with
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year
2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
Subsidiaries are principally engaged in the sales of electronic components,
and sales and integration of storage systems. The Shares were listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange on the Listing Date. Segment analysis
of the Company for the Year 2023 is set out in note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements. A list of the Subsidiaries, together with their places
of incorporation, principal activities, place of operation and particulars
of their issued shares/registered share capital, is set out in note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The results of the Group for the Year 2023 are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on pages 63
and 64 of this Annual Report.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 176 of this Annual Report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movement in the share capital of the Company during the
Year 2023 are set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

CONVERTIBLE BOND

During the Year 2023, no CB was converted into ordinary shares of the
Company. Details are set out in note 26 to the consolidated financial
statements.

PERPETUAL SUBORDINATED CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES

During the Year 2023, no PSCS was converted into ordinary shares of
the Company. Details are set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the Year 2023 (Year 2022: Nil).
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE
Review of our Business and Performance

A discussion and analysis of the Group's performance using financial
key performance indicators during the Year 2023 and the key factors
affecting its results and financial position are set out in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this Annual Report.

Information about a review of, and an indication of likely future
development in, the Group’s business is set out in the “Chairman’s
Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this Annual
Report.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The following section lists out the key risks and uncertainties faced by
the Group. It is a non-exhaustive list and there may be other risks and
uncertainties further to the key risk areas outlined below. Besides, this
Annual Report does not constitute a recommendation or an advice for
anyone to invest in the securities of the Company and investors are advised
to make their own judgment or consult their own investment advisors
before making any investment in the securities of the Company.

Financial risks

Details on the financial risks on foreign currency, credit on trade receivables,
liquidity and interest rate facing the Group on its operation can be referred
to note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

Seasonality of products demand

Our Group's business is generally seasonal in nature. It is possible that
seasonality in demand for our customers' products might affect our Group's
sales in the future. Market conditions faced by our customers may be
volatile and are beyond the control of the Group. Future downturns in the
end markets of our customers may affect the business of our Group.

Reliance on major customers and suppliers

Our stable relationship with our major customers and suppliers enables
our business to achieve stable revenue and profitability level. On the other
hand, if there are any changes in such relationships, which may lead to
withdrawals, cancellations or terminations of transactions, the Group's
performance and business growth may be adversely affected.

Evolvement in information technology

Our Group operates in a highly competitive industry which faces rapid
changes in market trends, consumer preferences and constantly evolving
technological advances in hardware models, software features and
functionalities. The ongoing changes in technology require us to constantly
incorporate new features or technology into our sensitivity and adaptability
to market demand and/or services in order to cope with the evolving
environment and customer demands.
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Future economic and political policies of the PRC government

The development of PRC's economy is based on many factors, including
but not limited to structure of economy, government involvement, control
of foreign exchange, allocation of resources and capital investment.
However, any of such changes to the economic and political strategies and
policies of the PRC government may have an adverse impact on the overall
global economy and affect all the industries in which the Group operates.

Future economic and political uncertainties in the world

Economic and political uncertainties in the world resulted from major
events such as downward pressure of the persistent threat of global
inflation and the global economy, the unresolved war between the Ukraine
and the Russia, and the surging trend in the US interest rates and the US-
China trade tensions, continue to affect the global economy both in short-
term and long-term. Such uncertainties in turn may adversely impact the
performance of the Group.

Performance history and forward-looking statements

The performance and the results of the operations of the Group as set out
in this Annual Report are historical in nature and past performance is not a
guarantee of future performance. This Annual Report may contain forward—
looking statements and opinions that involve risks and uncertainties.
Actual results may also differ materially from expectations discussed in
such forward-looking statements and opinions. Neither the Group nor
the Directors, employees or agents of the Group assume any obligations
or liabilities in the event that any of the forward-looking statements or
opinions does not materialise or turns out to be incorrect.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

It is our corporate and social responsibility in promoting a sustainable and
environmental friendly environment. Our Group does not engage in the
manufacturing of products and does not have any production facilities.
The inventories are kept at our Group's storage and warehousing facilities
situated inside the headquarters office unit. Therefore, our Group is not
subject to significant health, safety or environmental risks. In addition, the
Group has implemented environmental protection measures and has also
encouraged staff to be environmental friendly at work by consuming the
electricity and paper according to actual needs, so as to reduce energy
consumption and minimise unnecessary waste. During the Year 2023, our
Group had not been subject to any fines or other penalties due to non-
compliance with health, safety or environmental regulations.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

Our operations are mainly carried out by the Subsidiaries in Hong Kong and
the mainland China while the shares of the Company itself is listed on the
Stock Exchange. Our operations shall comply with the relevant laws and
regulations in the mainland China and Hong Kong.

During the Year 2023 and up to the date of this report, the Group has
complied with all the relevant laws and regulations in mainland China and
Hong Kong in all material respects.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS

The Group is constantly aware of the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its employees, customers and suppliers to meet its
immediate and long-term business goals. We encourage employees
to strengthen their knowledge of the industries in which the Group
operate and attend courses or training sessions to improve their relevant
industry and technical knowledge. The Group also maintains ongoing
communications with its employees, customers and suppliers through
various channels such as regular meetings, calls and emails in order to
allow employees to contribute to the development of the Group, deliver
better customer services to our clients and obtain better services and
cooperation from our suppliers.

DONATIONS

Donations made by the Group during the Year 2023 for charitable and
community purposes amounted to HK$234,000 (Year 2022 HK$234,000).

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group during the Year 2023
are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the Year
2023 on pages 67 to 68 of this Annual Report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As of 31 December 2023, the Company's distributable reserves calculated
in accordance with the Act amounted to HK$106.7 million.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements of our property, plant and equipment during the
Year 2023 are set out in are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING

The Company was listed on the Stock Exchange on the Listing Date with
net proceeds received by the Company from the Global Offering in the
amount of approximately HK$116.9 million after deducting underwriting
commissions and all related expenses and before the exercise of
overallotment option (the “Net Proceeds”). The Net Proceeds will be used
in the manner consistent with that was mentioned in the section headed
“Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” of the Prospectus. Please refer to the
section headed "Management Discussion and Analysis” of this Annual
Report for the utilisation of the Net Proceeds for the Year 2023.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY'’S
LISTED SECURITIES

Save for the purchase of 7,145,000 Shares during the Year 2023 through
the Custodian as set out in the section headed “Restricted Share Award
Scheme” in this report, the Company did not redeem any of its Shares
listed on the Stock Exchange nor did the Company or any of its subsidiaries
purchase or sell any of such Shares during the Year 2023.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the Year 2023 and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Lee Bing Kwong (Chairman and CEO)
Mr. Lo Yuen Kin

Ms. Lo Yuen Lai

INED:s:

Mr. Cheung Siu Kui
Mr. Yim Kwok Man
Dr. Chow Terence

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in “Biographies of Directors
and Senior Management” to this Annual Report. In accordance with the
Articles of Association, Ms. Lo and Dr. Chow shall retire at the forthcoming
AGM and being eligible, have offered themselves for re-election thereat.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors offering for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has a
service contract with the Company which is not terminable within one year
without payment of compensation other than statutory compensation.

REMUNERATION POLICY

The remuneration policy of the employees of our Group has been set up
by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit, qualifications
and competence. The remuneration of the Directors is recommended by
the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company’s operating
results, individual performance and comparable market statistics. The
Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme and the Restricted Share
Award Scheme as the incentives to the eligible participants.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE AND
COMPETING BUSINESS

Save as disclosed under note 33 “Related Party Transactions” to the
consolidated financial statements, no transactions, arrangements and
contracts of significance (as defined in Appendix D2 (formerly Appendix
16) to the Listing Rules) to which the Company or its holding company
or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which a
Director, an entity connected with the Director or Controlling Shareholder
or its subsidiaries (other than members of the Group) had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted as at 31 December 2023 or
at any time during the Year 2023 and up to the date of this report.

As at 31 December 2023, none of the Directors was interested in any
businesses apart from our business which competed or was likely to
compete with our business, either directly or indirectly or would otherwise
require disclosure under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions were set out in note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements. Except for acquisition of a property
from a connected party which constitutes non-exempted connected
transaction, other related party transactions constituted continuing
connected transactions exempted from the reporting, announcement and
independent shareholders” approval requirements under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules. In the opinion of the Directors (including the INEDs), the
related party transactions were carried out in the ordinary and usual course
of business and on normal commercial terms negotiated between the
Group and the respective related parties which are fair and reasonable and
in the interest of the Company and the Shareholders.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this report, at no time during the Year 2023 had the
Company or any of its subsidiaries entered into any contract of significance
with the Controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries, nor had any
contract of significance been entered into for the services provided by the
Controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries to the Company or any of
its subsidiaries.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

The Directors confirm that save as disclosed in the section headed “Related
Party Transactions” of this report, none of the related party transactions
constituted connected transactions or continuing connected transactions
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules that is required to be disclosed. Save
as disclosed in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group
had not entered into any connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions which are required to be disclosed in this report pursuant to
the Listing Rules during the Year 2023.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES R IR RIERAIR(S U R GRS AVIE
AND UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES mERE

As at 31 December 2023, the interests or short positions of the Directors R _Z_=F+_HB=+—H ' EEKRER
and the chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying shares SR ESITEA SR AA S HEHABKZE (€
and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the %E%ﬁ%&ﬁﬁ%ﬂ%%%xvﬁm KB 15 ~ AERE
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required: (i) to be notified to ~ FRIP R EH#FZ T > BIREE (()FERAEK
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of @J%XV‘*‘B%ﬂE’ZSﬁ%B%D@ZK@TEZH?*’\FEE’J
Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were i A (AIERIEEE RIS KM Y uﬁ
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), (ii) pursuant to 5 & IR S 4R YE S AR 24 % B AY 8 25 50 53%
section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein (the &) > (ii)35 2 K B S 1& 51 5535216 58 A % 1K Fhr
“Register”), or (iii) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange &&=l (MEsC ) IR TR A » ZLiiE

pursuant to the Model Code, were as follows: ETRINEG A RE ABPTERIOX AN
B
Long Position e
Number of Shares held
it RIABE Percentage of
Number of issued shares of
Name of Company Personal Corporate Family Other underlying the companies
Directors concerned Capacity interest interests interests interest Shares Total concerned
FrfFAH {ERHAR
1R B&T
£ BRAR i A Pl R Aftes ] it RiRE
Mr. Lee the Company Interest of a controlled - 835,710,000 - - - 835,710,000 7173%
corporation (Note)
54 LY REEEL (fzt)
Ms. Lo the Company Interest of spouse - - 835,710,000 - - 835,710,000 7173%
(Note)
Bt LY iBEs (fzt)
Mr. Cheung the Company Beneficial owner 40,000 - - - - 40000 0.004%
ook LY BHEEA

Note: Such interest includes (i) 750,000,000 Shares beneficially held by Best Sheen; Kiz: AR EZBE(WEEZEZFEHN

and (i) the PSCS and the CB beneficially held by Nicegoal convertible into 750,000,0008% f& 17 ; R(WEBBTIFH
85,710,000 Shares in aggregate. As Best Sheen and Nicegoal is, directly or ] B 4 5 3£85,710,0008% AR 19 Y X A
indirectly, wholly-owned by Mr. Lee, Mr. Lee is deemed to be interested in all B AR B S5 K AT AR A5 o AN E
the interest held by Best Sheen and Nicegoal under the SFO. EREBHEAEERYEEEEE

BRI ES RIS EAIE SRS
R BREMASANAA RS R
B
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, so far as is known
to the Directors, none of the Directors and the chief executives of the
Company had or were deemed to have any interest or short positions
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which
were required (i) to be notified the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
and short positions in which they were taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO); (ii) pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the Register; or (iii) to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

So far as is known to the Directors and chief executives of the Company, as
at 31 December 2023, the following corporation (other than a Director or
the chief executives of the Company) which had interests or short position
in the Share and underlying Shares which were required to be disclosed
to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept under
section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

bR EXFrIiREEIN R _EZ=F+"A4
=t+—H MEBEMAD BIBRESRAAT
BEETBRABRARBHHEHABE LR (E&

BiE5 M HE R B EXVER) BIRR (D ~ FERE AR
DHEER T HEA R AR E IR
X MABNRERE S RHAERGIEXVERE7
873 BB BB AN B S Bt 32 Pl (BLE IR IR 58
7 M ERE R OIB BME RS EFS R A
BN AOKE) ;()RIRES R EAEIRGIE
352K AZ S ; BB IZEZEST R A& 2
NEV B R o

;Eﬂ&iﬁ’:‘ﬂiiﬁ&*ﬂﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬂ'ﬂ%ﬁ&i&

MEFERTADRBTHAERA R2F
TZE+ A=+ B RIEESKPER
BISEXVER 55252350 BBV R SRR A A B
B iRIESE S A E IR BB 336IREC A BTF
ESTMOIAE (—REFREARBAESTT
B A BERIN HBR17 R ABRA AR (7 SR R BO
mEREIT

Name of substantial Capacity/ Number of Percentage of

Shareholder Nature of interest Shares held MNete" issued Shares
HERT

TERRLE Bip/ Rt E Frishg (R g e RS

Best Sheen (Note 2) Beneficial owner 750,000,000 69.76%

£ (fi552) BakEE A

Nicegoal (Note 3) Beneficial owner 85,710,000 7.97%

E5 (fi53) EakEE A

Notes: MI5E :

1. These represent the entity’s long position in the Shares.

2. The entire issued share capital of Best Sheen is held by Mr. Lee, the Chairman,
the CEO and an executive Director.

3. These interest represents the PSCS and the CB convertible into 85,710,000
Shares in aggregate. Nicegoal is indirectly wholly-owned by Mr. Lee.

Save as those disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the Directors
and the chief executives of the Company are not aware of any other
person or corporation having an interest or short positions in the Shares
or underlying Shares which would be required to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under section 336 of the SFO.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted the Share Option Scheme pursuant to a resolution
in writing passed by the Shareholders on 15 February 2018 and is valid for
a period of 10 years from its adoption as incentives or rewards for eligible
participants who contribute to the Group. As at 31 December 2023, the
remaining life of the Share Option Scheme is approximately 4 years 2
months.

No share options have been granted since the Listing Date. Therefore, no
share option was granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the Share
Option Scheme during the Year 2023 and there were no outstanding
options under the Share Option Scheme as at 31 December 2023.
Accordingly, the number of shares that may be issued in respect of share
options granted under the Share Option Scheme divided by the weighted
average number of Shares in issue during the Year 2023 is nil.

The total number of Shares in respect of which options may be granted
under the Share Option Scheme shall not in aggregate exceed 100,000,000,
being 10% of the total number of Shares in issue as at the Listing Date.

Summary of major terms of the Share Option Scheme are as follows:

(i) Purposes

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Group to
grant options to selected participants as incentives or rewards for
their contribution to our Group. The Directors consider that the Share
Option Scheme will enable the Group to reward the employees, the
Directors and other selected participants for their contribution to our
Group.

(i) Participants
The following persons of the Company, any member of the Group
or of an entity in which the Group holds an equity interest may be
invited by the Directors to take up options to subscribe for Shares at
the Directors'absolute discretion:

(@)  employees and directors;
(b)  suppliers and customers;

(c) persons or entities that provides research, development or
other technological support;

(d)  holders of any securities;

(e)  advisers (professional or otherwise) or consultants to any area
of business or business development; and

(f) any other group or classes of participants who have
contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture,
business alliance or other business arrangement to the
development and growth of the Group.
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(v)

(vi)

(vii)

50

Maximum number of Shares

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme shall not
in aggregate exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at the Listing Date
(i.e. 100,000,000 Shares).

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
the options granted to each participant including a Director or the
chief executive of the Company who accepts the offer for the grant
of an option under the Share Option Scheme in any 12-month period
shall not exceed 1% of the number of the issued Shares. Any further
grant of options in excess of this limit is subject to the Shareholders'
approval in a general meeting.

Where any grant of options to a Substantial Shareholder or an INED,
or to any of their respective associates, in excess of 0.1% of the Shares
in issue at the date of grant and with an aggregate value (based on
the closing price of the Shares at the date of each grant) in excess
of HKS5 million, within any 12-month period, is subject to the
Shareholders'approval in a general meeting.

Options granted to a Director, chief executive of the Company or
Substantial Shareholder, or to any of their associates, are subject to
approval by the INEDs.

Time of acceptance and exercise of option

An offer of options may be accepted by a participant within 21 days
from the date of the offer of grant of the options. Unless otherwise
determined by the Directors and stated in the offer, a grantee is not
required to hold an option for any minimum period nor achieve any
performance targets before the exercise of an option granted to him.

Subscription price for Shares and consideration for the
option

The subscription price for Shares will be a price determined by the
Directors, but shall not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price
of Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on
the date of the offer of grant; (ii) the average of the closing prices of
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for
the five trading days immediately preceding the date of the offer of
grant; and (jii) the nominal value of the Shares.

A nominal consideration of HK$1.00 is payable by the grantee on
acceptance of grant of option.

Period

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of 10 years
commencing on 16 March 2018, the date on which the Share Option
Scheme became effective.
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RESTRICTED SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company adopted the Restricted Share Award Scheme on 30
August 2019. The Restricted Share Award Scheme, which is subject to the
provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

Purpose of the Restricted Share Award Scheme

The purpose of the Restricted Share Award Scheme is (i) to recognise the
contributions by the Group'’s personnel and to increase their incentives in
working for the continual operation and development of the Group; and (ii)
to attract suitable personnel for further development of the Group.

Maximum Number of Shares to be Granted

The aggregate number of shares underlying all grants made pursuant to
the Restricted Share Award Scheme (excluding awarded shares which
have been forfeited in accordance with the Share Award Scheme) will
not exceed 10% of the total number of issued Shares as at the date of
adoption of the Restricted Share Award Scheme (i.e. 1,000,000,000),
being 100,000,000 Shares (the “Restricted Share Award Scheme Limit").
The maximum number of Restricted Shares which may be granted to
a Selected Participant at any one time or in aggregate may not exceed
one per cent. (1%) of the issued share capital of the Company as at the
Adoption Date.

Vesting of Awards

The Board may from time to time while the Restricted Share Award Scheme
is in force and subject to all applicable laws, determine such vesting criteria
and conditions or periods for the Award to be vested.

Movements in the Restricted Share Award Scheme

During the Year 2023, the Custodian purchased 7,145,000 Shares on the
market under the Restricted Share Award Scheme and an aggregate
of 2,700,000 Shares were vested to employee participants, which were
granted to them in Year 2021. As at the date of this Annual Report, an
aggregate of 4,940,000 Restricted Shares remained unvested to the
employee participants.
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Not yet vested Not yet vested
asat asat
Vesting period 1 January Granted Vested 31 December
Grantee Date of grant (Note 1) 2023 (Note 2) (Note 3) Lapsed Cancelled 2023
iyt Janis 3
gt Janis 3 +ZA
BES -RA-H B BHE =t+-H
ERA gL (Htst1) Gkl (Mzk2) (Hi5E3) BEX B RS
Employees 23Juy2021 10 March 2022 = = = = = =
B -F _BICE
8 tAZ+=H =R+H
10 March 2023 3820000 = 2,700,000 = = 1,120000
ZZ°CE
=R+H
10 March 2024 3820000 = = = = 3820000
ZEImE
=A+H
Total 7,640,000 - 2,700,000 - - 4,940,000
i3t
Notes: Mt -

52

Subject to the rules of the Restricted Share Award Scheme, the Restricted
Shares will be vested to the grantees in three tranches of which 20% of
the Restricted Shares were vested on 10 March 2022, 40% of the Restricted
Shares were supposed to be vested on 10 March 2023 and 10 March 2024
respectively, but the vesting arrangement is still in progress for each of
the vesting of the 40% on respective dates, subject to the fulfilment of the
vesting condition that the Grantee shall be graded “Satisfactory” or above
during the annual year-end performance appraisal conducted before the
respective vesting dates.

The Restricted Shares granted under the Restricted Share Award Scheme with
the average closing price of the Shares for the five consecutive trading days
immediately preceding the date of grant as quoted on the Stock Exchange
is approximately HK$0.312 per Share. According to the rules of the Restricted
Share Award Scheme, the Board shall consider certain matters when
determining the grant of such Restricted Shares to the grantees, including
the performance and contributions of the grantees of the Group with an
objective of recognising their contributions and increasing their incentives in
working for the continual operation and development of the Group.

The Share price on which the Restricted Shares were vested in employees

under the Restricted Share Award Scheme on 28 August 2023 and 29 August
2023 was HK$0.34 and HK$0.355 respectively.
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During the Year 2023, the aggregate fair value of the Restricted Shares
granted on 23 July 2021 under the Restricted Share Award Scheme was
HK$2,865,000. The estimated value of the Restricted Shares granted to
the employee participants and the five highest paid employees was
HK$2,865,000 and HK$ 1,485,000, respectively.

R_E =5 RIERHIMERD IR E
RIEZ—F+t 8-+ =HEHIRHIER
DA BEABRE22,865,00078 7T c T 18
B2HENTEARSHMNESNRSIERD
RIS ETE{E D B £52,865,00078 7T K2 1,485,0007

7‘50

Fair value of

Total number restricted shares

Grantee Date of grant granted granted

SR

EEA RHAE [SEih it RSB AFE

HKS

ATT

Employee 23 July 2021 9,550,000 2,865,000
3= 2 —HtHBZ+=H

Five highest paid employees 23 July 2021 4,950,000 1,485,000
hAhEEaNES B —F+HBAZ+=H

Please refer to note 30(b) to the financial statements for details of
accounting treatment for restricted shares of the Restricted Share Award
Scheme.

The number of shares that may be issued in respect of share awards
granted under the Restricted Share Award Scheme divided by the
weighted average number of Shares in issue during the Year 2023 was nil.

Subject to any early termination of the Restricted Share Award Scheme as
may be determined by the Board, the Restricted Share Award Scheme is
valid and effective for a term of 10 years commencing on 30 August 2019
(i.e. the adoption date of the Restricted Share Award Scheme). As at 31
December 2023, the remaining life of the Restricted Share Award Scheme is
approximately 5 years and 8 months.
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EQUITY-LINK AGREEMENTS

Apart from the Share Option Scheme, the Restricted Share Award Scheme,
(B and PSCS as set out in this Directors Report, no equity-linked agreement
that would or might (i) result in the Company issuing Shares, or (i) require
the Company to enter into an agreement that would or might result in the
Company issuing Shares, was entered into by the Company during the Year
2023 or subsisted at the end of the Year 2023.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING BY CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

Mr. Lee, through his interest in Best Sheen, is interested in 69.76% of
the issued Shares. As such Mr. Lee and Best Sheen are the Controlling
Shareholders. The Controlling Shareholders have confirmed that they had
been in compliance with all the undertakings provided under the deed
of non— competition dated 15 February 2018 and signed by Mr. Lee and
Best Sheen in favour of the Company (the “Deed of Non-competition”),
since the signing of the Deed of Non-competition and up to 31 December
2023. Details of the Deed of Non-competition are set out in the section
headed “Non-competition Undertaking” in the Prospectus. There are no
matters which required to be deliberated by the INEDs in relation to the
compliance and enforcement of the Deed of Non-competition and they
considered that the terms of the Deed of Non-competition have been
complied with by the Controlling Shareholders.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, as of the date of this Annual Report,
the Company has maintained sufficient public float (i.e. at least 25% of the
issued Shares being held by the public) as required under the Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the laws of the
Cayman Islands (place of incorporation of the Company) or under the
Articles of Association which would oblige the Company to offer new
Shares on a pro-rata basis to its existing Shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has adopted the code provisions as set out in the CG
Code. The Board considered that during the Year 2023 and up to the date
of this Annual Report, the Company has complied with the applicable
code provisions set out in the CG Code except for those disclosed in the
Corporate Governance Report included in this Annual Report. For details,
please refer to the “Corporate Governance Report”on pages 24 to 40 of this
Annual Report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or substantial part of the business of the Company were entered
into or in existence as at 31 December 2023 or at any time during the Year
2023.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director shall be entitled
to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses or
liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in or about the execution of
the duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company
has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for the Directors' and
officers' liabilities in respect of legal actions against its Directors and senior
management arising out of corporate activities during the Year 2023
and the indemnity provision and Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance
remained in force during the Year 2023 and as at the date of this report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the Year 2023, the five largest customers of the Group comprised 40.6%
by value of our total sales during the Year 2023, with the largest customer
accounted for 13.9%. For the Year 2023, the five largest suppliers of the
Group comprised 78.2% by value of our total purchases during the Year
2023, with the largest supplier accounted for 32.6%.

None of the Directors, their close associates or a Shareholder (which to the
knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the number of issued
Shares) has an interest in any of our five largest customers and suppliers.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this Annual Report, at no time during the
Year 2023 was the Company or any of its holding company, subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors of
the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in,
or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Company has adopted electronic dissemination of corporate
communications pursuant to Rule 2.07A of the Listing Rules. As a
result, both the English and Chinese versions of all future corporate
communications will only be available electronically on the website of
the Company at http://www.apexace.com and the HKExnews website at
www.hkexnews.hk in place of printed copies, unless otherwise requested
by the Shareholders. The Company will send all actionable corporate
communications to its Shareholders individually in electronic form by email
or printed copies (as the case may be). For details, please refer to the notice
issued by the Company on 22 March 2024.

Save as disclosed above, the Board is not aware of any significant event
affecting the Group and requiring disclosure that has been taken place
subsequent to 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this report.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the Year 2023 have been audited
by Graham H. Y. Chan & Co, who will retire at the conclusion of the
forthcoming AGM and offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution
for the re-appointment of Graham H. Y. Chan & Co. as the Independent
Auditor will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Lee Bing Kwong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 March 2024
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B LB AR S

GRAHAM H. Y. CHAN & CO.

HONG KONG itk

TO THE MEMBERS OF APEX ACE HOLDING LIMITED
(incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Apex Ace
Holding Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as, the “Group") set out on pages 63 to 175, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to
the consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2023 and of its consolidated financial performance and consolidated cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the "HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the “Auditor's Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:
1. Impairment assessment of trade receivables; and

2. Provision for inventories.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)
1. Impairment assessment of trade receivables

Nature of the key audit matter

REEFREE

RRsEEst5IE (@
1. BRRARREVHEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ESFNEHMFARERREANFE

We identified the assessment of impairment for
trade receivables as a key audit matter due to the
use of management judgement and estimates in
evaluating the impairment under the expected
credit losses model.

As disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements, the management considers various
factors when determining the provision for
impairment of trade receivables. These factors
include the ageing analysis of trade debts, the
current creditworthiness of the customers, the
historical collection history of each debtor, the
status of subsequent settlement, the expected
timing and amount of realisation of outstanding
balances, and the on-going trading relationship
with the customers. Additionally, the Management
takes into account forward-looking information
that may impact the ability of customers to repay
the outstanding balances in order to estimate
the expected credit losses for the impairment
assessment.

At 31 December 2023, the carrying amount
of trade receivables before impairment was
approximately HK$818,065,000 and an allowance
for impairment was approximately HK$71,564,000.
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Our audit procedures to assess the impairment of trade
receivables included the following:

Understanding the Group's key internal controls for
managing and monitoring credit risk, debt collection and
the estimation of expected credit losses;

Recalculating the accuracy of ageing analysis of trade
receivables and verifying its accuracy by checking source
documents on a sample basis;

Obtaining confirmations from debtors to verify the accuracy
of the debtor balances on a sample basis;

Reviewing subsequent settlements of trade receivables
and verifying them against related sales invoices and bank
records on a sample basis;

Evaluating the reasonableness of the Management’s
impairment assessment by examining the information used,
including testing the accuracy of historical default data
and assessing adjustments based on current economic
conditions and forward-looking information; and

Assessing the adequacy of the credit risk disclosures in
relation to trade receivables.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

2.

Provision for inventories

Nature of the key audit matter

REEFREE

FREETEIE (B
2. FHEMRE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ESFNEMFARERREANFE

We identified the provision for inventories as a key
audit matter due to the management’s judgement
involved in determining the appropriate levels of
inventory provision.

As disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements, the management considers several
factors when determining the allowance for slow-
moving and obsolete inventories. These factors
include the ageing of inventories, estimated net
realisable value and subsequent sales.

At 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of
inventories was approximately HK$227,665,000
and a write-down of inventories of approximately
HK$2,498,000 was recognised for the year.
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Our audit procedures in relation to provision for inventories
included the following:

- Understanding the Group's inventory impairment policy and
the Management'’s assessment of the net realisable values of
inventories;

- Assessing the reasonableness of management’s estimates
of the net realisable value on a sample basis, considering
factors such as inventory ageing, subsequent sales, latest
selling prices, and estimated costs to make sales;

- Checking the accuracy of the ageing analysis of inventories
by verifying against source documents on a sample basis;

- Verifying the status of slow-moving inventories by cross-
referencing them with respective subsequent sales invoices
or sales orders received; and

- Obtaining information from the sales team regarding
the expected sales of slow-moving or long-outstanding
inventories.
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT
THEREON

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the Annual
Report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit,
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED
WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

i

AR Gk

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with the terms of our engagement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee

that

an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a

material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We

also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B LN S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

- Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
things, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor's report is LAl Shuk Ping.

Graham H.Y. Chan & Co.
Certified Public Accountants (Practising)
Hong Kong

27 March 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

roEmxEME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

EIL e

BHE_E_=F+_A=+—HIEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BT
2023 2022
—EZ= B —
Note $'000 $'000
B 5 FT T
Revenue 1§53 5 2,529,796 2,689,094
Cost of sales HHE R A (2,365,799) (2,574,218)
Gross profit EH 163,997 114,876
Other income H A 6 3,661 5,255
(Decrease)/increase in fair value of B AFE CRD)
investment property A0 (3,000) 200
(Impairment loss)/reversal B SRR CRERE)
of impairment loss on PEAIEY SEi=tc{El
trade receivables (8,191) 7,594
Reversal of impairment loss/ B~ BRI HAFEU
(impairment loss) on interest, loan BRI ERER (],
and other receivables, net CRER518) F%58 452 (3,865)
Fair value gain/(loss) in financial AT EFABENER
instrument at fair value through TEMATEE
profit or loss W, (B538) 451 (484)
Fair value gain/(loss) in derivative MEBENRAFERE,
asset (B548) 729 (3,178)
Distribution and selling expenses D RIHERE (49,899) (54,495)
Administrative expenses TERESZ (78,078) (79,802)
Finance costs BB RS 7 (35,324) (19,968)
Loss before tax PRiRAIESIE 8 (5,202) (33,867)
Income tax (expense)/credit Fri8f () HE% 10 (4,958) 831
Loss for the year FREE (10,160) (33,036)
Other comprehensive expense  H{th2E{X
Items that may be reclassified REEDEERm
subsequently to profit or loss: EHH
Exchange differences arising on MEBINEBIEE .
translation of foreign operations PE R ERE (2,075) (5977)
Other comprehensive expense  FREMBE[ >
for the year, net of tax npriE (2,075) (5977)
Total comprehensive expense FRA2MAZEEE
for the year (12,235) (39,013)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

reEmAEMEE @R

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE_Z_—F+"FA=+—HIFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LLETEIT)
2023 2022
—E-= B F
Note $'000 $'000
By s Tt T
Loss for the year attributable to: M ATRGFEREE !
— Owners of the Company —RABEB A (16,160) (32,386)
— Non-controlling interests — IR R 6,000 (650)
(10,160) (33,036)
Total comprehensive expenses UTFATEEFAZERS
for the year attributable to: AR%E
— Owners of the Company —ARABEB A (18,202) (38,157)
— Non-controlling interests — IR R 5,967 (856)
(12,235) (39,013)
Loss per share attributable to AT R AFEWL
owners of the Company SREE
~ Basic —BR 11 (1.53)HK cents Ll 13)HK centsi&HLl
- Diluted —#5s (1.53)HK centsEll 13)HK centsiE

The notes on pages 71 to 175 form part of these consolidated financial %71:t175%2%%‘51‘%&%#@@%%%%
statements. —&B e
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

EE MR

At 31 December 2023 T =F+"RA=+—H
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LUETHT)
As at As at
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
M= A TEHF
+=A=+—HB | +=B=+—H
Note $'000 $'000
B 5 Tt Tt
Non-current assets JERENE &
Property, plant and equipment M= -BERKE 13 85,973 90,807
Right-of-use assets FRESE 13 8,849 9,367
Investment property KBEYE 14 48,200 51,200
Financial instrument at fair value BAFESTAEBERN
through profit or loss SHMTA 15 13,125 12,674
Intangible assets mILEE 17 7,253 12,280
Deposits paid for acquisition of URREYD 2 BB R sk B Y
property, plant and equipment [SEDEE &R 20 228 =
Deferred tax assets RIERIEE E 27 13,094 11,806
o vem| 186134
Current assets MENEE
Derivative asset TEEE 16 1,730 1,001
Inventories 78 18 227,665 174,970
Trade and bills receivables B 5 e AR R e U ZR 19 747,721 499,292
Other receivables, deposits HMEIWAHIE e K&
and prepayments SEENEE 20 103,844 49,682
Income tax recoverable AW [EIFT1ER 84 793
Bank balances, restricted balance IRITA R ZIRHIEER &
and cash RH& 21 96,520 99,562
_____________________________________________________________ 177,564 | _______825300_
Current liabilities ik i =R
Trade payables B 5 TR 2 164,622 131,812
Other payables, accruals and HiENRIBE - EBstER K
deposits received BlizE 23 25,075 22,789
Lease liabilities — current portion HEsGE-—REE D 13 3,702 2,885
Loan from controlling shareholder,  ZREIZRIRERME R
unsecured > SR 24 43,784 =
Bank borrowings, secured IRITEE > BiEF 25,38 759,072 483,666
Income tax payable FETFRISHR 3,802 3,873
_____________________________________________________________ 1000087 | o0
Netcurrentassets = WEEE®E | w7507 | 180,275 _
Total assets less current liabilities M¥@RMBMAR | 354229 | . 368409 _
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e FBRR

At 31 December 2023 A =H4+A=1—H
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LLETEIT)
As at As at
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
MZEZ= AT F
+=A=+—HB | +=BA=+—H
Note $'000 $'000
B 5+ FT T
Non-current liabilities ERSEE
Convertible bond EIE IS 26,38 16,150 15,227
Lease liabilities — non-current portion fHE&E—IERBIT D 13 5,448 6,731
Deferred tax liabilities RERBER 27 4,552 3,901
26,150 25,859
Net assets BEFE 328,079 342,550
Capital and reserves B Ri#E
Share capital & 28 10,751 10,751
Reserves (A 269,865 290,413
Equity attributable to owners AT HEE AEE#ERD
of the Company 280,616 301,164
PSCS KARAR ARG 58 55 29 10,000 10,000
Non-controlling interests R R 37,463 31,386
Total equity M 328,079 342,550

The consolidated financial statements on pages 63 to 175 were approved  $63E175B 2 ix M HFRERCHEEIH
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 27 March 2024 and —Z _PQE=8 _ ++ AH#t A RZET) 2

were signed on its behalf by WARMTALRERE
Lee Bing Kwong Lo Yuen Kin
FHRA ErxE
Director Director
EE EE

The notes on pages 71 to 175 form part of these consolidated financial ~ Z871ZE 1758 Z sk B L E4R & IR R
statements. Z—Z e
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

[N _\_
< o
l\\7l_\ 7|( & @J %%

for the year ended 31 December 2023

BE_Z_—F+"B=+—HIFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L ETTHT)
Attributable to owners of the Company
FAFREAE
Shares held
forthe Perpetual
Restricted ~ Share-based Asset subordinated Non-
Share  Share Award payment  Convertible Other  revaluation  Exchange Retained onertble  controlling Total
Share capital premium Scheme reserve  bond reserve reserve reserve reserve earnings Subtotal securites interests equity
Rttt
REHE MRhHR et BE KARR
Rt ROEE THERG WERE SRR RMEE  EMER  EREE  GEEM Nt TRERES  HERER 3
$000 5000 §000 5000 5000 5000 §000 §000 $000 $000 5000 §000 §000
i i i i T T T n i i i i i
Balance at 1 January 2022 WZEZZF-B-AZ
ﬁﬁ 100% 1074717 (3629 903 - 3086 14461 4154 168280 304828 - 3518 340346
Lossforthe year FREE - - - - - - - - (3238 (3238 - (650) (33036)
Other comprehensiie expense EREMZERT
forthe year
-Bchangedifeencesaringon ~AEENEREEZ
trandlation oforeign operatons EREE - - - - - - - 677) - () - (206 (5977)
Totel comprehensive expense ERZERTAE
forthe year - - - - - - - (577) (32.388) (38,157) - (856) (39013)
Recogniton of equity componentof - S ABRESER
® k) - - - - 9735 - - - - 9735 = = 975
fsue ofPCS EfRARRTARE - - - - - - - - 10000 - 10000
lsue of shaes B4l 655 1911 - - - - - - - 2556 = = 2556
Shares purchased for e Resricted AR R A B3T3
Share Award Scheme EA\NKR - - 21%) = = = = = = 21%8) = = 2198)
Recogniton of equity-setted share- ~ BESELEREZ 2URIA
based payment 2IFE = = = 1311 = = = = = 131 S S 131
Shares vested orthe Resticted Share  SHIR 1 EIR{7 2Bt B
Award Scheme BHERG - - m 63) = = = = (150 = = = =
Revduation resenve redisedupon - EfERETHRIETZ
depreciaton on revaluztion of MEEREMEE
Ieasehold land and buildings - - - - - - 549) - 678 19 - - 19
Disrbution to holder of PSCS AXARGT ERES
REABRE - - - - = = = 50 (50) > > 0
Divdend paid o the non-convoling -~ B —BRBAZE2R
shareholder o a subsidiary HERS - - - - - - - = = 327) (3276)
Balance at 31 December 2022 gt
+ZRzt-R2E&85 10751 132388 (5,104 1641 9735 3086 13912 (1617) 1363712 30,164 10,000 3138 342550
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
H—Leﬁz
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for the year ended 31 December 2023 BE_ZE_—F+"/B=+—HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LB TET)
Attributable to owners of the Company
LG EIN
Shares held
forthe Perpetual
Restricted ~ Share-based Asset subordinated Non-
Share  Share Award payment  Convertible Other  revaluation  Exchange Retained conertble  controlling Total
Share capital premium Scheme reserve  bond reserve reserve reserve reserve earnings Subtotal securites interests equity
it
wEie MRMER AR HE A4
Bt RGEE TRERR  WERE  GEHR RMER  ERER  ERERE  REEY it dRkES  FEREE 0 4BE
$000 5000 5000 5000 §000 §000 5000 5000 §000 $000 5000 §000 §000

T T T T Tn T T T T T T T T

Balance at 1 January 2023 RZF-zE-A-RZ
£ 10,751 132,388 (5,104) 1,641 9,735 3,086 13912 (1,617) 136,372 301,164 10,000 31,386 342,550
(Loss)frofit for the year ExE8) /5 - - - - - - - - (16160)  (16,160) o 6,000 (10,160)

Other comprehensive expense FREMEERS

for the year
-Bchange difeencesarsingon  ~BERANERELZ
tranlaton offoreign operatons EREE - - - - - - - (200 - (2042) . (33) (2075)

Total comprehensive expense ER2ERRAR
for the year - - - - - - - (2,042) (16,160) (18,202) - 5,967 (12,235)

Shares purchased for e Restrcted AR IR REN5H 2]

Share Award Scheme EANRS - 5 (2990) - - - - - - (2990) - - (2990)
Recognifon ofequity-setted share- SN BRAEHZ

ased payment RS EE - - - 568 - - - - - 568 - - 568
Shares vested for the Resticted Share - SERBIMIRARAEEIE

Award Scheme FERR - - 937 (810) - - - - (127)
Revalvation esenve ealied upon ~ EfERETHRIETFZ

depreciation on revalation of HEEREGER

leasehold [and and buildings - - - - - - (542) - 668 126 - - 126
Distoution o holder of PSCS AT RS

FEANDK - - - - - - - - (50) (50) - - (50)

Contibutionfomanoncontolling. ~ RE—LEERRELE

shareholder - - - - - S S o = S S 110 10

Balanceat31 December 2023  RZEZZE
+ZRz+-R2EH 10,751 132,388 (7,157) 1399 9,735 3,086 13370 (3,659) 120,703 280,616 10,000 37,463 328,079

Note: Other reserve mainly represents the difference between the historical cost of ~ FffsE : Hth#EE T EHLERIZERBREEF—

the shares of a subsidiary paid by the then controlling shareholder and the BB ARBERMONAEIEARIR
consideration paid by the Group in exchange. NAEEENREBZENESE-
The notes on pages 71 to 175 form part of these consolidated financial 71:|:175,EZWDH‘%EZE|: REMBIRE
statements. — &5y o
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

I\\7r\ Eﬁi/)n%%

for the year ended 31 December 2023 BE_ZE__F+_B=+—HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LB TTHT)
2023 2022
—gZ= =SS
Note $'000 $'000
BEE F T
Operating activities REEH
Loss before tax BRIS ARS8 (5,202) (33,867)
Adjustments for: REE
Decrease/(increase) in fair value of ﬁ%%@ﬁfﬁﬁﬂ‘/
investment property (Gi)) 3,000 (200)
Loss on disposal of property, plant HEYE BERKE
and equipment 18 14 20
Fair value (gain)/loss in financial BATES ABRN
instrument at fair value through ETHMTENAFE
profit or loss W) /5B (451) 484
Fair value (gain)/loss in derivative asset T4 & ERAFE
Was) /#518R (729) 3,178
Interest income A EUWA 6 (886) (184)
Depreciation — property, plant ME-ME -BEXK
and equipment RE 8 5,418 5227
Depreciation - right-of-use assets ME—SRAREE 8 3,363 1826
Amortisation — intangible asset BB EE 8 4,716 4,826
Write-down of inventories FEMR 8 2,498 6,990
Impairment loss/(reversal B EWERRURERSE,
of impairment loss) on (RUE RSB E)
trade receivables 8,191 (7,594)
(Reversal of impairment loss)/ FEWF B~ B R EAth
impairment loss on interest, FEWGRIE (RIERTE
loans and other receivables #0) RERBE (452) 3,865
Finance costs A= 1D7%: 7 35,324 19,968
Recognition of equity-settled RUERGEE
share-based payment MBS IRIE 8 568 13171
Operating cash flows before working Eﬁ% AR ERE
capital changes e 55,372 5,850
(Increase)/decrease in inventories =& @Em e (55,844) 68,090
Increase in trade receivables B 5 AR FUE (257,181) (12,673)
(Increase)/decrease in other receivables, ELfhEURTRIE « FEUE N~
loans receivable, deposits R&RFBARIE (M
and prepayments A (53,620) 13,558
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables B S ETBRFNIE M, GRisL) 32,858 (24,679)
Increase/(decrease) in other payables, HAMREAERIE S B AR
accruals and deposit received Blkzs 0gm R 2,513 (20,882)
Cash (used in)/generated from s EE (FA) Fris
operating activities RE (275,902) 29,264
Interest income received BUFH B YA 1,165 615
Tax paid [SNEi8E] (4,863) (2,794)
Tax refund B 46 744
Net cash (used in)/generated from #X%&;EH) (FiA) FRiSIRE
operating activities i | (279,554) 27,829
ANNUAL REPORT 202343 69




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

FmalRTRER

for the year ended 31 December 2023

BE_E_=F+_A=+—HIEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LLETEIT)
2023 2022
—E°= B &
Note $'000 $'000
B =E Fr T
Investing activities REEH
Payments for purchase of property, BEYE BMEKRREBERIE
plant and equipment, net FEE (1,098) (2,002)
Purchase of financial instrument BERAFESFAERN
at fair value through profit or loss ST H - (13,158)
Sales proceeds received from the HEYE -BEKRERES
disposal of property, HEMIE
plant and equipment 19 =
Advances to a customer El 2=k (2,375) =
Refund of deposits previously paid for 3B 3& Se Aol 2% I BE B 12
proposed acquisition of a target NEL RS
company 1,720 -
Net cash used in investing activities & & ;EENFTARE L (1,734) (15,160)
Financing activities MEES
Net proceeds from placing shares BCE RN 2 FriSRIRF4E - 25,566
Shares purchased for the Restricted #PREIE R 1D 52 B 512
Share Award Scheme BANKRS (2,990) (2,198)
Advancement of bank instalment loans T8 $E1T0 ERE 38 3,289 12,981
Repayment of bank instalment loans B2 IRITHHIE R 38 (5,536) (2,829)
Net increase/(decrease) in factoring REERIEM, (AL
loans PER 38 229,572 (70,198)
Net increase in other bank borrowings ~ ELfh3R4TfE & 1% N 358 38 48,467 6,360
Increase in loan from controlling REERBRENER
shareholder, unsecured (BRI 3F) 1200 33,38 43,470 -
Interests on bank borrowings paid BHRITEERN S 38 (33,551) (18910)
Interest on CB paid ENHABREKRESFE 33,38 (100) (100)
Capital element of lease rentals paid ~ EffFHEHEEAILH 38 (3,304) (1577)
Interest element of lease rentals paid ~ BAIFEEHEEH B2 D 38 (436) (175)
Increase in restricted balance = PR HI4E BRI D (309) (10,046)
Distribution to holder of PSCS BK AR AR B4 AG 56 25
BB ARDIK 33 (50) (50)
Contribution from a non-controlling ~ ZEE—&IEIERRREHE
shareholder 110 -
Dividend paid BUKRE - (3.276)
Net cash generated from/(used in) FAEEBIFRS, (FRFD)
financing activities REPEE 278,632 (64,452)
Net decrease in cash and RERIREEEBYRLFEE
cash equivalents (2,656) (51,783)
Cash and cash equivalents FYRERIREEEY
at beginning of year 89,516 143,743
Effect of foreign exchange rate change FEZRE )5 £ (695) (2,444)
Cash and cash equivalents FEXRAERFEEEY
at end of the year 21 86,165 89,516
The notes on pages 71 to 175 form part of these consolidated financial 5712 175B 2 MBI SR E M FFRE

statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

%=-H

N [

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

RAFS R MY EE

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 4 July
2012, as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. The immediate and ultimate
holding company of the Company is Best Sheen Limited, a limited
liability company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. The
address of the registered office and principal place of business of the
Company are disclosed in the ‘Corporate Information’ section of the
Annual Report.

The Company is an investment holding company, the principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 32.

The Company has its primary listing on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange on 16 March, 2018.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group are presented in
HKS, which is the same as the functional currency of the Company,
and all values are rounded to nearest thousand, unless otherwise
stated.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(@) New and revised HKFRSs adopted as at 1 January
2023

For the current year, the Group has adopted for the first time
the following new standard and amendments to HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA, which are effective for the Group's accounting
period beginning on 1 January 2023.

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and the
related amendments

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates

Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction

International Tax Reform — Pillar

Two Model Rules

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 12

Except for the adoption of Amendments to HKAS 12 “Deferred
Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction’, the Group did not have any material changes of
its accounting policies and impact on the Group's financial
position and financial performance when adopting these new
standard and amendments.
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(FRIEFBERA LIATIIR)

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG 2 [ERIMITREETEBMERE
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED) #R) (@@
(@) New and revised HKFRSs adopted as at 1 January (@ MIEZ=H—H—HFHB

2023 (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 “Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction”

Amendments to HKAS 12 “Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction” narrow the scope
of the initial recognition exception in HKAS 12 so that it no
longer applies to transactions that give rise to equal taxable
and deductible temporary differences, such as leases and
decommissioning obligations. Therefore, entities are required
to recognise a deferred tax asset (provided that sufficient
taxable profit is available) and a deferred tax liability for
temporary differences arising from these transactions at the
beginning of the earliest comparative period for all deductible
and taxable temporary differences associated with (i) right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities; and (ii) decommissioning,
restoration and similar liabilities, and the corresponding
amounts recognised as part of the cost of the related assets.

The cumulative effect of recognising these adjustments as of
31 December 2022 was not material and hence no adjustment
was made to the beginning retained earnings, or another
component of equity. In addition, the change will impact
disclosures of components of deferred tax assets and liabilities
in the annual financial statements.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

(b) New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective

The Group has not applied the following amendments to
HKFRSs and interpretation that have been issued but are not
yet effective for the current year.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-Current and
related Amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-Current Liabilities with
Covenants'
Amendments to HKAS 7 and Supplier Finance Arrangements !
HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability 2

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and

Leaseback '
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture 3

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2024.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2025.

E Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

The Group is currently assessing the full impact of the
amendments to standards and interpretation.
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74

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs, which is a collective term that includes
all individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards, and
interpretations issued by HKICPA, and accounting policies generally
accepted in Hong Kong. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. For the
purpose of preparation of the financial statements, information is
considered material if such information is reasonably expected to
influence decisions made by primary users.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost basis, except for financial instrument at fair value
through profit or loss, derivative asset, certain property, plant and
equipment and investment property which are measured at fair
value as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability
if market participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for leasing
transactions that are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16, and
measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair
value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in
use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use. Fair
value measurements are categorised into the three-level fair value
hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13 Fair value measurement. The level
into which a fair value measurement is classified is determined with
reference to the observability and significance of the inputs used in
the valuation technique as follows:

Level 1 - unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for
identical asset or liabilities

Level 2 - inputs other than quoted prices included within Level
1 that are observable for the asset or liability

Level 3 — unobservable inputs for the asset or liability
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3  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

The Group's policy is to recognise transfers between levels of fair
value hierarchy as at the end of the year in which they occur.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise the judgement
in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated
financial statements, are disclosed in note 4 below.

(a)

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved when the
Company:

has the power over the investee,

is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

has the ability to use the power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Company loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated statements of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income from the date the
Company gains control until the date when the Company
ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(a)

Consolidation (Continued)

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with the Group's accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group's ownership interests in subsidiaries that
do not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries
are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts
of the Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are
adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the
non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity
and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or
loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between (i)
the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received
and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the previous
carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests.
The fair value of any investment retained in the former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the
fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting
under HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments’, when applicable, or the
cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a
jointly controlled entity.
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3  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b)

Revenue recognition
Sale of electronic components:

Revenue from the sales and distribution of products is
recognised when control of the products has transferred,
being at the point the products are delivered to the customer’s
premise and the customer has accepted the products,
and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the
customer’s acceptance of the products. Delivery occurs when
the products have been shipped to the specified location,
the risks of obsolescence and loss have been transferred to
the customer, and either the customer has accepted the
products in accordance with the sales contract, the acceptance
provisions have lapsed, or the Group has objective evidence
that all criteria for acceptance have been satisfied.

Revenue from these sales is recognised based on the price
specified in the contract, net of discounts and returns.

A receivable is recognised when the products are delivered
and the customers accept the products, as this is the point in
time that the consideration is unconditional because only the
passage of time is required before the payment is due.

Rental income from operating leases:

Rental income receivable under operating leases is recognised
in profit or loss in equal instalments over the periods covered
by the lease term.

Commission income

Commission income is recognised when entitlement to the
commission has been established.

Interest income:

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective
interest method.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(c)

Property, plant and equipment

Leasehold land and buildings held for own use are stated
at revaluation amount, being fair value at the date of
revaluation less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any. Valuations
are performed frequently enough to ensure that the fair value
of revalued asset does not differ materially from its carrying
amount.

Changes in the values of leasehold land and buildings are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in the asset revaluation reserve. If the total of this reserve is
insufficient to cover a deficit, on an individual asset basis, the
excess of the deficit is charged to profit or loss. Any subsequent
revaluation surplus is credited to profit or loss to the extent of
the deficit previously charged. On disposal of a revalued asset,
the relevant portion of the asset revaluation reserve realised in
respect of previous valuations is transferred to retained profits
as a movement in reserves.

Other categories of property, plant and equipment are stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs
of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for
its intended use. Expenditure incurred after items of property,
plant and equipment have been put into operation, such as
repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss
in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where it can
be clearly demonstrated that the expenditure has resulted
in an increase in the future economic benefits expected to
be obtained from the use of an item of property, plant and
equipment, the expenditure is capitalised as an additional cost
of that asset.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(c)

(d)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated at rates
sufficient to write off their costs or revaluation amount less
their estimated residual value, if any, over their estimated useful
lives on a straight-line basis at the following annual rates:

Over the unexpired
term of lease

Leasehold land and buildings

Leasehold improvement 20%
Furniture and fixtures 20%
Computer and office equipment 20%
Motor vehicle 20%

Useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting date,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use. The gain or loss on disposal or
retirement of an asset is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset, and is
recognised in profit or loss.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at
cost. Subsequently, intangible assets with finite useful lives are
carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation is provided on a straight-
line basis over their estimated useful lives of five years. The
amortisation expenses are recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
and included in administrative expenses.

Intangible assets with finite lives are tested for impairment
when there is an indication that an asset may be impaired.
If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less
than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset
is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised as an expense immediately.

3

(FRIEH BB LIATIIT)

EXGFHEK (B

(c)

(d)

WE - BER=RE (B

ME BB hRBEZREUERM
STRIME RIS A E
BAHMGERBREE (WA) &
STROEERIG U T E R E G IES
8]

METHERIEF RERERE
A

HEEE 20%
Wﬁ)ﬂz%% 20%

B EARE  20%

RE 20%

A EAARITE AN SRS A
R BT QER) o E

HEE L ERTRIREE AR

ME- BB RREERE N HER
NFRMHREEEAZEESS
BEECEMN DK LRS-
ENERZBEEMEE ZWmL
BRMDEREEZHERSNIEA
FEHEKREEZER TRED
PIBEST

sBIEE
BUWEZ BB EVSREA
8- H®E > AARAERFEH
2B EER AR R 5T 85 &
KetEEREEY R #EHTIEH
HE st ERFIUE G EE
o BEMAY NG EBm R EM
EELI//\Z %mﬁﬁugin‘i—)\‘ﬂ'ﬂﬁﬁ
+o

EAPRETEENELTER
BF gNARFRAEAFHZ
BLEEETRENS HEE
Z AR el L st SR HARE
B AZBEZREEFHEE
H el el 28 o B EEE G E
HESE AT ©

ANNUAL REPORT 2023£E%R

79



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR R R MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

3

80

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(e)

(f)

Investment property

Investment property is property held to earn rentals and/or for
capital appreciation. Investment property is measured initially
at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment property is measured at fair value. Gain
and loss arising from change in the fair value of investment
property is included in profit or loss in the period which they
arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected from
the disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of
the property (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is
included in profit or loss in the period in which the property is
derecognised.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost
method and includes all costs of purchase, cost of conversion
and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to
their present location and condition. Net realisable value is
determined on the basis of anticipated sales proceeds less
estimated selling expenses. At the end of each reporting
period, inventories are assessed for impairment and the
carrying amount is reduced to its net realisable value with the
impairment loss recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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3

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(9)

Leases
The Group as a lessee

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding
lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in which
it is the lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as leases
with a lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low value
assets (such as small items of office equipment and furniture).
For these leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as
an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.

The lease liability is initially recognised at the present value of
the lease payments payable over the lease term, discounted
by using the rate implicit in the lease or if that rate cannot be
readily determined, using a relevant incremental borrowing
rate. After initial recognition, the lease liability is measured at
amortised cost and interest expense is calculated using the
effective interest method.

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of
the corresponding lease liability, initial direct costs incurred
and lease payments made at or before the commencement
days. Where applicable, the cost of the right-of-use assets
also includes an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove
the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the
site on which it is located, discounted to their present value,
less any lease incentives received. The right-of-use assets are
subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses. Right-of-use assets are generally
depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the
lease term on a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably
certain to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use assets is
depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.

For the leasehold land and buildings of the Group that are held
for rental or capital appreciation purpose would continue to be
accounted for under HKAS 40 Investment Property ("HKAS 40")
and carried at fair value. For leasehold land and buildings which
are held for own use would continue to be accounted for
under HKAS 16 and carried at revalued amounts at the date of
revaluation less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent impairment losses, if any. The adoption of HKFRS
16 therefore does not have any significant impact on these
right-of-use assets.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(h)

()

Contract assets and liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the Group recognises
revenue before being unconditionally entitled to the
consideration under the payment terms set out in the contract.
Contact asset is assessed for impairment in accordance with
HKFRS 9 and are reclassified to receivables when the right to
the consideration has become unconditional.

Customers' deposits are recognised as a contract liability
when the customer pays consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue. A contract liability would
also be recognised if the Group has an unconditional right to
receive consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue. In such cases, a corresponding receivable would also
be recognised.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established
by regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss ("FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition.

Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(i

Financial instruments (Continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and
of allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate,
a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

Interest income/expense is recognised on an effective interest
basis.

Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group's business model for managing
them.

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next
reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is
no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination that the asset is
no longer credit impaired.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(i

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end
of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses
recognised in profit or loss to the extent they are not part
of a designated hedging relationship. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest
earned on the financial asset. Fair value is determined in the
manner described in note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling
it in the near term;

on initial recognition, it is part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together
and has evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking; or

it is a derivative (except for a derivative that is a financial
guarantee contract or a designated and effective
hedging instrument).

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit
loss on financial assets which are subject to impairment under
HKFRS 9 (including trade and other receivables, loans and
interest receivables, and bank balances, restricted balance
and cash). The amount of expected credit loss is updated
at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition. Lifetime expected credit loss represents the
expected credit loss that will result from all possible default
events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In
contrast, 12-month expected credit loss represents the portion
of lifetime expected credit loss that is expected to result from
default events that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date. Assessment are done based on the Group's
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting
date as well as the forecast of future conditions.
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3  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3 EXEEHEEK @

(i) Financial instruments (Continued) (i) :FMTHG
Financial assets (Continued) EREE (@
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) THEERE (B)

The Group recognises lifetime expected credit loss for trade
receivables that result from revenue. The expected credit loss
on these assets are assessed collectively using a provision
matrix with appropriate groupings based on its historical
observed default rates which is adjusted for forward-looking
estimates. For other financial assets, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12-month expected credit loss, unless
when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime expected
credit loss. The assessment of whether lifetime expected credit
loss should be recognised is based on significant increases
in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.

() Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in
the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for
the debtor;
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3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 3 EXgHEBR G
(i) Financial instruments (Continued) (i) :FMTHGB
Financial assets (Continued) SHEE @
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) THEEBE (B)
() Significant increase in credit risk (Continued) () EERMEEILN @)
existing or forecast adverse changes in business, - FEHAEEREHBAE
financial or economic conditions that are expected BEFIE KB T
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s HIZERS ~ A RS S A AR

(i)

ability to meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates
that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including
the Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(i) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iif)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

(a

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower's
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider;

it is becoming probable that the borrower will
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;
or

the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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3  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(i)

88

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(iv)  Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, for example, when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off
may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group's recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses

The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of
the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude
of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information as described above. As for the exposure
at default, for financial assets, this is represented by the assets'
gross carrying amount at the reporting date; for financial
guarantee contracts, the exposure includes the amount drawn
down as at the reporting date, together with any additional
amounts expected to be drawn down in the future by default
date determined based on historical trend, the Group's
understanding of the specific future financing needs of the
debtors, and other relevant forward-looking information.

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated as the
difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to
the Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
original effective interest rate.

For a financial guarantee contract, as the Group is required
to make payments only in the event of a default by the
debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument that
is guaranteed, the expected loss allowance is the expected
payments to reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs
less any amounts that the Group expects to receive from the
holder, the debtor or any other party.

APEX ACE HOLDING LIMITED Yt EERIS IR A R AE

3 EX
(i)

(FRIEFBERA LIATIIR)

R (8

EMIA @

EWMEE (B

EHEERIE (&)

(v HEEEER
ENETHEFIERRE
Rt B R B e S B PR U B )
FERF (PIUNH F B E N
BEAWRERFR) K&
BRI ERMEE KL B
ZRERE (HEe®) HEBM
HEMEER SENAR
7 & B W B172 Fp 4 17 58
HATIE SN o WS AR B R e
SBEE - EHRU[CIER
mPiEER e

TRHFIE B RR2 51 B R iEaY
BHEEBERZGERENE
K ENBEERE BENKBERKX
1) BER KB LR 2 R B o BAT R
RERBEZ SFETHER it
BEBBLBIEEERFRE-
MmEMEENENRRIREE
RIS B RERENRRK ; 5L
MBEREREHOMS  BREER
HE AR EEREAE
RESBE AERHEH AN
TE AR E T RAVIE AR DU HL
TR R BE 1L B L E R TRSTR S
REAIEX B AR N8I E (T ER S
ERCE

MEMEEMS > BHEEEE
RIRBANENAEENES
HWIREMERAERE A UEY
FREREMNE BREBBRME
IR 2N ERLE -

MM BEERSHOME  BREFEER
TERGR ZEBEAREBA
BAFFHAR G ERE S
~HEBFAAFELEEEBIEN
BEstMBERTEEREABRFA
AN BB A HAth 75 AR BY
CEEFED



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR MIEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)  (BfIEB BERER> LUBITHR)

3  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 3 EATHEE @
(i) Financial instruments (Continued) (i) :FMTHG

Financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses
(Continued)

Where lifetime expected credit loss is measured on a collective
basis to cater for cases where evidence of significant increases
in credit risk at the individual instrument level may not yet
be available, the financial instruments are grouped on the
following basis:

Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group's trade
receivables are each assessed as a separate group);

Past-due status;

Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure
the constituents of each separate group continues to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit loss
in the previous reporting period, but determines at the current
reporting date that the conditions for lifetime expected credit
loss are no longer met, the Group measures the loss allowance
at an amount equal to 12-months expected credit loss at the
current reporting date.

For expected credit loss on financial guarantee contracts for
which the effective interest rate cannot be determined, the
Group will apply a discount rate that reflects the current market
assessment of the time value of money and the risks that are
specific to the cash flows but only if, and to the extent that,
the risk are taken into account by adjusting the cash shortfalls
being discounted.

For financial guarantee contracts, the loss allowances are
recognised at the higher of the amount of the loss allowance
determined in accordance with HKFRS 9 and the amount
initially recognised less, where appropriate, cumulative amount
of income recognised over the guarantee period.
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3  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(i)

90

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses
(Continued)

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount with the exception of trade and loans receivables
where the corresponding adjustment is recognised through a
loss allowance account.

Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a
group entity are classified according to the substance of the
contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the relevant group
entities are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct
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All the Group's financial liabilities (including trade payables,
other payables and accruals, and borrowings) are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate
method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial,
in which case they are stated at cost.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to
make a payment when due in accordance with the terms of a
debt instrument. Financial guarantee contracts are recognised
initially as a liability at fair value, adjusted for transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee.
Subsequently, it is measured at the higher of the amount
determined in accordance with expected credit loss model
under HKFRS 9 and the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised in
accordance with the principles of HKFRS 15.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(i)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Convertible bond

CB issued by the Group that contain the liability, equity and
derivative components (which are not closely related to
the host liability component) are classified separately into
respective items on initial recognition. Conversion option that
will be settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or
another financial asset for a fixed number of the Company’s
own equity instruments is classified as an equity instrument. At
the date of issue, both the liability and derivative components
are measured at fair value. The difference between the gross
proceed of the issue of the CB and the fair values assigned
to the liability and derivative components respectively,
representing the conversion option for the holder to convert
the CB into equity, is included in equity (i.e. convertible bond
reserve).

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the CB is
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
The derivative component is measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

The equity component, representing the option to convert the
liability component into ordinary shares of the Company, will
remain in convertible bond reserve until the embedded option
is exercised (in which case the balance stated in convertible
bond reserve will be transferred to share premium).

Where the option remains unexercised at the expiry date, the
balance stated in convertible bond reserve will be released to
retained earnings. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
upon conversion or expiration of the option.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(i)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Convertible bond (“CB’) (Continued)

Upon redemption of the CB, the redemption consideration will
be allocated to the liability component and equity component
using the same allocation basis as when the CB was originally
issued. Differences between the fair value and the carrying
amount of the liability component will be recognised in profit
or loss. The difference between the redemption consideration
and the equity component will be included in equity
(convertible bond reserve) and released to retained earnings.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the CB are allocated
to the liability and equity components in proportion to the
allocation of the gross proceed. Transaction costs relating
to the equity component are charged directly in equity.
Transaction costs relating to the liability component are
included in the carrying amount of the liability portion and
amortised over the period of the CB using the effective interest
method.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date when
derivative contracts are entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting
period. Changes in the fair value of these derivative financial
instruments are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Perpetual subordinated convertible securities

PSCS with no contractual obligation to repay their principal or
to pay any distribution are classified as part of equity.
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3  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(i)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive
cash flows from the assets expire or, the Group transfers the
financial assets and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the financial assets to another entity. If the Group
neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred
asset, the Group continues to recognise the asset to the extent
of its continuing involvement and recognises an associated
liability. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received and receivable and the
cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised directly in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is
recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of a financial asset other than in its entirety,
the Group allocates the previous carrying amount of the
financial asset between the part it continues to recognise, and
the part it no longer recognises on the basis of the relative fair
values of those parts on the date of the transfer. The difference
between the carrying amount allocated to the part that is no
longer recognised and the sum of the consideration received
for the part no longer recognised and any cumulative gain
or loss allocated to it that had been recognised in other
comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss. A
cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other
comprehensive income is allocated between the part that
continues to be recognised and the part that is no longer
recognised on the basis of the relative fair values of those parts.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expires. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(J)

(k)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents consist of cash in hand, deposits
held at call with banks and short-term bank deposits with
an original maturity period of three months or less. Bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management are also
included as a component of cash and cash equivalents.

Impairment of non-financial assets, other than
inventories

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its assets to determine whether there is
any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be
less than its carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised
to reduce the carrying amount of the asset to its recoverable
amount. Such impairment losses are recognised in profit or
loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount
under another standard, in which case the impairment loss is
treated as a revaluation decrease under that standard.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of
its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised as income in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset
is carried at a revalued amount under another standard, in
which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a
revaluation increase under that standards.

APEX ACE HOLDING LIMITED Yt EERIS IR A R AE

3 EX
(j)

(k)

(FRIEFBERA LIATIIR)

R (8
RERBEEEN
miRaRERERME  REK
ReEBYEETFTRES EH
FRRERR =8B 3L T 2 &1
ZRHRIRITER R BKRFEE
RBAAEEREEEZIRTE
SN RREERREFENZ N

7o
IFERMEE FEIRID) BE

REREMR > AEBRTHE
ERNREENEEEDATRE
TEEELREBE -REEZ
et A el ER RN HAREE
AR R ER TR LURD 2B E
PEREEEHAW[CEEE - AR
BB RN IR FEEE > FRIFAERE
BERES —RERKCEGHEER
SRR ICEZIBR T BB IRAR I
ZRREE N2 BRI

iR E R R E % EE > BB ER
REERIE E HEESTAIME S
BI Bl 28 > 1 BB IR AR EE
AEBENBEEEEEL ik
SR ERIEFTE E AR E 4R
BERBENELN B S EE S
WA BRIFERBE ERE S — 1%
EREEHFRIE RRER
T BRI EBIERIEZIRER
Tz EGEMme



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R e R R MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

3

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

U]

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
because it excludes items of income and expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years, and it further excludes
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities
in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

U]

Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of
the reporting period. The measurement of deferred tax assets
and liabilities reflects the tax consequences that would follow
from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its
assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax assets and liabilities
for investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the carrying amounts of such properties are
presumed to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the
presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when
the investment property is depreciable and is held within a
business model whose objective is to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
property over time, rather than through sale.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(m) Foreign currencies

(n)

(o)

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in
the respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates)
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. HKS) at the rate of exchange prevailing at the
end of the reporting period, and their income and expenses
are translated at the average exchange rates for the period,
unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period,
in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity under the heading of exchange reserve.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of
those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefits costs

Payments to Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme and state-
managed retirement benefit schemes, which are defined
contribution schemes, are charged as an expense when
employees have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(p)

(a)

Share-based payments

The Group operates a Restricted Share Award Scheme,
under which the Group receives services from employees as
consideration for equity instruments of the Company.

The fair value of the restricted share awards granted to
employees or directors is recognised as an expense with a
corresponding increase in credit to share-based payment
reserve. The fair value is measured with reference to the
Company's share price at grant date taking into account the
terms and conditions upon which the restricted share awards
are granted. Where the vesting conditions are met before
becoming unconditionally entitled to the restricted share
awards, the total estimated fair value of the restricted share
awards is spread over the vesting period, taking into account
the probability that the restricted share awards will be vested.

During the vesting period, the number of restricted share
awards which are expected to be vested is reviewed. Any
resulting adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognised in
prior years is charged/credited to the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year.

Upon vesting, the amount recognised as an expense is credited
to shares held for the Restricted Share Award Scheme and
debited to share-based payment reserve.

When the restricted share award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
were vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not
yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to the grants and the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised as income in profit or loss
on a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants
are intended to compensate.

Government grants that become receivable as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of
giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future
related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivable.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(r) Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the entity
that is preparing its financial statements (‘reporting entity”).

(@)

A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to a reporting entity if that person:

(ii)

(iif)

has control or joint control over the reporting
entity;

has significant influence over the reporting entity;
or

is a member of the key management personnel of
the reporting entity or of a parent of the reporting
entity.

An entity is related to a reporting entity if any of the
following conditions applies:

0]

(i)

(iif)

(iv)

the entity and the reporting entity are members
of the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others);

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member);

both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the reporting
entity or an entity related to the reporting entity.
If the reporting entity is itself such a plan, the
sponsoring employers are also related to the
reporting entity;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a); or

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR R R MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

4

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, management is required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The
estimates and underlying assumptions are based on past experience,
expectations of the future and other information that are considered
to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment
for non-financial assets at the end of each reporting period. Such
assets are tested for impairment annually, when there are indicators
that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. Impairment
exists when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating
unit exceeds its recoverable amounts, which is the higher of its fair
value less costs to sell and its value in use. The calculation of the
fair value less costs to sell is based on available data from binding
sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar assets or
observable market price less incremental costs for disposing of the
asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken, management
must estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset or
cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value of those cash flows.
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RAFS R MY EE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of trade and bills receivables

The Group makes impairment of trade and bills receivables based
on assessments of the expected credit loss which uses a lifetime
expected credit loss allowance for all trade and bills receivables.
The loss allowances for trade and bills receivable are based on
assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates. The Group
uses judgement and estimates in making these assumptions and
selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on the
Group's past collection history, ageing analysis of the receivables,
current creditworthiness of customers, existing market conditions
as well as forward looking estimates at the end of each reporting
period. Where the expectations are different from the original
estimates, such difference will have impact on the carrying amount
of trade and bills receivables and the impairment loss on trade and
bills receivables in the reporting period in which such estimates have
been changed. Management reassess the provision at each reporting
date.

At 31 December 2023, the carrying amounts of trade and
bills receivables are approximately HK$747,721,000 (2022:
HK$499,292,000). Allowance for impairment amounted of
HKS$71,564,000 is made on trade receivables at 31 December 2023
(2022: HK$63,449,000).

Allowance for slow-moving and obsolete inventories

Allowance for slow-moving and obsolete inventories is made based
on the ageing, estimated net realisable value and subsequent sales
of inventories. The assessment of the allowance amount involves
judgement and estimates. Where the actual outcome in future is
different from the original estimate, such difference will impact
the carrying value of inventories and the allowance charge/write-
back in the period in which such estimate has been changed.
At 31 December 2023, the carrying amounts of inventories are
approximately HK$227,665,000 (2022: HKS$174,970,000). For the Year
2023, write-down of inventories amounted HK$2,498,000 was made
(Year 2022: HK$6,990,000).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Fair value of leasehold land and buildings and investment
property

Fair value of leasehold land and buildings and investment property
are based on valuation performed by independent professional
valuers. The determination of the fair value involves assumption of
market conditions. The Directors have exercised their judgement
and are satisfied that the method of valuation is reflective of the
current market conditions. Favourable or unfavourable changes to
these assumptions would result in changes in the fair value of the
Group’s leasehold land and buildings, and investment property and
corresponding adjustments to the change in fair value recognised
in other comprehensive income, and profit or loss respectively. The
movements of fair value of the leasehold land and buildings and
investment property are set out in notes 13 and 14 respectively.

Valuation of CB and derivative asset

Fair values of liability and derivative components of the CB at the
end of the reporting period are based on valuation performed by
independent professional valuer. Hull model is used to determine
the fair value of CB, which involves several key assumptions and
estimates including volatility levels, credit spreads, spot price and
risk-free rate. Details of the assumptions used are disclosed in note
36. The Directors have exercised their judgement in selecting an
appropriate valuation technique to determine the fair values at
the end of the reporting period. The Directors believe that the
chosen valuation techniques and assumptions are appropriate in
determining the fair values of CB and derivative asset.

Current tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions.
Significant judgment is required in determining the provision for
income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for
which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. Where the final
tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that
were initially recorded, such differences will impact the current and
deferred income tax assets and liabilities in the period in which such
determination is made.

Deferred tax assets

As at 31 December 2023, deferred tax assets of approximately
HK$11,485,000 (2022: HK$11,593,000) in relation to provision for
impairment and tax losses are set out in note 27. The realisability
of the deferred tax assets mainly depends on whether sufficient
future profits or taxable temporary differences will be available in the
future. In cases where the actual future taxable profits generated are
less or more than expected, or change in facts and circumstances
which result in revision of future taxable profits estimation, a material
reversal or further recognition of deferred tax assets may arise, which
would recognised in profit or loss for the period in which such a
reversal or further recognition takes place.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

e TR aR MY EE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Revenue represents the amount received and receivable for goods
sold by the Group at invoiced value, net of returns and discounts.
The timing of revenue recognition of all revenue is at a point in time
in the Year 2023 and Year 2022. An analysis of the Group’s revenue
recognised during the year is as follows:

(FRIEH BB LIATIIT)

s Be 7 SR E

Wi A EREEE S E WK B
TRRVEREE WNFRE RN
TR CFERZEC_FEMAWR
m AW R SRR B B K — R RS o
RSB EER@m T -

Year ended 31 December

#E+"_A=1+—HLEE

2023 2022

—F= B F

$’000 $'000

F FT

Sales of goods HEBY 2,529,796 2,689,094
Segment information FEPER

The executive Directors, who are the CODM, review the Group's
internal reporting in order to assess performance and allocate
resources. The CODM has determined the operating segments
based on these reports. Segment information reported internally
was analysed on the basis of the type of products sold and activities
carried out by the Group's operating division. The Group is currently
operating in two operating segments as follows:

(@)  Digital Storage Products; and
(b)  General Components.

Management assesses the performance of the operating segments
based on a measure of gross profits. The accounting policies of
the operating segments are the same as those described in note 3
above.

As the segment assets and the liabilities are not regularly reported
to the Directors, the information of reportable segment assets and
liabilities is not presented.

HITEFRETBEERREEREE
BAEEH > LFHERR L D ECEIR
TEREBRRECREATREEE
E DB - B 2R D B E R IRIE
FEBEENFIEEMmKRIESE LR
Bt e ZEBFEEUTWELE D

=N

@ BBEFERHER; K&

b BATH-
EEEREANFEFLEEDHBR

R E DG STEERE _ECMEE3
FratiE —5 -

MR A EHERESRE S BEER
&8 WK 2T 2RO HEER AR
Bk o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR MIEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)  (BRIEB BERER> LUBITHR)

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5 INEK9EEF @)

Segment information (Continued) SEEE (B)
The following tables represent segment information of the Group TREJNRBHTFEBE 2 AEENE
provided to the management for the years: FEZDEER !

Year ended 31 December

#E+"_A=1+—HLFE

2023 2022
—E= B _F
$’000 $'000
FT T
Segment revenue BBk
Digital Storage Products IS ERES 1,753,883 2,019,970
General Components BATH 775,913 669,124
Total reportable segment revenue 0] 23D B AR ZE 2,529,796 2,689,094
Segment results DEBELE
Digital Storage Products IS FRE®D 96,956 44,499
General Components BATH 67,041 70,377
Total reportable segment profit A2 D EpEF4REE 163,997 114,876
Other income Hg A 3,661 5,255
(Decrease)/increase in fair value of BREYELATE B S
investment property iyl (3,000) 200
Fair value gain/(loss) in financial BAT EST ABRNER
instrument at fair value through TANATE
profit or loss W (B518) 451 (484)
Fair value gain/(loss) in derivative asset ~ $TAEEERAFE
W, (B518) 729 (3,178)
Finance costs BB A A (35,324) (19,968)
Depreciation of property, plant ME--BERKREITE
and equipment (5,418) (5,227)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE (3,363) (1,826)
Amortisation of intangible assets m B EH (4,716) (4,826)
(Impairment loss)/reversal of impairment E8 53 FEURBR =X CRI{EES1E)
on trade receivables T ERE(O] (8,191) 7,594
Reversal of impairment loss/ FE~NBEREREMERIE
(impairment loss) on interest, loan and ~ JE{E 518 #[0]
other receivables CRIER1R) 452 (3,865)
Unallocated corporate expenses KO ERST (114,480) (122,418)
Loss before tax PRI AIES IR (5,202) (33,867)
Income tax (expense)/credit Frisi (Fs2) 1% (4,958) 831
Loss for the year FAEEE (10,160) (33,036)
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Segment information (Continued)

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue generated
from external customers. There were no inter-segment sales for the
years. Segment profit represents the gross profit earned by each
segment.

Geographical information

The Group is domiciled in Hong Kong. The following table sets
out information about the geographical location of (i) the Group's
revenue from external customers and (i) the Group's non-current
assets. The geographical location of customers is based on the
location of the customers. The geographical location of the non-
current assets other than deposits paid for acquisition of property,
plant and equipment, financial instrument at fair value through profit
or loss, and deferred tax assets is based on the physical location of
the assets in case of property, plant and equipment, investment
property and right-of-use assets, and the location of operations to
which they are allocated in case of intangible assets.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR MIEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(FRIEH BB LIATIIT)

Wi Be Sy BRE L (48)

SEER (B
EXERZDEBWDIEINBERESE
ZWam -MNEEE > E D EHE -
DEREAIER D EPRIFER o

M E

REBEMNER - FREHANFEEH
REIEPE P W ; Ri)SEBIER
HEEMBUERRMNER - F R
BABEENRERIEM IERBEE
(B2 B BB EE
BATESFABaNER T ARIEIE
MIBEEFRIN BYMIBAIE SHYE B
B REVEREAREENES
BB MU ET B EFT D ECRVASZ P
FENE -

Year ended 31 December

B#E+"_A=1+—HLFE

2023 2022
g = ETF
$’000 $'000
FiT T
Revenue from external customers RBIMPE B UYiES
Hong Kong 5% 666,594 390,802
The PRC =8 1,833,342 2,200,140
Others Hih 29,860 98,152
2,529,796 2,689,094
As at 31 December
®w+=—BA=+—H
2023 2022
—E-= TEIF
$'000 $'000
FiT T
Non-current assets ;Fiﬁgjgg
Hong Kong BHE 125,745 132,970
The PRC =8 24,530 30,609
Others Hith = 75
150,275 163,654
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)  (BRIEB BERER> LUBITHR)

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5 UziR5EEF (@)
Segment information (Continued) SEEE (B)
Information about major customers FTEEREH
The Group's revenue from customers which accounted for 10% or REGEAEBEBRINGI0%U ENE S
more of the Group's total revenue are as follows: BT
Year ended 31 December
8#E=E+-A=1+—HLEE
2023 2022
—EZ= —EICF
Segment $'000 $'000
7 EB FT T
Customer A Digital Storage Products 350,520 643,303
EEA IS FHE S
Customer B Digital Storage Products 280,369 N/A*
=B B BUS 51 E N
d The corresponding revenue did not account for over 10% of the total * BRREREAERZFEEELE NG
revenue of the Group for that year. 10%4 £ o
6 OTHERINCOME 6 HftgA

Year ended 31 December

#E+"_HA=1+—HLFE

2023 2022

—E-= B F

$'000 $'000

FiT Tt

Bank interest income IRTH BURA 886 184
Rental income HEUWA 1,380 1,352
Government subsidies BT 48 Al 221 344
Commission income eI A = 574
Sundry income IR A 1,174 2,801
3,661 5,255
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R e R R MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)  (BfIEB BERER> LUBITHR)

7  FINANCE COSTS

AL s

Year ended 31 December

#E+_"_HA=1+—HLFE

2023 2022
$'000 5000
FT T
Discounting charges on factoring loans  fRIZEH 2 BRIRT H 6,758 4,571
Interest on CB IS Z5F) B 1,023 883
Interests on other bank borrowings HiR1TEEF S 26,793 14,339
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEaEMNEXZH 436 175

Interest expense on loan from REZERERRENERZ
controlling shareholder MEZH 314 -
35,324 19,968

8 LOSS BEFORE TAX PRIRAIESHE

Loss before tax has been arrived at after charging and crediting:

PRI AT AN PR R st AL & IR ¢

Year ended 31 December

#E+"_A=1+—HLFE

2023 2022
—g-= =S -
$'000 $'000
FT T
Cost of inventories recognised as AT 2HFEERA
an expenses 2,363,301 2,567,228
Write-down of inventories FEMR 2,498 6,990
Auditor’s remuneration ZEENEN & 1,716 1,552
Depreciation of property, plant ME--BERKREITE
and equipment 5,418 5227
Depreciation — right-of-use assets ME-—TREEE 3,363 1,826
Amortisation of intangible assets (note i) EFE E#H (F:E) 4,716 4,826
Net foreign exchange loss FE R g 18358 4,239 5,822
Short term leases expenses in respect of TR IEF 2 FRHEHA &SR
land and buildings 881 1,469
Commission expenses == 13,857 24,722
Research and development expenses R ZC R BE 2R = (P 5Eii)
(note ii) 2,882 3,105
Staff costs including directors' BTIMA (BFESNE)
emoluments
— Basic salaries and allowance — B R KER 40,196 44,359
- Share-based payments — U ZIE 568 1311
— Contributions to defined contribution ~— R EHFRAKEHEIHF
retirement plans 4,277 4655
- Messing and welfare —RBERET 1,153 451
Loss on disposal of property, plantand  HEY¥  BE KRR EEE
equipment 14 20

Notei:  Amortisation of intangible assets was included in administrative
expenses.

Note ii:  Staff costs of HK$2,605,000 (Year 2022: HKS$2,243,000) were
included in research and development expenses for the Year 2023.

MisE: EICEEBEE ATHR

Miztii: BT RZAN2,6050005 7T (&=

FRE : 2,043,000 5T) St A_S
T FEMEREEREST
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e SRR MIEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)  (BRIEB BERER> LUBITHR)

9 REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE HIGHEST 9 EEHMRAMBRSIHEMMAL

PAID INDIVIDUALS
(a) Directors' remuneration (@) EEFTEM
The emoluments paid or payable to the Directors for the year FERENHENEZNMNE
were as follows: mr
Year ended 31 December 2023 gE_Z-_=F+=-H=+—H
IEEFE
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
andbenefits  Discretionary scheme
Fees in kind bonus  contributions Total
Ay 4

Name 4 fig  REWIE METED  BRGIER L)

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

n n n r n
Erecutive dectors: HTEE.
M Lee Bing Kwong )i 910 720 - - 1,630
r. Lo Yuen Kin EnBit 416 300 - R 748
Ms.LoYuen Lai EnELT 416 420 - - 836
Indlependent non-executive directors: BUFHTEE.
Mr. Cheung Siu Kui FaE 180 - - - 180
M Yim Kok Man BEEE 180 - - - 180
Dr. Chow Terence PEREL 180 - - - 180

2,282 1,440 - 32 3,754
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS (CONTINUED)

(a)

(FRIEH BB LIATIIT)

9 EFHMRAEMRSHMAL @

Directors’ remuneration (Continued) (@) EEF &
Year ended 31 December 2022 BHE_E-—_F+-8B=+—H
IEFEE
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
and benefits Discretionary scheme
Fees inkind bonus contributions Total
Fe
Name 4 e  REWHR MBI RIAGEER i3t
5000 5000 5000 5000 5000
r r r r i
Brecutive drectors: HIEE.
Mr Lee Bing Kwong XY v 910 0 - s 1630
Mr Lo Yuen Kin EnB%s 46 480 s 3% %)
Ms.LoYuen Lai EnELT 46 00 s s 1016
Independent non-executive drectors: BUFHTEE .
Mr. Cheung Siu Kui RNEEE 190 - , i} 180
M Yirm Kwok Man BEDULE 180 = s s 180
Dr. Chow Terence JERBE 180 5 = = 180
208 1,800 - % 4118

Fees paid to executive Directors were mainly for services
as Directors. Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind, and
discretionary bonus paid to executive Directors shown
above were mainly for their services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Group.

The independent non-executive Directors’emoluments shown
above were mainly for their services as Directors.

XN FRATESHNERETETMF
RMBEZRB A e EXFIRE
WITESZAHE R RE
) m AR B BTEAL E B R E
BEEAEBEHERBMIREM
fe

FHBIIIFRTEEMEEERM
HIERERZIRFBMms (o
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RATS R AR M 5E

9 REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE HIGHEST 9
PAID INDIVIDUALS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Five highest paid individuals’ remuneration

The five highest paid individuals of the Group included two
(Year 2022: three) directors of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2023, details of whose emoluments are included
in the disclosures in note 9(a) above. The emoluments of the
remaining three (Year 2022: two) highest paid individuals
during the years are as follows:

(FRIEFBERA LIATIIR)

EFFMRAURSHMAL B

(b)

TR A T
BE_Z_=—F+"_H=+—H
tEE  mERRRRSHMA
TEEEARTMH (_‘2::
E: =% &% HHFssFBER L

XHIEE ()i EE e MR FAER F =
ol e — - R RS
A TRIEBM 40T -

Year ended 31 December

#E+"_A=1+—HLFE

2023 2022
—EZ= TECTTF
$'000 $'000
FiT T
Salaries and other emoluments HEAEMBE 3,562 2,534
Discretionary bonus PIBTEAL 128 3,455
Retirement scheme contributions RIRETEIMER 68 52
Share-based payments MU 2 HRIE 294 590
4,052 6,631
The emolument of the remaining three (Year 2022: two) is BRTZ%2(CE__FE W)
within the following bands: iH% P T EE
2023 2022
Number Number
AE A#
Below HK$1,000,000 1,000,000/ T LT 1 -
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,00178 75 & 2,000,000 7T 2 1
HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 4,500,001 78 75 & 5,000,000/ 7T - 1
No remuneration was paid by the Group to any of the REFERN XEELERARAF

directors of the Company or the five highest paid individuals
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or
as compensation for loss of office during the years. In
addition, the directors of the Company have not waived any
emoluments during the years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)  (BfIEB BERER> LUBITHR)
10 INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) 10 PRSI~ (E%)

Year ended 31 December

#E+"_A=1+—HLEE

2023 2022
—¥-= —EITF
$’000 $'000
Ft Tt
Current tax: BPEAFRIA -
Hong Kong Profits Tax FANER 5,392 879
PRC tax REITRIA 7 94
Over-provision in prior years BEFEBREERE
— Hong Kong profits tax — BB SR (6) (157)
Under-provision in prior years BEFEEHEETE
— PRC tax —FERIA - 23
5,457 839
Deferred tax (note 27) IRIEFRIE (BI5E27) (499) (1,670)
Total income tax expense/(credit) FARIERESE 2 PA1EHR
recognised in profit or loss for the year Bz /" (G %) 4858 4,958 (831)

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 8.25% on the first HKS2 million
of the estimated assessable profits of the qualifying group entity and
at 16.5% on the estimated assessable profits above HKS2 million. The
profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax
rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law")
and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the
PRC subsidiaries is 25%.

For qualified small and thin-profit enterprises in the PRC, the effective
Enterprise Income tax rate (“EIT rate”) for the Year 2023 is 5% on the
annual taxable income up to RMB3 million (inclusive). For the Year
2022, the effective EIT rate was 2.5% on the annual taxable income
up to RMB1 million (inclusive), and any portion exceeding RMBI
million but not exceeding RMB3 million (inclusive) was subject to
an effective EIT rate of 5%. Certain PRC subsidiaries of the Company
enjoy this preferential income tax treatment for the years.

CERERBREE2EE B T2 bEt
FESR IR E A 3428 25% 5t E B A FEH
M2BE BB TU EZEEtERRERN
AIZ165%: T EEBFIER A FTEF
BRmAHzEEERB RN BiEE
1216.5%H9 Bl — 3 435 o

BHETEMERE (TEEMRER
E1) RBEFRBRIABIRIER > HE
M8 A BRI ZE A25% °

AR PE/NR % FIE
MMPTSETBBARKIEET (B
BN 2 =—FENERLEM
BRI (TEEMRBIRIRE) 5%
“ECCFE FERMMMSETES
BAREIBEET (G418 1 BRE
EMEMMER25%; BBEBARKE B
BETETBBEARBIEET (B4R
HE D BEREXEMSRIRER%
RABRE T REIM B QBN ERE
EZHILBFRERMERTE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR MIEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)  (BRIEB BERER> LUBITHR)

10 INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT)(CONTINUED) 10 FriSHBSE ~ (BESR) (B

The income tax expense/(credit) for the year can be reconciled to the E WZFrEMEx  (K%) BiRE1E
loss before tax per the consolidated statements of profit or loss and m R H A2 W RPTE R AT AT 18
other comprehensive income as follows: HERWT -

Year ended 31 December

#E+"_A=1+—HLEE

2023 2022
$’000 $'000
FT T
Loss before tax R MR ARS8 (5,202) (33,867)
Tax at the applicable income tax rate of  #216.5% 2 B FFF 1SN =
16.5% (Year 2022: 16.5%) FENRE(CEITEE
16.5%) (858) (5,588)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for RAIHNFRFI®L 2 TS &
tax purpose 4,453 5973
Tax effect of income not taxable for BEFRBAZRBEE
tax purpose (1,847) (916)
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses E)s ?EHU ﬁilﬁu FRIERIEZ
previously not recognised M - (192)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised ~ FRIEBIRIER B ME L E 2,168 777
Tax effect of different tax rates REMBEEZREEE
of subsidiaries operating in M‘J)%’&ﬂfﬁ%XlﬁZ
other jurisdictions MEEE 530 776
Tax effect of concessionary tax rate BERENRBEE 518 (1,907)
Over-provision in prior years, net BT EEBREEEFEE (6) (134)
Others Hith - 380
Income tax expense/(credit) for the year ERFTERFES " (KR) 4,958 (831)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R e R R MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

11 LOSS PER SHARE 1
Basic loss per share

The calculation of the basic loss per share attributable to the owners
of the Company for the Year 2023 is based on the following data:

(FRIEH BB LIATIIT)

SR8

SREAEE
—EC=EEARTEE AEGESR
EABADER I T U HE

2023 2022
: = :E = ::fﬁ
$'000 $'000
FT T
Loss for the year attributable to owners AT A AELER
of the Company 518 (16,160) (32,386)
Interest on PSCS KA R AR BT B 55 35 F) S (50) (50)
Loss used in the calculation of basic loss st E&EREKREIBFTREEE
per share (16,210) (32,436)
2023 2022
—F=-= e
Number of ordinary shares EiER%A
Weighted average number of ordinary ~ FLstHEREAREE
shares in issue for the purpose of basic = ME&TE @K
loss per share N9 8L 1,059,232,823 1,036,498,027

For the Year 2023 and Year 2022 the weighted average number of
ordinary shares for the purpose of calculation of basic loss per share
has been adjusted for the effect of shares held by the custodian of
Restricted Share Award Scheme (the “Custodian”) pursuant to the
restricted share award scheme.

RIBEZ=FERZT_"FE 5
SAESREREGEMSNEERINE
THMERRGIMERD RS EIFEE A

(TFEE AL RIFRBIMERR () 52 R) 51 8
PR BRIRMD IR EIFHEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR R R MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)  (BRIEB BERER> LUBITHR)

11 LOSS PER SHARE (CONTINUED) 1 SkisE @
Diluted loss per share S EEE
The loss used in the calculation of diluted earnings per share are as STESREERATABEHYW
follows: S e
2023 2022
$'000 $'000
Fit T
Loss used in the calculation of basicand st EEREA K #5518
diluted loss per share FTEB 538 (16,210) (32,436)
For the Year 2023 and Year 2022, as the Group incurred losses, the HRAEBR _E_ZFEKR_
potential ordinary shares under restricted share awards scheme, PSCS —THEEELEBE J%Hﬂ%ﬁ/éﬁﬁ
and CB are not included in the calculation of diluted loss per share as BR > BB K8 TE R 9R SR (7D
their inclusion would be anti-dilutive. REFE THEEEER  KAXRR
ARG E S R AR ES I A BIETE
B o
12 DIVIDENDS 12 B2
The Board of Directors did not recommend any dividend for the Year EEEFEEMN S I=FEIREF
2023 (Year 2022: nil). RS CEZ_FE  #) -
During the Year 2023, the subsidiaries of the Company did not make NRIZEZ=FE > AABNBARIL
distributions to their non-controlling shareholders. For the Year 2022, FAHEFZERBREREHD K- KT
a subsidiary of the Company made the following distributions: ZIFE AREINBARERUT
DK
2022
TETTF
$'000
7T
Dividends declared and paid to non-controlling Data Star Inc. B FFIZE IR A R
shareholder by Data Star Inc. IR BORKTRIIEE 3,276
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR MIEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)  (BfIEB BERER> LUBITHR)

13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND LEASES 13 ¥ -BERSREURIEE
(a) Property, plant and equipment @ ¥ -BERSEE
Leasehold Computer
land and Leasehold  Furniture and and office Motor
buildings  improvement fixtures equipment vehicle Total
HELH Bk
RigF HERE HFEREE MRS RE @t
§000 §000 §000 §000 §000 §000
T T T T T T
Cost or valuation BAFEE
At 1 January 2022 W_E__%—F—H 59,127 2104 1019 5493 2701 70,444
Additions AE 31305 1590 25 387 = 33307
Disposal HE - = = (46) = (46)
Exchange realignment ERHE (656) 48) - (35) 68) (807)
At 31 December 2022 S
+-B=+-H 89,776 3646 1,044 5799 2633 102,898
Comprising; ffE
Cost I = 3646 1,044 5799 2633 13122
Valuation e 89,776 = = = S 89,776
At 31 December 2022 S
+-B=+-H 89,776 3646 1,044 5799 2633 102,898
At 1 January 2023 RZE_=%-F—H 89,776 3,646 1,044 5,799 2,633 102,898
Additions AE - 364 99 407 - 870
Disposal HE o o o (82) o (82)
Exchange realignment ERREE (217) (46) U] (14) (23) (301)
As at 31 December 2023 RIEZ=%F
+-B=+—-H 89,559 3,964 1,142 6,110 2,610 103,385
Comprising: g !
Cost B - 3,964 1,142 6,110 2,610 13,826
Valuation i 89,559 - - S S 89,559
As at 31 December 2023 RIEZ=%
+-B=+—-H 89,559 3,964 1,142 6,110 2,610 103,385
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR MIEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)  (BRIEB BERER> LUBITHR)

13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND LEASES 13 YE--BERSREURAE @)
(CONTINUED)
(a) Property, plant and equipment (Continued) (@ % -BERSEE G
Leasehold Computer
land and Leasehold  Furniture and and office Motor
buildings  improvement fixtures equipment vehicle Total
HELH Bk
RigF fg%E HFEARKE MARME pat: st
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T T T T T T
Accumulated depreciation ZEE
At 1 January 2022 W-B2-—#-F—H S 1,661 992 2808 1497 6,958
Charge for the year FRZE 3424 459 18 881 445 5227
Disposal HE S S S (26) = (26)
Exchange realignment EREE (14) 9) = (15) (30) (68)
As at 31 December 2022 RIZZIZHE
+-B=+-8 3410 21 1010 3648 1912 12091
At 1 January 2023 R_E-=#£-F—AH 3,410 2111 1,010 3,648 1,912 12,091
Charge for the year FRZH 3,582 672 19 812 333 5418
Disposal HE - - - (49) - (49)
Bxchange realignment EREE (16) (12) - (7) (13) (48)
As at 31 December 2023 RIE-=fF
+-B=+-8 6,976 2,171 1,029 4,404 2232 17,412
Carrying amount REE
As at 31 December 2023 A ——:
+ZB=+-H 82,583 1,193 113 1,706 378 85,973
As at 31 December 2022 RIZ2ZZH+ZA
=1+—H 86,366 1,535 4 2151 71 90,807
During the Year 2023, the Group has no significant additions N_EC=FE AEBRTEMS
of property, plant and equipment. During the Year 2022, AIEREBEIMNIE BB REE-
additions of property, plant and equipment of the Group RN TEFE REBYE K
mainly comprise the addition of a property amounting BREEENEZESIEYZEEM
to approximately HK$31,305,000, of which HK$30,000,000 #931,305,0007 7T (& 130,000,007
represented the consideration paid (“Consideration”) to TTABERKRE HITES  EFE
Nicegoal Limited, a company controlled by Mr. Lee Bing Kwong FATEAE R FERICFTEFAERIR
(a controlling shareholder, an executive Director, the Chairman BAEBBERATDZAIAE (ML
and the CEO), and HK$1,305,000 represented the direct 1B1) F%1,30500058 T AU BE R IEE
costs arising from the acquisition, and additions of leasehold FHEEMRA) » UREEEEE
improvements of approximately HK$1,590,000. JN#91,590,00078 7T ©
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—.H
=

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

RAFS R MY EE

13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND LEASES
(CONTINUED)

(a)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
The leasehold land and buildings of HK$76,025,000 have been

mortgaged to secure general banking facilities granted to the
Group at 31 December 2023 (2022: HK$79,156,000).

The carrying amount of leasehold land and buildings at the
end of the year are analysed by the term of the leases are as
follows:

(FRIEH BB LIATIIT)

13 ¥YE -BERSREURIEE @&

(a)

ME - -BERRH @)
R_E_=F+"_RB=+—81"
£ EE476,0250008 c 2 FHE i
FIEF BRI UERR FARE
B —RiRTRE (CE "%
79,156,00057T) ©

FRZEELMRIEF ZREE
BAEEBDIT

2023 2022
$’000 $'000
T Tt
In Hong Kong HE#
- Medium term leases —HHiRE 76,025 79,156
In the PRC RhE
- Medium term leases —HHiRE 4,437 4878
— Long term leases —RHAEE 2,121 2,332
82,583 86,366

As at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, the Directors
conducted a review of the Group’s leasehold land and
buildings carried at revaluated amounts and estimated that
the carrying amounts of these assets did not differ significantly
from which would be determined using revaluation.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, if the leasehold land and
buildings had not been revalued, they would be included in
the consolidated financial statements at historical cost, less
accumulated depreciation, of approximately HK$66,160,000
and HK$69,189,000.

RS2 =F+"A=+—HkK
BT F+ZRA=+—H'E
%ﬂ$$@&$ﬁ%ﬁ%%%ﬁ
BT REFETES ) WAEET
ZEBENRAMERRBERA
FEENSRImEAER

N_BE_=_FKR_EZF+T
B=+—H fixHSHEEL K
BFETEM AIREL AR
REHITE 7 BIA966,160,00078 75 K&
69,189,00078 JT 5T A 4R & B 75 3R
%0
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iR R R MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND LEASES
(CONTINUED)

(b) Leases

The Group has lease arrangements for properties leased for
office, car parking space and warehouse use. The lease terms
are generally ranged from 1 to 5 years. The followings are right-

of-use assets recognised according to HKFRS 16

Right-of use assets

(FRIEFBERA LIATIIR)

13 ¥YE -BERSREURIEE @&

(b)

HE
FEEEBHEEMEERAE
FEAREEARNEELZHE-
HE—RNF—ELF - RIES
%E\j’ﬁ%ﬁ’—‘t/ﬁaumv 6’5?6@1:021%
RESENT !

EREEE

Properties Leased for Own use

FEERANEEYE

2023 2022
2= —EITHF
$'000 $'000
Tt Tt
At 1 January w—A—H 9,367 1216
Additions //J\\E 3,129 10,327
Depreciation e (3,363) (1,826)
Disposal HE (23) =
Exchange realignment bE R EE (261) (350)
8,849 9,367

The analysis of expense items in relation to leases recognised in RiemER 2 AMEENERE

profit or loss is as follows: BT
2023 2022
—gZ= —EICHF
$'000 $'000
FT Tt
Depreciation charge of right-of-use 218 E & D FEHI 5 B 1
assets by class of underlying asset:  BEZITEER !
Ownership interests in leasehold REEERNEE LM
land and building for own use KRIEFHNHEB R 3,582 3,424
Properties leased for own use FEEBRANEEY 3,363 1,826
Interest on lease liabilities HMEaEFE 436 175
Expenses relating to short term leases 75 BEAE HAFH & & 3 881 1,469

For the Year 2023, there were additions to right-of-use assets
of HKS$3,129,000 (Year 2022: HK$10,327,000) related to the
capitalised lease payments payable under new tenancy
agreements.

The total cash outflow for leases for the Year 2023 amounted to
HK$3,740,000 (Year 2022: HKS1,752,000).
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R_E_=FE > 1@HEEH=
BEBRNEEERLCEMEERE
ZEAEEERE 53,129, 0007%
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TT) ©
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—.H
=

13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND LEASES
(CONTINUED)

(b) Leases (Continued)

14

Lease liabilities

RAFS R MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(b)

The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities
of the Group’s lease liabilities at the end of the year:

(FRIEH BB LIATIIT)

HE @
HEAE

13 ¥YE -BERSREURIEE @&

TREYAEFERERNEES
BERIERSHIRRMR

31 December 2023 31 December 2022
—E=f+=ZHB=+—H I+ ZA=+—H
Present Present
value of the Total value of the Total
minimum minimum minimum minimum
lease payables lease payment lease payables lease payments
RIEHEE RIEHEE RIEHEE REHEE
TRRERE IRE¢EE RHIRE R ABEE
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T Fr T T
Within 1 year —FRN 3,702 4,072 2,885 3,276
After 1 year but within 2years ~ —F&ERMEA 3,528 3,715 2661 2938
After 2 years but within 5 years ~ MIERERAER 1,920 1,980 4,070 4,256
9,150 9,767 9616 10470
INVESTMENT PROPERTY 14 K¥EYE
2023 2022
—gZ= TETTF
$’000 $'000
Ft T
At fair value BAFE
At 1 January nw—A—H 51,200 51,000
(Decrease)/increase in fair value /A\XFTE GRZL) /120 (3,000) 200
At 31 December n+—A=+—H 48,200 51,200

The Group's investment property is a commercial property situated
in Hong Kong, held on medium term leases and leased out to
third party. The investment property was revalued by Ravia Global
Appraisal Advisory Limited as at 31 December 2023 and 2022
on an open market value basis. It is an independent professional
valuer, who have among its staff holding recognised and relevant
professional qualification with recent experience in the location and
category of property being valued.

FEENREMESUNEBIEE
ME  FRREERATHETE=
B o BB ETHIH SRR GEH
ERATNR-Z_=ZFKR-ZT""

TR =+—BRARTEREEES
Bfife-ZARABUEXRMGLEN BA
ZRETIHFARAREBEERERT
KA EYEMBE KB TEAERER

HR#EER
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wN [

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

14

iR R R MR

INVESTMENT PROPERTY (CONTINUED)

The valuation at 31 December 2023 and 2022 was arrived by
adopting the direct comparison method where comparison based
on price information of comparable properties is made. Comparable
properties of similar size, character and location are analysed
and carefully weighed against all the respective advantages and
disadvantages of each property in order to arrive at a fair comparison
of capital values.

The investment property has been mortgaged to secure general
banking facilities granted to the Group at 31 December 2023 and
2022.

Details of the Group’s investment property and information about the

(FRIEFBERA LIATIIR)

14 REYE G

N _E=_FEREFE"F+H
=+ —HGERMEZELE®R A B
RIFA B LR ENERERETLE
B o A/ R BEEEN R B L&
VI DT WAF AR Y ERFT
BRI EMAFLEREARE

KREMEBIRI LERNR _S"=F
R-E-—&+-A=+—HETA
EEN—RMIRITRIE o

FARERREMENFBREBA

fair value measurements for the year are as follows: TEFTENERSHIINT
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—ik -t F=H st
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Tt Tt Tt Tt
Recurring fair value measurements BEEATEHAE
Commercial property located in Hong Kong A &EEHI B EY %
31 December 2023 “E_=fF+”"R=+—-H - 48,200 48,200
31 December 2022 —ZE__HF+-B=+—H - 51,200 51,200

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 or transfers into
or out of Level 3 during the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022.

The fair value of investment property is determined using direct
comparison method by reference to sales price of comparable
properties which is publicly available. Relevant comparable
properties are analysed and considered with adjustments including
location, time, size, building age, usage and others as appropriate.
The most significant input into this valuation approach is price per
square foot.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR MIEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)  (BfIEB BERER> LUBITHR)

14 INVESTMENT PROPERTY (CONTINUED) 14 EME @
The fair value measurement for investment property as at 31 R ZEC=FRZEZZHF+ZAH
December 2023 and 2022 was categorised as Level 3 of the fair value =+—H BEMENAFESENSE
hierarchy. Key unobservable inputs used in valuing the investment %QSFTE%&M_Z& RIBZ=FK
property as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 were as follows: B CHEFZA=+—H HEREY
FETHECEANEIERTEEHA
BT

Inter-relationship between key
unobservable inputs and

Valuation technique Key unobservable inputs As at 31 December fair value measurement
PN TEFTRRBANRE
{EER# FEFTHRGAYE T ATEHEZEOHEERR
2023 2022
Direct comparison Adjusted market unit rate per HK$14,734 to HKS16420t0  Increase in market unit rate,
square feet in gross floor area HK$17,360 HK$17,605 increase in fair value of the
investment property
ERLERE KRESTYHREZER 14,7348 TE 1642085 E MHBBEUBEEN REVE
HISEEE 17,3604 7T 17605870 YA FERE N
The movements during the years ended 31 December 2023 and RBE_T_ =R "_F+Z
2022 in the balance of the Level 3 fair value measurements are as B=1+—HULIFE F=RLFEFTE
follows: SRR BET -
$'000
T
1 January 2022 A E-"F—H—H 51,000
Change from fair value adjustment included in profitor ~ 5t ABE 2 AT ERE 2 &F—
loss — Change in fair value of investment property KEMENTEE 200
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 ‘é: = ::£E+ “BA=+—HEFK
B =fF—HF—H 51,200
Change from fair value adjustment included in profitor st ABHZ AT ERAE 2 SFH—
loss — Change in fair value of investment property KREMELNTFEES (3,000)
At 31 December 2023 A —E_=F+_A=+—H 48,200
The loss/gains recognised in profit or loss for the years arise from the FRARIEEERZER WaEER
investment property held at the end of the year. FRTFENREYZE-
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iR R R MR

N

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

15

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

(FRIEFBERA LIATIIR)

15 BAFEABRGNERMTIA

2023 2022
—¥== ZEICHF
$'000 $'000
FT T
Deposit placed for life insurance policy, ~AFRE&E
included in non-current assets Gt AJERENE E) 13,125 12,674

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the balance represented the
deposit placed for life insurance policy. Such policy was subscribed
by the Group with an insurance company in Year 2022 for a member
of the senior management of the Company who is a son of Mr. Lee
Bing Kwong (the Chairman, executive Director and the CEO) and Ms.
Lo Yuen Lai (executive Director). Under the policy, the beneficiary
and policy holder is the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary and the
total insured sum is US$8,000,000 (approximately HK$62,400,000).
The Group was required to pay an upfront deposit of approximately
USS$1,694,000 (approximately HK$13,211,000), including a premium
charge at inception of the policy amounting to approximately
US$7,000 (approximately HK$53,000). The Group can terminate the
policy at any time and receive cash value of the policy at the date
of withdrawal, which is determined by the upfront payment plus
accumulated interest earned and minus the accumulated insurance
charge and policy expense charge (“Cash Value”). In addition, if
withdrawal is made between the 1st to 18th policy year, there is a
specified amount of surrender charge. The insurance company will
pay the Group an interest of 5.25% per annum on the outstanding
Cash Value of the policy for the first year. Commencing on the 2nd
year, the interest will be a variable return with minimum guaranteed
interest rate of 2% per annum by the insurance company on an
annual basis.

During the Year 2023, a fair value gain of approximately HK$451,000
(Year 2022: fair value loss of HK$484,000) was recognised in profit or
loss.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the entire deposit placed for a
life insurance policy had been pledged as security for certain bank
borrowings.
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N CE T =ZFERE__F+_"H
=+ —H ERIEASRRRER
ToZREAXNEENR_E__FE
ARAT—LESHREEBNRENE
(BEFE - HTESTRTHREREZR
HEERETBELLINREF) B—M
RENBBE  REZBEARFEA
HAEXRTD—BE2EMRBAT &R
R85 38,000,000 7T (£962,400,00078
7o) o ANEEE BT 491,694,000 7T (9
13,211,000 7T) NFE[I S BIEKIF
BF B9 R B 497,000 7T (4953,000870) ©
NEBE O FERFALIERE > WHNMR B AR
BRERAWIRENIRSEE  £58HE
ERAMRESNR1HERURER
BB RRERY (IREEE)) otk
Eﬁ%#“iwm# SRR 1R
BN B WENE TRIRE - REAE
BREERREYNBRIRSBERLRE
B EB5.25% 55 —FEE - F B
R EE REABRERELR
ABEE%

N_E_=FE > #451,0008 A
FEWE (CTEZZFE 4840008 7T
AT EEIE) R8sl o

NCE T =ZFER_E-_F+_"H
=t+—H 2 ASRERSBEEM
FIRITEAIRITERER
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R e R R MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(FRIEH BB LIATIIT)

16 DERIVATIVE ASSET 16 {TEEE
2023 2022
—F= BT F
$'000 $'000
Fi Tt
CB: IR (RS ©
Early redemption option $E g BB o] 1 1,730 1,001
As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, derivative asset represents the fair N CE T =ZFER_E_"F+_"H

value of early redemption option embedded in the CB issued by the
Company.

=+—H TTEEERARTETH
AR ESFPRANRABOENA

FEEo
The below table reconciled the amount of the derivative asset; TRATEEESIEHER
2023 2022
$’000 $'000
FiT T
At fair value BT E
At 1 January nw—A—H 1,001 -
Issue of CB BT ES - 4,179
Change from fair value adjustment SFAERmZ AT ERES
included in profit or loss — change in S TEBEEL T EEF
fair value of derivative asset 729 (3,178)
At 31 December R+—-_B=+—H 1,730 1,001

Further details of CB are set out in note 26.

BRI RS E — D sF BRI MY
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(FRIEFBERA LIATIIR)

17 INTANGIBLE ASSET 17 EREE
Distributorship
rights
$'000
T
Cost 5%
At 1 January 2022 R_E__F—H—H 25,894
Exchange realignment PE DR EE (2,038)
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 N ZEF+ZRA=+—H
—_E2_=F—-A—H 23,856
Exchange realignment ~ HEm#E 0 679
At 31 December 2023 A E_=—F+"B=+—H 23,181
Accumulated amortisation and impairment loss Bt R ERE
At 1 January 2022 A —E_"H#—F—H 7,485
Amortisation oy 4,826
Exchange realignment FE R aAEE (735)
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 R_E__F+_H=+—H
E_EBE_=F—H—H 11,576
Amortisation N 4,716
Exchange realignment PE DR EE (364)
At31December2023 ] N\ZF_=H+-A=t—H 1598
Carrying amount FREE
At 31 December 2023 N2 _=F+_"_H=+—H 7,253
At 31 December 2022 N TE T "F+"A=+—H 12,280

During the year 2020, the Group completed acquisition of intangible
asset which are the distributorship rights for electronic components
and other ancillary products and plastic components in the PRC.

The Directors of the Company determines the estimated useful
lives and related amortisation charges for its intangible assets. This
estimate is based on the contractual terms and the extension options
that the Group could exercise under the acquisition agreement.
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R e R R MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(FRIEH BB LIATIIT)

18 INVENTORIES 18 F&

2023 2022
—ZE-= TETTF
$'000 $'000
Frx T
Trading inventories B5EF8 227,665 174,970

19 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 19 B SBUERR R ERMR
2023 2022
—E-= TECTTF
$'000 $'000
FiT T
Trade receivables & 5 EERRN 818,065 562,741
Bills receivable A ETE 1,220 -
819,285 562,741
Less: allowance for impairment B BB (71,564) (63,449)
747,721 499,292

The Group's trading terms with its customers are mainly on open
account terms, except for new customers, where payment in
advance is normally required. The balance of the business is on open
account terms which is often covered by customers' letters of credit
or is factored to external financial institutions. The credit terms vary
from 1 day to 120 days after the monthly statement. The Group seeks
to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables to minimise
credit risk. Overdue balances are regularly reviewed by management.
Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing and their carrying

amounts approximate to their fair values.

FEBEARTPNVEZEMEZUH
BRIZIVETT MRS P —ARBETRRIA
BRI o LIRS TVETT BV E 5 R UK
MAEREEM AT R ERENRESE
SNBBEREE - EEMNFAERR
1HZE1208 » & B H RO EUGR
IRAER BEERE  BBLURREE AR -
EEEE T HERANGR 5 RIK
RMARE BHIREEREATER

o
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

19

RATS R AR M 5E

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)
The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables based on the

(FRIEFBERA LIATIIR)

19 EBREWIRTKREKRERR @

B 7 B AR 7% 8 R 0 ARV AR &L 0 A

invoice date: wr
2023 2022
—E-= 2 F
$'000 $'000
F T
0-30 days 0%F30H 273,114 11,630
31-60 days 31&260H 257,946 142,883
61-90 days 612E90H 124,439 64,134
More than 90 days 08U E 162,566 144,094
Total trade receivables before impairment & 5 FEUR BR 0 (B AT 42 28 818,065 562,741
Bills receivables FEWZE & 1,220 =
Less: allowance for impairment BB (71,564) (63/449)
747,721 499,292
Impairment losses in respect of trade receivables are recorded using %%F’E‘TH& AR ESBRXAEERE
an allowance account based on lifetime expected credit loss unless 2HIFEHIE ERBAR EERIAE

there is no expectation of recovery, in which case the impairment
loss is written off against trade receivables directly. The movement in
the allowance for doubtful debts during the year is as follows:

TEEERR L R T HES AR
7 B 53 FE R RIS o 74 Pu > BRI
BEBWT :

2023 2022

—ET= —ETHF

$'000 $'000

FT T

1 January *—H—H 63,449 71,247

Impairment loss recognised M SRR EE 1R 8,191 663
Write back of provision previously Wl SR SR B B

recognised - (8,257)

Exchange realignment PE A% (76) (204)

At 31 December Rr+—_A=+—H 71,564 63,449

At 31 December 2023, trade receivables of the Group with
an aggregate carrying amount of HK$452,792,000 (2022:
HK$138,532,000) have been assigned to banks to secure the general
banking facilities of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR MIEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(FRIEH BB LIATIIT)

20 OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS 20 HhfEUWFERIE S RFEITIE

2023 2022
—F-= 2 F
$'000 $'000
F T
Other receivables HAh e IE 9,336 5,628
Interest receivables FEUHI 2 295 574
Loans receivable (note i) e E R (FI5E) 7,478 3,900
Deposit for purchase (note i) RIS (%) 82,507 36,158
Utilities and other deposits KEREMEE 1,590 1,697
Prepaid expenses B 2,638 1,725
Deposit paid for acquisition of property, UXBBYIZE ~ BB K s& B9
plant and equipment BffEE 228 =
Refundable deposit previously paid for ~ Z BIFLEZWEEIEETH
proposed acquisition (note iif) AREEE (MEEi) = =
104,072 49,682
Less: amount classified as current assets  J8 : 3 dEA BN S EMN S EE (103,844) (49,682)
Amount classified as non-current assets D EAIER BB EN TR 228 =
Note MIEE -
2023 2022
—_ETZ= TECTF
$'000 $'000
F FT
Loans receivable W ER 10,422 6,833
Less: allowance for impairment BB EEE (2,944) (2,933)
7,478 3,900
The aging analysis of loans receivable at the end of the reporting RERFREWERERE DT .
period is as follows
2023 2022
—E= TETTF
$'000 $'000
T i
Not past due A 7,572 3,900
Past due within 3 months EHRER = -
Past due over 3 months I HEABIA3E B 2,850 2,933
10,422 6,833

ANNUAL REPORT 2023438 127



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR MIEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(FRIEFBERA LIATIIR)

20 OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS 20 HEWEDIE B RFEITIE (@)

(CONTINUED)
Note Mt

(Continued) i €=)

As at 31 December 2023, loans receivable with principal amounts of
approximately HK$3,900,000 (2022: HK$3,900,000) are interest-bearing
and secured by guarantees executed by owners of the debtors.
The Group has agreed to waive the interest receivable from these
debtors. In addition, as at 31 December 2023, the remaining balance
of approximately HK$6,522,000 (2022: HK$2,933,000) consists of
unsecured and interest-free loans receivable. The loan periods of these
loans fall within 1 year in both years.

As at 31 December 2023, included in deposit for purchase of
approximately HK$23,701,000 (2022: HK$23,701,000) is secured by
guarantee executed by an independent third party and is interest-free
(2022: carried interest of 1.25% per month).

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the gross balance of refundable
deposit of approximately HK$2,145,000 (2022: HK$3,865,000)
represents the amount previously paid to a third party vendor (the
“Vendor”) for the proposed acquisition. The proposed acquisition had
been terminated and the deposit had agreed to be refundable. As at
31 December 2023, an allowance for impairment loss of approximately
HK$2,145,000 (2022: HK$3,865,000) was made. During the Year 2023,
the Group receives HKS$1,720,000 and reversal of impairment loss is
made. During the Year 2022, impairment loss of HK$3,865,000 was
made due to significant increase in credit risk noted.
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RZE=F+"RB=+—8" ZX
% X8#493,900,0008 T (ZE2 ==
3,900,000 7T) BIEWE; Ajéjqu B
B WMHEHRANEE ASILE
RIEAEF AEBEEREBERRZ
EEBANERAE Lo 12
ET=F+"A=+—H BWRE
IR 2B B AEREEA 46,522,000 70
(B 1 2933000/87T) °%%
ERNERSERmESEEHEEIEMN
[iqo

A B =ZF+_"_A=+—H"&
AR £4923,701,00087T (&
4 123,701,000 7T) LUBILE
= HBUNEFREALRR BEARE
(CEZZF  UBBI125%:tE) ©

NI =FKR_TE-__F+_4
=+—HJRERESWEBERY
2,145,0007%8 7T (ZF T4 3,865,000
B 2RI ESEWEEER—%
BE=HMEs (MEEE) SO0
BoZRWEEEERL BEWHE
e RE- R _Z_=ZF+_#H
=+—H EBtiRAEEEEELN
2,145,0007%8 7T (ZF T4 3,865,000
B MIEBE_=FE AEEK
F]1,720,000% 75 > BAEH B EE B
El-R_EBE__FE - BHREERRE
KIBHE AN > 5 & R B E5153,865,0008
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R e R R MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(FRIEH BB LIATIIT)

21 BANK BALANCES, RESTRICTED BALANCE AND CASH 21 SRITHERR - ZTIRBIGERRIRE
2023 2022
—EZ= B F
$'000 $'000
Fi Tt
Cash and cash equivalents RERIBEZEEY 86,165 89,516
Restricted balance =R & 4G ER 10,355 10,046
Total bank balances, restricted IR1T4E R T RHIAE R
balance and cash & 4828 96,520 99,562

Bank balances and cash comprise cash and short-term deposits held
with financial institutions and carry interest at prevailing market rates.

RITERAREERRERFERE
RURIBRIIEHTFR > B IRITHHHE

stee

Restricted balance represented the fixed term

approximately HK$10,355,000 (2022: HK$10,046,000) placed to a bank
to secure general banking facilities granted by the bank.

SRHIEBRIEFERN —RIBITHTH
FFN4910,355,0008 70 (B -4 :
10,046,000 7T) > UIEAZIRTTIETH
—ARERITRAE RV 0

deposit of

R_ZE_=ZF+"_A=+—H'%&%

As at 31 December 2023, the Group places approximately
HK$29,907,000 (2022: HK$22,336,000) in banks in the PRC, the
remittance of which is subject to relevant rules and regulations of
foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC government.

B3 R 1T 99 BlIF & 929,907,000/ 7T
(B 122,336,000 7T) * B
5 Hh B B AT 0 A O 4R R 91N B B AR B

FA&BIFR R o
22 TRADE PAYABLES 22 BHEHIRR
2023 2022
—E-= —_E-
$’000 $'000
Fi Tt
Trade payables B 5 IR 164,622 131,812
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

22 TRADE PAYABLES (CONTINUED) 22

23

24

An ageing analysis of the Group's trade payables presented based on
the invoice date at the end of each reporting date, is as follows:

(FRIEFBERA LIATIIR)

B SRR (B

FEBRRSRSAPRREZHHE
SR E B ERMBVERE DTN T ¢

2023 2022
—E-= 2 F
$'000 $'000
FT Tt
0-30 days 0%F30H 114,953 71,745
31-60 days 31&E60H 33,620 14,045
61-90 days 61290H 8,288 9,303
More than 90 days 08U E 7,761 36,719
164,622 131,812

OTHER PAYABLES, ACCRUALS AND DEPOSITS 23 HthFEMARIR Bt BAREWE

RECEIVED &

2023 2022
—g-= TEICTHE
$'000 $'000
FT Tt
Other payables and accruals HhENRIBERESTER 10,085 9,446
Commission payable FERE 3,027 6,795
Value added tax payables FEIEETR 2,367 1,538
Customer deposits received BWERZE 9,360 4774
Rental deposit received B WHRERE 236 236
25,075 22,789

Customer deposits received represents consideration received
from customers for goods before the Group recognises the related
revenue. Customer deposits of HK$3,859,000 included in the balance
as at 1 January 2023 were recognised as revenue during the Year
2023 (Year 2022: HKS$6,621,000).

LOAN FROM CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER, 24
UNSECURED

The amount was unsecured, repayable within 1 year and carried
interest of 7% per annum.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(FRIEH BB LIATIIT)

25 BANK BORROWINGS, SECURED 25 SRITEE > HikH
2023 2022
—E== S -
$'000 $'000
F T
Current liabilities REAGE
Factoring loans RIBEEMN 320,552 90,980
Other bank loans HMiRTEN 417,529 369,448
Bank instalment loans IRITDHAER
— portion of loans due for repayment —BR—FREEZ
within one year BRED 5,123 5,044
— portion of loans due for repayment —BR—FRBEEZ
after one year which contain a BRE D MBEREX
repayment on demand clause BEEN 15,868 18,194
759,072 483,666

At 31 December 2023 and 2022, the bank instalment loans
were due for repayment as follows, which are based on the
scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements
and ignore the effect of any repayment on demand clause:

h MIB=FR-B__Ft+°
B=+—H RIT0HERAR
BERBZFETAEERBHE
2> B ESt AEEREXRERE

Rz FE
2023 2022
—E-= - F
$’000 $'000
FT Tt
Within one year —FR 5,123 5,044
After one year but within two years —EBBRMEN 1,730 2,333
After two years but within five years EBEBREERN 4,765 4,871
After five years HEE 9,373 10,990
20,991 23,238

None of the portion of the term loans due for repayment after
one year which contain a repayment on demand clause and
that is classified as current liability is expected to be settled
within one year.

R ENE R ERERFNE
NESRBERZ AN —FRE
B2 EHEME DR —FERNE

=
/B °
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25 BANK BORROWINGS, SECURED (CONTINUED)

(i)

(i)

(iv)

Factoring loans are variable-rate borrowings which carry
effective rate (which is also equal to contractual interest rate) of
6.68% to 7.40% per annum at 31 December 2023 (2022: 5.89%
to 6.50%).

Other bank loans represent import loans, trust receipts loans
and revolving loan which are variable-rate borrowings and
carry effective interest rate ranging from 4.15% to 7.82% per
annum at 31 December 2023 (2022: 4.95% to 7.55%).

Bank instalment loans are variable-rate borrowings and carry
effective interest rate of 3.02% to 6.01% per annum at 31
December 2023 (2022: 3.02% to 4.52%).

At 31 December 2023, the banking facilities of the Group
were secured by trade receivables of the Group with an
aggregate carrying amount of approximately HK$452,792,000
(2022: HKS$138,532,000), the legal charge over the investment
property of the Group of approximately HK$48,200,000 (2022:
HK$51,200,000), leasehold land and buildings of approximately
HK$76,025,000 of the Group (2022: HK$79,156,000), deposit
placed for life insurance policy of the Group of approximately
HK$13,125,000 (2022: HKS$12,674,000), bank deposit of the
Group of approximately HK$10,355,000 (2022: HK$10,046,000),
personal guarantees executed by Mr. Pai Yin Lin (a director and
a non-controlling shareholder of subsidiaries of the Company,
“Mr. Pai"), and corporate guarantees executed by the Company
and several of its subsidiaries.

Certain of the Group's banking facilities are subject to the
fulfilment of covenants relating to the Group's financial
position. If the Group were to breach the covenants, the
drawn down facilities would become payable on demand. As
at 31 December 2023, the Group has breached the covenant
requirements under banking facilities with a bank, as the
Group's net tangible assets was less than and external gearing
ratio was greater than that required by the bank. The Group
has obtained one-off waivers from strict compliance with the
covenant requirements in relation to all the outstanding bank
borrowings. Management was of the opinion that the breach
has no significant impact on the Group’s financial position as
all bank borrowings were classified as current liabilities as at
31 December 2023. As at 31 December 2022, the Group had
complied with the covenant requirements under banking
facilities granted with banks.
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(FRIEFBERA LIATIIR)

25 SRITEE Bk @&

(i

(iii)

(iv)

REBEFBIEMR/E BRN_E
_=F+_HA=t+—HZzEBKF
A= JREERELFIXR) £6.68%
E7.40% (CEZ"F I 589%F
6.50%) ©

HMRITERIEEDNER 55
H&%}*,\Twzﬁi%;éf BEER
Tﬁf’ﬂﬁ\_vi_fﬁ‘f’ )=
=t+—HZERBREFZENF415%
F782% (ZEZ"F 1 495%F
755%) ©

BT HERBIZEMEE B
BT =f+"HB=+—HzE
FREFIRNF302%E601% (ZF
T4 D 302%FE452%) ©

W_E_=F+"H=+—8"
AEBEIFTRE 4R BE@@Z’J
452,792,000 (Z B -

138 532,000 7T) z%%ﬁuﬁﬁﬁ

ZK%.?Rﬁ#@%Z/fKE#ﬁDE
i’]48 200,000/ 7T (Z&E -
51,200000%87T) ~ NEBEEE iiﬂz

)S’z@?iﬁm 0250005870 (TE-—
£ 179,156,000 70) ~ KEBAE
REEIR £ 4913,1250008 T (ZF
T 11267400058 7T) ~ AER
RITERNAY10,355,0008 7T (=&
T T8 110,046,000587T) ~ HIRER
BE (KRBENBRAENESER
JEFERRARER ) TERSTE)) FREE LMY
BAERURE AT REETH
BATEIUNABIERIEER

REFETIRITHMERETARE
B B FS AR R AR R RO 32 58 o i A 2
BB KZH BRI ERZ
ERLZ[N-RZITEZ=F+A
—+—H HARETEENELE
EFEDRIBITERMIMNIEE
BEXBBIETER ~EEE
EREIRITETIIMIRITRHETH
HEER AEBCSRE—RM
%%@%L#%E%%@ﬁﬁﬁ
Z;‘E%g;ko AE% = DILJ‘% EEB\
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

25

BANK BORROWINGS, SECURED (CONTINUED)
Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

During the Year 2023, the Group has transferred the collection right
of certain trade receivables to financial institutions under factoring
agreements, but such transfers do not qualify for derecognition in the
consolidated financial statements. A transferred asset is derecognised
when the Group transfers the asset and substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. The factoring
facilities are secured by pledge of assets and corporate guarantees
executed by the Group and personal guarantee executed by Mr. Pai.
Given that the financial institutions are authorised to realise and sell
the pledged assets in case of default and guarantee is provided to
the transferees, the Group has not transferred the significant risks and
rewards relating to the transferred assets to the financial institutions.
Accordingly, the transferred assets continue to be recognised in its
entirety and the consideration received is recognised as a liability.

The carrying amounts of the transferred assets and their associated
liabilities are as follows:

25

(FRIEH BB LIATIIT)

iR{TEE > HikE (@
HHEHEEREMAG

TR =FER AEECRERE
s A T B 5 AR B U (O] 1 88
ET TR BARMEERGER/N
RO MR IR - EREEEE
BERKEEFAEEXEN &R
KRERERES B AIRIEESE
HEREE - RIEMBUB BT RARE
B FrtE R BE R B e EPTFEAE
RAitifam - BN ERIEEEREEN
REEZBARBERNBR TEREK
LECERAEE  WAERH AR EE
BEENE AR EREE SR
BoHIt EEREERBSEES R
BRAERESERER

BEEESEMHEARARZREEN
T

Carrying amount of transferred assets

Carrying amount of associated liabilities

EEREEZREE

HEEEZREE

2023 2022

—E-= B
Trade receivables Trade receivables
transferred under transferred under
factoring factoring
agreements agreements
IRIRRIEIEE R RIE S
HEZESE HECESE

Y BR TR I ERRR

$'000 $'000

Fit T

403,124 117,327

320,552 90,980
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(FRIEFBERA LIATIIR)

26 CONVERTIBLE BOND 26 FIARIES
$'000
T
Liability component at 1 January 2022 N2 _F—A—HHNEE&E
AR ER D -
Add: liability component on initial recognition 0 - R R B EAERE D 14,444
Add: effective interest expenses mn:BRMNEZH 883
Less: coupon payment P SENEN (100)
Liability component at 31 December 2022 N BT THE+_A=+—H
and 1 January 2023 M_E_=F—H—H
ES=REF A=) 15227
Add: effective interest expenses m:BERAEXE 1,023
Less: coupon payment A BRI (100)
Liability component at 31 December 2023 N2 =F+Z"“HA=+—HW
S5 E D 16,150
During the Year 2022, the Company issued a CB with principal N ZE I ZFECARBAEBER

amount of HK$20,000,000 to Nicegoal Limited to satisfy a portion
of the Consideration. The coupon rate of the CB is 0.5% per annum.
The CB will mature in the fifth anniversary of the issue date, i.e.
23 February 2027 (the “Maturity Date”), or can be converted into
57,140,000 shares at any time up to and including the date falling
on the seventh day immediately prior to the Maturity Date at the
bondholder’s option at rate of HK$0.35 per share. At any time prior
to the Maturity Date, the Company shall have the right to partly or
fully redeem the CB early, by giving 10 business days' prior notice in
writing to the bondholder.

The CB comprises a liability component, an equity conversion
component and an early redemption option. The Group appointed
a professional valuer to estimate the fair values of the CB and its
components and option at initial recognition.

134 APEX ACE HOLDING LIMITED BRI AR A IR AT
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MEZEAEA05% 31T B Em
EBEFER I ZE_tF_A_-_+=
H) (TEIfAHY) 2HEE EHFE ARG
HRIERIPETHE (BFEEH) gidM
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)  (BfIEB BERER> LUBITHR)

26 CONVERTIBLE BOND (CONTINUED)

The fair value of the liability component was calculated by using a
market interest rate of similar non-extendable and non-convertible
bonds. The fair value of the CB was valued by using Hull Method.
The CB issued during the Year 2022 recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position at its initial recognition are as follows:

26

AR
SEANRIT DN A ERBEMAR
AR A N ES 2 HiHHR
T8 o AR E S A T EUMEE
(Hull Method)sTth e IS AR & FAFS AR ER
MBEERNN S - —_FERTMNA
MR EFEIINT

$'000

T
Fair value of the CB issued AR ESHNATE 20,000
Fair value of derivative asset (note 1) TTEBEENRFEE () 4,179
Less: fair value of liability component of CB A AR ESaEERE s

NAFE (14,444)

Equity conversion component (note 2) R st IRy (MY5E2) 9,735
Note: Mo &E
1 The amount represented the early redemption option granted 1 EEBEAT AR EENIRAE

to the Company and has been included in derivative asset in the
consolidated statement of financial position at initial recognition.

2 The equity conversion component will remain in the convertible bond
reserve until the embedded conversion option is exercised or the CB
matures.

Further details on fair value measurement at initial recognition of CB
and liability portion of the CB are set out in note 36 below.

> RiRa M BIR R R R
SPATEBE-

2 RESBEOBRENTBRRES
HEN BEFRNSEREEITEN
AR ES DB AL

BRI kRESF KA RRESFEER

B EZ8 D A iA R A Bt EME
— B N TN X MiEE360
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(FRIEFBERA LIATIIR)

27 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES 27 EEMIBEEE &fF
The net movement of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) are as follows: IRIEMIBEE /(BB 2 382U
B
2023 2022
=== —EICF
$'000 $'000
Fi Tt
Balance at 1 January nR—A—HZ#&8R 7,905 6,101
Credited to profit or loss (note 10) st Az (FI5E10) 499 1,670
Credited to equity AR 126 129
Exchange realignment PE S 2 12 5
Balance at 31 December R+__B=1+—HZ 4 8,542 7,905
Deferred tax assets IRERIEEE
Provision
for
impairment  Tax losses Lease Others Total
HERE HIESE g Hith izt
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T T Tt T Tt
Balance at 1 January 2022 S — ey = e =
k3 2,079 7,599 = 595 10273
(Charge)/credit to profitorloss (0B E) /5t AER
for the year B (1,024) 2977 = (346) 1607
Exchange realignment bE R A EE (38) - = (36) (74)
Balance at 31 December 2022 AZEZ"F+TH
—+—HZ & 1017 10576 = 213 11,806
Credit/(charge) to profitor loss 5t A/ (0 B) E£R
for the year Ei=Fin 393 (496) 1247 199 1343
Exchange realignment (R (5) = 40) (10) (55)
Balance at 31 December 2023 WM IEZ=F+_H
—+—HZz&E 1405 10,080 1,207 402 13,094
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(FRIEH BB LIATIIT)

27 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 27 BERIBEE GE @

Deferred tax liabilities IRERIEE R
Revaluation
Accelerated  of leasehold
tax land and
depreciation buildings Lease Others Total
fni& BftfE
REHE  IHRIEF fig Hitr it
§'000 §'000 §'000 §'000 §'000
T 7 T T Tr
Balance at 1 January 2022 RIEZZFE-F—-HzH&H 687 3452 = 33 41M
(Credit)/charged to profit or loss GtA) /MREFEREL
for the year (303) = = 240 (63)
Charged to equity for the year I EERER - (129) = = (129)
Exchange realignment ERAZ - (70) S ) (79)
Balance at 31 December 2022 RTEZHE+ZA=+—H
ko 384 3253 = 264 3901
(Charge)/credit to profit o loss (0%8) /St AERELR
for the year (156) - 1247 (247) 844
Charged to equity for the year NEEFRRR - (126) = s (126)
Exchange realignment B R - (21) (40) 6) (67)
Balance at 31 December 2023 RZE_=F+_A=1+—H
2158 28 3106 1,207 11 455
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N

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

27

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of financial
position

For the purpose of consolidated statement of financial position
presentation, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been
offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for
financial reporting purposes:

(FRIEFBERA LIATIIR)

BERIARE AR @
RAMBRRROHIR

REINGEMBRRE  BETFIELER
REEMBEEFTLURHE - U T A5
P #5 R ¥R B RIFR1E 2 IR SE IR B AE BR D
#r

2023 2022
—ET= BT F
$'000 $'000
FiT Tt
Deferred tax assets Liﬁ BEE 13,094 11,806
Deferred tax liabilities RERIBEEE (4,552) (3,901)
8,542 7,905
Deferred tax assets not recognised RIERDZIRLERIEEE

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has unused tax losses of
approximately HK$87,588,000 (2022: HK$77,881,000) available for
offset against future profits. Deferred tax assets of approximately
HK$10,080,000 (2022: HK$10,576,000) have been recognised
in respect of tax losses of approximately HK$61,085,000 (2022:
HK$64,093,000) in the current year. No deferred tax assets have been
recognised in respect of the remaining tax losses of approximately
HK$26,503,000 (2022: HKS$13,788,000) due to unpredictability of
future profit streams. Tax losses of approximately HK$61,570,000
(2022: HKS$64,093,000) may be carried forward indefinitely and
tax losses of approximately HK$26,018,000 (2022 HKS$13,788,000)
will expire on various dates within five years from the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax liabilities not recognised

At 31 December 2023 temporary differences relating to the
undistributed profits of subsidiaries amounted to HK$12,465,000
(2022 HK$9,020,000). Deferred tax liabilities of HK$623,000 (2022
HKS$451,000) have not been recognised in respect of the tax that
would be payable on the distribution of these retained profits as
the Group controls the dividend policy of the subsidiaries and it has
been determined that it is probable that these profits will not be
distributed in the foreseeable future.
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RERBZEIERBEENR _S_=F
+ZB=+—8B > x&EBEZEXHBR
TEE184987,588,0008 70 (B -4 .
77,881,000 75) BJ K R A EF) o
KEEBE MR IBEEEAI61,085000%8 7T
(ZZT - Z4F 64,093,000 7T) FER
IRAEFRIEE FEE£910,080,00058 75 (ZF
T 1105760008 7T) c AN EEATE
B BB R W EREGE TRIE
E5184926,503,0008 70 (ZE - " & :
13,788,000787T) FERIEILIRIEE E o 17
TEET184961,5700008 0 (B4 .
64,093,000/ 7T) Al ERERAS & ﬁ‘ﬁﬁlﬁ
#5184926,018,00058 T (ZE -
13,788,000 7T) If{—_fﬁl\iﬁiﬁﬁumgﬁTﬁﬁ
FANZSEEIAEIHER

KR ZBIEIRIEA[H

R_E_=F+"_RB=+—H" K
BRABARDKRaF Z2HERELES
12,465,000 75 (ZZ 24 9,020,000
BIT) o WAR D IKZE (R E im A e
1 2 13 TE i SR 4R IE 7R TE & (5623,00078
7T (T F 14510008 7T) ° JHEAZAR
EEEFZERB AR ZREEEK
EEEEEEAT%EEEE%EZ%EE&WEEJ
FER A EED K
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)  (BfIEB BERER> LUBITHR)

28 SHARE CAPITAL 28 g%
Number of shares Amount
iR EE %
HKS
BT
The Company AT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each FROOETZEBR
Authorised: AT
Asat 1 January 2022, 31 December &2 "
2022, 1 January 2023 and —B—H-
31 December 2023 =
+ZB=+—H"
—E=F—R8
—HRE_=
+-A=+—H 2,000,000,000 20,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BETREE
As at 1January 2022 A ZE T
—H—H 1,009,550,000 10,095,500
Issued during the Year 2022 TECTFEEBET
(note 1) (Mg5E1) 65,560,000 655,600
As at 31 December 2022, == S—
1 January 2023 and +-B=+—08"~
31 December 2023 B =
—H—Hk&
+-A=+—H 1,075,110,000 10,751,100
Note PEE

1. On 10 May 2022, the Company and a placing agent (the “Placing
Agent”) entered into a conditional placing agreement, pursuant
to which, among other things, the Company conditionally agreed
to place through the Placing Agent, on a best effort basis, up to
67,500,000 placing shares (“Placing Shares”) at the placing price of
HK$0.4 per Placing Share under general mandate. On 26 May 2022, the
Company announced that a total of 65,560,000 Placing Shares were
successfully placed by the Placing Agent. All the Placing Shares rank
pari passu with the existing shares in issue in all respects.

RE-__FFA+H ARAFHA
FLERIE (TBeEMRIE)) ST B KMY
BLE W It (HP a8 ~ 858
BHERRERRE BRI EFTAE
HERBE -—REERREEESRKRE
E 7048 TTBLE & %67,500,0008%
FeERY, (EEERMDY) -RE-—
ERAR-+AB xR EMEE
I B INEC & & 3£65,560,0000% AL &
B -FRBEERERMNS T TEARD
BTRBEROEERSEM(L
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28

29

RATS R AR M 5E

SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)
Note (Continued)

2. During Year 2023, the Company caused the Custodian to purchase
the Company's shares on the Stock Exchange for the Restricted Share
Award Scheme as follows:

28

(FRIEFBERA LIATIIR)

B4 @)
FisE (48)
2. RIBEZ=FFE > AR BEFEFTE

A 75 PRl B& 15 2% 8 51 81 1 Bk 32 P
BEARBRGONT :

Price per share

FRER
Number of Aggregate
ordinary consideration
shares Highest Lowest paid
Month of purchase REAR LiERHE BE RiE SfIEH%E
(HKS) (HKS) HK$'000
(7o) (Bt FET
April 2023 TE2ET-FMA 2,380,000 0425 0400 995
November 2023 2 -_F+—H 3,295,000 0420 0410 1,367
December 2023 “ET-_F+TH 1,470,000 0435 0420 629

As at 31 December 2023, 19,155,000 of the Company’s shares are
held by the Custodian (2022: 14,710,000).

PERPETUAL SUBORDINATED CONVERTIBLE
SECURITIES

During the Year 2022, the Company issued PSCS with face value
of HK$10,000,000 to Nicegoal Limited to satisfy a portion of
Consideration.

The PSCS are included in equity in the Group's consolidated financial
statements as the Group does not have a contractual obligation
to deliver cash or other financial assets arising from the issue of
the PSCS. The PSCS will remain as equity reserve until the PSCS are
converted, in which case, the balance recognised in equity will be
transferred to share capital and share premium.

During the Year 2023, no PSCS was converted into ordinary shares
and the Company has made distribution of HK$50,000 (Year 2022:
HK$50,000) to the PSCS holder.

As at 31 December 2023, approximately 28,570,000 (2022:
28,570,000) ordinary shares would be issued upon full conversion
of PSCS. Conversion into ordinary shares is not permitted when
conversion into ordinary shares of the Company would result in
insufficient public float of the Company’s shares.
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29

A —

\_7__¢+ B=+—8">
9,15500008 AT N ThREEBE A A
(_ = 4 1 14,710,00088) ©

KARER I HBREE 55

N TE T TEFE > ARNBAREBERA
S22 1T EIE10,000,00078 7T BY 7K A 2R 4R
AR RSB I B -

KARRPIAG B SHF st ARERGS
MBRRAEGRIE T ERNER LR
BHEERMEEIT KA RAR O
BEEFZRENHEMERE E KA
B eI RESRRENEREE B
FEIRARMB IR RSB T IS
MR ERERNEERRERERA
KRR @&

AT T ZFE EKA KRR RRG
EAEIRATER  RAATBEIKA
R AT IREE H1F A AEH 50,0008 7T
(CZB - " 500005870 DKo

é_v__ﬁ-f— B=4+—H XA

AR TR 58 S5 E R S IR R 81T
’]28 570,0008% (ZZ Z 4 : 28,570,000
%) ZiERG o ME R A AR A T E B
BNARNBRORAZFEEFRE AR
B A TR
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

30 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

(a)

Retirement benefits scheme

The Group participates in the MPF Scheme under the Hong
Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The MPF Scheme
is a defined contribution retirement plan administered by
independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the Group and
its employees are each required to make contributions to the
scheme at 5% of the employees’ monthly relevant income
capped at HK$30,000. Contributions to the scheme vest
immediately. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees.

In accordance with the rules and regulations in the PRC, the
subsidiaries of the Group in the PRC participates in defined
contribution retirement schemes organised by the relevant
local government authorities for its employees. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute certain percentage
of the employees’ basic salaries and wages to the schemes.
The local government authorities undertake to assume the
retirement benefits obligations of all existing and future retired
employees of these subsidiaries. The only obligation of these
subsidiaries with respect to the scheme is to meet the required
contributions under the scheme. No forfeited contributions
will be used by the Group to reduce the existing level of
contributions.

Total contributions paid or payable to the retirement benefit
schemes by the Group amounted to HK$4,277,000 for the Year
2023 (Year 2022: HKS$4,655,000), which had been recognised
as expense and included in staff costs in the consolidated
statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

The Group has no other material obligation for payment of
retirement benefits beyond the contributions as described
above.

(FRIEH BB LIATIIT)

30 ESEF

(a)

BAEFETE
KEERBESARFIELBEET
EMEP AT BFIECEREES
nafEEste 2B E AR
BUSEASENTEREHITERNK
B - RiEaEeste AEE
rEREMEZEESABRK
ABIS%E T EIEH MR LRA
30,0007 7T © A T &1 E H AR5 ED
RSB aBEtENEERAN
EBREESHIFR BETHT
NIl o

RIRPER B ROE R REE
FENEABSSEEES NS
FERA M 75 U 1 RAE (R E BR (
FIRIRET B - ZFMNB AT AR
EEEAHERIEZETED
EE 1 51 &I 7R o B 3th BT 14 B 7K
HEAEZENBABMARA K
HEERAKEEMNBRAKENEE
ZENBABMZTEINE—T
ERRIFSHBIFL TR R A
B EBOL R R AR IR
BT o

A TE T =FE > AERBRIK
BRFFEENHNENEEARS
4,277,000 (ZE__FE:
4,655,000/870) » BEEMSRARS
et AfraERkEMEm R
RAMETIRA

bR _EZLARRON » A E T E At
BERERENIEE-
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30 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Restricted Share Award Scheme

The Company adopted a Restricted Share Award Scheme (the
“Share Award Scheme”) on 30 August 2019 (the "Adoption
Date”). The purpose of the Restricted Share Award Scheme is
to recognise the contributions by the Group's personnel and to
increase their incentives in working for the continual operation
and development of the Group; and to attract suitable
personnel for further development of the Group. Eligible
participants of the Restricted Share Award Scheme include
employee, executive officer or director of the Group.

The restricted shares to be granted comprise (i) new shares
to be allotted and issued by the Company; and/or (i) existing
shares purchased by the custodian on the market, the costs of
which will be borne by the Company. All such restricted shares
will be held by the custodian upon trust for the benefit of the
selected participants before vesting.

The movement of share-based payment reserve for the Year
2023 is as follows:

(FRIEFBERA LIATIIR)

30 EEEF @

(b)

PR IR {7 32 Bh 5t &1
TRERZZE-—NENB=+H
(TER# B H3L) ARSI LR 10
REETE (TR IZRIETE)) ~ IR
FIMERR (0 BB 51 B S B P A S
EETHER  TIEMEENT
FEN ) LUmR A EBEEEE
RER  RBAEBENE—FE
RS EEAT o REIM A7 1%
BB ERSEEREAER
BE-TTHABHES-

1 F 5% H BY BR 114 BR 1D B HE (i) 4
NERGECEE R TR AR K
SHFEBEARTIE LBEMNIR
B BB A REA NG XK
BB BRGIMERMN BN
BRIHELEANSEESEAENT
mMMUEFEFERIFE

RIBEZ=ZFEURMNZAIRIE
BB T

2023 2022
$'000 $'000
FT T
At 1 January w—HA—H 1,641 903
Employee share-based payment 1B B AR Z(IFRIE (FI5E8)
(note 8) 568 1,311
Vesting of shares of Restricted PRI IR (D 2B EH 2189
Share Award Scheme Bz 17 87 /8 (810) (573)
At 31 December Rr+—_A=+—H 1,399 1,641
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30 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Restricted Share Award Scheme (Continued)
Details of Restricted Share Award Scheme granted

On 23 July 2021, the Board has resolved to grant 9,550,000
restricted shares to nine selected participants (the “Grantees”)
in accordance with the terms of the Restricted Share Award
Scheme at nil consideration, subject to acceptance by the
Grantees. The restricted shares granted shall vest in three
tranches as follows:

(i) 20% of the Restricted Shares to be vested on 10 March
2022;

(i) 40% of the Restricted Shares to be vested on 10 March
2023; and

(i) 40% of the Restricted Shares to be vested on 10 March
2024.

The estimated fair value per share granted on 23 July 2021 was
HK$0.3. The fair value was estimated by taking reference to the
market price of the Company’s share on the grant date. The
Grantees are not entitled to dividends on any restricted shares
that are not yet transferred to them.

The movement in number of restricted shares granted under
Restricted Share Award Scheme for the Year 2023 is as follows:

(FRIEH BB LIATIIT)

30 EEEF @

(b)

PREIERR (DR EISTEI (4B)
IR HRFIERR (IR S BIEE 1S
N_E_—FtHA-+=H%
GIREIRIE RGN ERB 5
MR EEANQERSEE
(T332 AJ) # H9,550,0008% R
MERRAD - METETEE A A\ B4R o FTis
H R DI UL T AR D =HE
R :

() PRHEHMERMDI20%N _E
_“HF=A+HEB;

(i PREIMERMDAI40%N
TZEZR+HREE &

iy PREIMERMDAI40%0N _ &
“HE=A+HES-

R_EZ-—FtRZ+=H&
HEY SR AR 5t A FER3E
Lo ATETBERABRMR
&% B AR B 5t o A IR AR
R 160 2R [5) HL 89 38 2 (T I PR 51 1

RIDVESRE -

KB ZFERERG RS
REN TR HRIRGIME RN EE

2023 2022
—EZ= B _F
‘000 ‘000
Fhg T

Number of awarded shares HERR D BB
Outstanding at 1 January H—A—HHEKRITE 7,640 9,550
Granted BEY - -
Vested BEHB (2,700) (1,910)
At 31 December W+_B=+—H 4,940 7,640
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31 COMMITMENT 31
Capital commitments

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has the following capital
commitment:

(FRIEFBERA LIATIIR)

i
B ixiE

TR =ZF+"A=+—H %%

BB LUTEREKE !

31 December

31 December

2023 2022
—E-= =5
+-A=+—-H | +t-A=+—H
$'000 $'000
FT T
Capital commitment in respect of HBENHFNEARRIE
acquisition of a software:
— Contracted but not provided for —BFIABREE 279 =
279 -
Operating lease commitments RERERE
The Group as lessor FTEEEHHAA
The Group leases its investment property under operating lease AEEREKEHELTHHEEERE

arrangements. The lease of the investment property is negotiated for
a term of 2 years. The lease agreements do not include an extension
option. As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the operating lease

M2 oSS BET R E Y XTI AR
FEFHYL At LR - PN T~ =
ER-EC_HF+-HA=+—H &&

receivables are as follows: HAEREKEIETT
2023 2022
—E-= B F
$'000 $'000
FT Tt
Within one year —FR 472 1,380
In the second to fifth years, inclusive BF_EFEEFHF
(BiEERWF) - 472
472 1,852
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(FRIEH BB LIATIIT)

32 SUBSIDIARIES 32 MIEARE

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: MEABIFIENT !
Registered/issued and Percentage of equity attributable Place of
Name Place and date of incorporation fully paid share capital tothe Company Principal activities Operation
N
ith/caf
25 R HRRES LT BRiEs: 1823 T
2023 12
—§: I5IIE
Apex Ace Innovative Investment Limited (former named as ~Hong Kong N 100 100 Inactive Hong Kong
Heroic Path (Hong Kong) Limited) 6 December 2021 HKS1
REBENRERRAT (IR (B8 BRAT) é?é Wﬁﬁ/ 100 0 B BA
ZET-E1IARA 187
ApexTeam Limited Biitsh Virgin slands A/ 100 10 Investment holding Hong Kong
15 June 2009 _Uss] )
ApexTeam Limited ABRLHE T8/ 100 0 RESR BE
ZEENERATEA 1E7
Ascent Way International Limited Hong Kong A/ n 72 Selesof electronic Hong Kong
18January2016 HKSW,QO0,000 components
REERARAT ?é TER/ n n o HEETRH BA
ZE-7F-BtAR 100000087
Ascent Way International (East Ching) Limited Hong Kong A/ n 77 Inactive Hong Kong
N 27 September 2022 HKS 10000
FRER Ex) AR TER/ 7 n o EEE &%
ZE_TEARZTER 10000%7
AVT Electronics Corporation Taiwan TWD2,063,600/ 100 100 Sales of electronic Taiwan
16January2019 TWD2063600 components
BENERERAR HamRM0,/ 100 0 HEEFRA g%
$-0E-E1HA Ham 0650
AVT International Limited Hong Kong A/ 100 100 Sales of electronic Hong Kong
7 May 1992 HK$4999.986 components, and sales
and integration of storage
\ system )
BEULRERERA B TER/ 100 0 HERTTARGEEN ER
—ANZELALH 499 986E T FEAR
Data Star Inc. Biitsh Virgin slandls 153000000/ n 72 Investment holding Hong Kong
5 January 2016 1552,200000 )
Data St . ABRUES 300000075,/ n n o RERR &k
“2-/E-RIH 20000087
(Great Win Technology Limited Hong Kong A/ 100 100 Inactive Hong Kong
. 1 April 2021 ) HKS1
EBRBARAE B TER/ 100 0 EEE &%
Z3_-%mA-A 187
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32 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 32 MIBARE @
Registered/issued and Percentage of equity attributable Place of
Name Place and date of incorporation fully paid share capital to the Company Principal activities Operation
; - BAE
oA BEAERY
% HRATRRRAR R&RRE TERR e
2023 0
. JECCE
Heroic Path Group Limited Britsh Virgin slands US850000/ 100 10 Investment holding Hong Kong
9 July 2021 US4100
EREBERAE RERLES 000/ 100 0 BERR &4
ZE_-FtRAAA 100570
I-Sky Electronic Limited Hong Kong A/ 100 100 Properties holding Hong Kong
12 June 2000 HKS2
FHETARA &4 TR/ 100 LU =4 &4
“EIRERATCR 2
Jumbo Fame Investments Limited Britsh Virgin slands US850000/ 100 10 Investment holding Hong Kong
9 April 2018 Uso1
EAREERA HERLES 0007/ 100 0 BERR &4
“E2-\EmANA 1E7
Shenzhen Lisigao Hectronics Company Limited* The PRC HK$20000000/ 100 100 Salesof electionic The PRC
(RYBFZEFERAG) Note ) 18 July 2008 HKS17,600000 components, and sales
(2022: HK$12,000000) of storage system and
provision of related
supporting service
MIBHSETERAT (1) Ll 20000000875,/ 100 0 HERFRHOREEE  0E
“ERN\ELATAR 1760000057 AR RIS
(CB22F: i
120000008 7)
Speed Extreme Limited Britsh Virgin slandSs US$50000/ 100 100 Investment holding Hong Kong
18 March 2021 Us100
BRERAE ABRUES 0007/ 100 0 RELR &4
2T -F-At\R 100E7
Stingray Technology (HK) Company Limited Hong Kong A/ 100 100 Sales of electronic Hong Kong
3 August 2018 HKS1 components
BRDESHEARAT &4 T8/ 100 0 HEETH &t
ZZ-\ENR=H 187
Team Well Electronics Technology Limited Hong Kong A/ n 72 Selesof electronic Hong Kong
1 May 2020 HK$10,000 components
EEETREBERAT & TER/ n n o HEETRE (3]
272718 1000087z
Triumphal Raise Limited Britsh Virgin slands US850000/ 100 10 Investment holding Hong Kong
22 August 2018 US5100
HEERA RERLES 00007/ 100 0 BERR &#
“E-\ENETTCR 10E7T
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(FRIEH BB LIATIIT)

32 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 32 MIBAE @)

Registered/issued and Percentage of equity attributable Place of
Name Place and date of incorporation fully paid share capital to the Company Principal activities Operation
4n g 303
AL BEEDN
e EREEEY TR RaiRE® E3:8 501 s
2023 0
I CBCCE
Wise King Electronics Limited Hong Kong NAHKST 100 100 Sales of electronic Hong Kong
23 November 2017 componen
BHETHRAT B TER/ 100 0 HEETTH &t
Z3-tE+-AZ1EE 17
FHEE SR AR AR former named as ThePRC HK$13,000000 100 100 Technical developrent; ThePRC
FIEFEHEBRAT) (ot 1) 15 November 2018 HKS7.500000 sales of electronic
(2022:HKS5,300,000) products, computer
hardware and software
and accessories
MIBESHEERAR ol 1300000087 100 0 EFEmRRARF  9E
(ERAYETERRERAT) (i) ZE-)\E+-A+EH <7500000%75 %E#E’\Jmﬁﬁﬁ%&
530000070)
FERANETFERAR Note) ThePRC RMB10000000/ 100 100 Technical development, ThePRC
3 August 2021 RVIB6,463,000 sales of electronic
products, computer
hardware and software
and accessories
MIBHANETERAT () Ll ARE 000007,/ 100 0 EYER AREEES  0E
ZE_-E)\R=H NEB6463007 %@E RIRER
R RERERNEERAT (Note ) ThePRC RMB1 000000/ 90 0 Slesofelectionicpoduts,  The PRC
20 Septerber 2022 RAB1,000000 technical development
(2022: RMB150,000) and promotion of new
materials
MBI AR EERAT () Ll AEE 10007,/ 9 0 BTERESWMEN 4@
S )\E(Wn%‘goo,oogu RFERER
ARH#150007)
FISERHERERAR Note) ThePRC RVIB10,000,000/ 70 - MNewmaterialtechnology ~ ThePRC
30 March 203 RMBI,000,000 development and
promomon service
MR RERAT (15) qﬁl AR 000007/ 70 FURRGEEREER  1E
e ) ARE10000007 B
RIERFERARAE Note 1) ThePRC HKS13000000/ 100 100 Investment holding ThePRC
27Ju\y2021 HKS7.660,000
RIEA+ERERAE (1) EP 130000007,/ 100 i REER T
“§-EtATTtA T660000E T
FIREETERAE Mo 1) ThePRC HK$35,000000/ n 7 Sdesofelectionicproducts,  The PRC
9 July 2019 HK$18,000,000 computer hardware and
(2022: HK$11,000000) software and accessories
MIREETERAT (i) Ll 3500000087/ n N EfERiER e
“2-nFLANA Js,(go,ooo?gﬁ HRLRELSE
11000000 7%)
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32 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)
Note:

1 These subsidiaries are registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises
in the PRC under the PRC Law.

2 These subsidiaries are registered as limited liability companies in the
PRC under the PRC Law.

The English name is translated for identification purpose only.

All the subsidiaries of the Company are limited liability companies.
Details of non-wholly owned subsidiary that have material non-
controlling interests:

The table below shows details of non-wholly owned subsidiary of the

Group that has material non-controlling interests:

Place of incorporation/

32

MBAR (&)
s :

1 ZEMBRABDRBEREERI T E
MR AINEEERE

2 ZEMBRAERBERBUEENFEH
AR ABEREEAT -

o AXRTBEMHRER

FARMENBAREAEREER
E‘o

A E AR 2 E R B A
SEE

TR RS BALRRE 2 S
B2 AMEATZHE

Proportion of ownership interests
and voting rights held by

Name of subsidiary operation non-controlling interests
EIEREERFEZ
MiB AT %TE MBI SE RS BEHERD RIGEELLF
2023 2022
—F=-= e
Ascent Way International Limited Hong Kong 28% 28%
("Ascent Way")
IR ERA R AT (HREU) £
Year ended 31 December
#B#E+-_HA=+—HLEFE
2023 2022
T = 2 F
$’000 $'000
T Tt
Profit allocated to non-controlling PDEEEIFZERER 2 RF]
interests 6,795 232
2023 2022
T = - F
$'000 $'000
T F7T
Accumulated non-controlling interests & 5+ IE 1= HE & 33,869 27,074
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32 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 32 MEAR @
Summarised financial information in respect of Ascent Way is set BRI MBERIE&HIU T T
out below. The summarised financial information below represents XzHBERBEIEEBR N HA
amounts before intragroup eliminations. Z &8
Summarised statement of financial position of Ascent Way IRR Z AR R R E
2023 2022
$'000 $'000
FT T
Non-current assets ERBEE 18,133 11,237
Current assets REINEE 432,390 300,071
Current liabilities mEaE| (329,546) (214,588)
Net current assets MENEEFE 102,844 85,483
Total assets less current liabilities MEERTSAasE 120,977 96,720
Non-current liabilities ERBAas (14) 27)
Total equity R 120,963 96,693
Attributable to DU &S
— the Group —FAEH 87,094 69,619
— non-controlling interests —IJEIERR 33,869 27,074
120,963 96,693

ANNUAL REPORT 2023E%R 149



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR MIEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(FRIEFBERA LIATIIR)

32 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 32 MIBAE @)

Summarised statement of profit or loss and other IREAZiEE R H 2 ENE R E
comprehensive income of Ascent Way
2023 2022
—ET= —ETHF
$'000 $'000
Fit T
Revenue Wi 969,669 1,052,514
Gross profit eVl 54,790 21,189
Other incomes HA A 787 804
Expenses (53 (26,860) (20,993)
Profit before tax BRI AT A 28,717 1,000
Income tax expenses FriStaREsZ (4,448) (71
Profit for the year FERN @ 24,269 829
Profit and total comprehensive income U E(L & F) K 2 E N
attributable to: 4O%E .
— the Group —AREE 17,474 597
— non-controlling interests —JEEERR 6,795 232
24,269 829
Dividends paid to Data Star Inc, parent 2 {3 F#x B < /A B Data Star
company of Ascent Way Inc.Z B S - 5,460
Dividends paid by Data Star Inc. to Data Star Inc. 32 19 F IE#ER%
non-controlling interests HmZRE - 1,529
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32 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

(FRIEH BB LIATIIT)

32 MBARE @

Summarised statement of cash flows of Ascent Way IREIZIRERERBE
2023 2022
$'000 $'000
Fit T
Net cash outflow from KEERHIRE R4
operating activities (101,036) (78,697)
Net cash outflow from KREFZHRHIRE R
investing activities (6,779) (1,929
Net cash inflow from MEEBRARE R
financing activities 106,154 54,810
Net decrease in cash and RERREEBYRILFEE
cash equivalents (1,661) (25,816)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FE#IREKRIBEEEBY)
of the year 28,074 53,890
Cash and cash equivalents at end FR|ERREEEY
of the year 26,413 28,074
Financial support MEZIE

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Company and AVT
International have issued financial guarantees to banks in respect of
banking facilities granted to Ascent Way and Team Well Electronics

Technology Limited.

R_E_=FK_T__F+_A
=+—H  ARBEEEBVHREERE
IR EEETREBRATER
ZIRTTRHE IR TIRETFEER
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33 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 33 BAERRXS

BRiR G B 750K 0 R R AR BRI B 5 Fr £ 2
38133 75 RY A BR S ZK%%EAEWEEE@

In addition to the balances with related parties set out in the
consolidated statements of financial position and respective notes,

the Group had the following material transactions with related EHETUTEAR
parties during the year:
(a) Transactions with related parties (a) PBAIEFRZE
2023 2022
—g_= TEICTHE
$'000 $'000
Ft Tt
Mr. Lee Bing Kwong (note i) =R AE ()
— rental paid —BHE 711 684
— advancement of loans (note 24) —E =B (Ff5E24) 43,470 =
— Interest —H2 314 =
Nicegoal Limited (note i) EBARAE FEki)
— rental paid —BffE 240 341
— consideration paid to acquire —BNEBE—BYEN
a property (note iii) 8 (B 5Eii) - 30,000
~ interest on CB paid (note ii) — B MRESNFE
(Bt =iii) 100 100
— distribution on PSCS paid — B RKARR A RILEE S
(note iii) 8953k (B3 5Eiii) 50 50
Note: [l
i) The rental expenses were based on the tenancy agreement i) HEMZILIRBEAEERAE:
entered by the Group and Mr. Lee. AT HEATE
i) Nicegoal Limited is controlled by Mr. Lee. The rental expenses iy EBEBERABIHTHEES -
were based on the tenancy agreements entered by the Group HERAZLIRBAEERRER
and Nicegoal Limited. BIRRABEFTIIHNAELAME
i)~ The Consideration paid for acquisition of a property, interest iy BNEBBRASIZHEBEYE
on CB and distribution on PSCS paid to Nicegoal Limited were ZENRE TR ESFE
based on the sales and purchase agreement entered by the Kk AR AR BI85 2K TS
Group and Nicegoal Limited, the Instrument of CB and Deed ERNAEEHEEBBRABM
Poll of PSCS. The Consideration was satisfied by issuance of CB FTUIBERE TTHMRESX
and PSCS. R IK A RAR B 8 o6 75 B8 48
LEMIEH - BN ER B
TTEIARG B S Rk A R AR BT
QB HET o
Rental paid to Mr. Lee and Nicegoal Limited were de minimis TN FEEEREBERATN
continuing connected transactions exempt from shareholders' *Hi*%EZH—TEEM\ﬁ'B7}<¥E’\]ﬁ%§%§
approval, annual review and all disclosure requirements under B WEEHRET EHRA
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. FBAABIE FTHREME-FE
%%&ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁo
Acquisition of property from Nicegoal Limited constitutes HEBBRAB NI =B IE
non-exempted connected transaction, which is subject to N RIER 7 BEST iR
shareholders’ approval and disclosure requirements under FUAAERTHREMENBEE
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Details are set out in Circular KoFBHNAABHBA T
of the Company dated 12 January 2022.The transaction was ey ‘|—: H Y38 R 0 5232
passed by an extraordinary general meeting of the Company SEEA"E ::E_;ﬁ :‘;/\

held on 28 January 2022 and was completed on 23 February
2022.
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33

34

e TR aR MY EE

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
(a) Transactions with related parties (Continued)

During the Year 2023, the Group subscribed for a life insurance
policy with an insurance company for a member of the
senior management of the Company who is a son of Mr.
Lee Bing Kwong and Ms. Lo Yuen Lai. The total insured sum
is US$8,000,000 (approximately HK$62,400,000). As at 31
December 2023, the fair value of the deposit placed for life
insurance policy amounted to approximately HK$13,125,000
(2022: HKS$12,674,000).

At 31 December 2023 and 2022, the banking facilities of the
Group were secured by personal guarantee executed by Mr.
Pai. Details of which were set out in note 25.

(b) Compensation of key management personnel and

related party

Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group,
including the amounts paid to the Company's directors as
disclosed in note 9(a) is as follows:

33

(FRIEH BB LIATIIT)

RERRS @)

(a RAEHFXS @
R_BE_=FF - x&EEAK
NI —LEREEBHNZRENES
(AEFRHEEHEETEZLTN
RF) BEASRE REELE
£ $£8,000,0003E 7T (4962,400,0007
T cRZB_=F+_/F=+—
H> N\ERERENRAFEES
#913,125,0008 T (ZE - "% :
12,674,000 7T) ©

RNIE T =ZFER_E-__F+_
B=+—H xEBRITHEN
B EFREE ABRIERF B
RAEIBE M EE25©

b) FEEEBASREESEHMN

AEBTEEEASHM (815
MYEEoEZ X FARBES
R W

2023 2022
—E-= —E-F
$'000 $'000
FiT T
Short-term employee benefits RHES = 8,873 12,345

Contributions to defined TR IR ARER ETEHR

contribution retirement
benefits scheme 135 142
Share-based payment expenses W& T FIER 294 679
9,302 13,166
CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 34 BFXRRER

The Group manages its capital to ensure the entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return
to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balances. The overall strategy remains unchanged during the Year
2023.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes CB, lease liabilities, loan from controlling shareholder,
and bank borrowings, net of cash and cash equivalents, equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued share
capital and reserves, and PSCS.

The management of the Group reviews the capital structure
periodically. The Group considers the cost of capital and risk
associated with each class of capital, and will balance its overall
capital structure through payment of dividends and raising of new
capital.

FAEBEEHEAR  DIRARAERE T
BRAFECEXS ANERELE
BB A AER  BARR A RER RO

SRR ZFE AEENRERERE

REBNEARBEEFES (150
MRES HESE REERRKRERR
ERKRBRTEE HFRERIREF
BY) - AREHEA AELED (B
ﬁé?ﬂ&zt&&ﬁ%%) Fe ok AR 4R P HARR 58

FEBEEE TR BELTRIB-KE
EEZRETHARBSERERERHA
B WGSBS REREEMEERT
BMHEBREARRE-
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(FRIEFBERA LIATIIR)

35 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 35 &RTH
(a) Categories of financial instruments (@ EMIANDEE
The carrying amounts of the financial assets and liabilities as at RERSPFRNEHEERER
the end of Reporting Period are as follows: HEREESTIUT ¢
2023 2022
—EZ= e F
$'000 $'000
FiT Tt
Financial assets: EREE:
Financial assets at fair value BAFESFAERD
through profit or loss: TMEE !
Financial instrument at fair value A {EFT AIBZZH
through profit or loss EMTH 13,125 12,674
Derivative asset TEEE 1,730 1,001
14,855 13,675
Amortised cost: HIHp A
Trade and bills receivables B 5 B ERA R FE I ZE i 747,721 499,292
Financial assets included in other 5+ A E fth FEUTERIE ~
receivables, deposits and BERFBNRIEZ
prepayments TREE 16,537 10,102
Bank balances, restricted IRITAEER ~ R IR HIASER
balance and cash FIRE 96,520 99,562
860,778 608,956
Financial liabilities Eof =R
Amortised cost: HIHp A
Trade payables B Z IR 164,622 131,812
Financial liabilities included in A EMEIRRIE
other payables, accruals and FEstERkBERIZE
deposits received G Y= 11,078 14,456
Loan from controlling REERKRREZER
shareholder, unsecured IR 43,784 =
Lease liabilities HEaE 9,150 9616
Bank borrowings RITEE 759,072 483,666
CB EIE IS 16,150 15,227
1,003,856 654,777
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) ERIEAMGEIRBEREE

FEBETHENZEMBRE
miZ AR (BEEERRRFX

B EERBARBESR
WOQDHH@“ ZE BRI RE
RFXe Eﬁ%ﬁ)ﬁ’zmﬁ?&%—?
VK AR ARIZ T RS Fe B R RV 75
NBEE R

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including currency risk and interest rate risk), credit
risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these
risks are described below. The management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.
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35 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(b)

(Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (b)

(FRIEH BB LIATIIT)

35 H£FEMTAG

(i

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily
through sales and purchases that are denominated in
a currency other than the functional currency of the
operations to which they relate. The currency giving
rise to this risk is USD. The Group currently does not
have a foreign currency hedging policy with respect to
its foreign exchange exposure. However, management
monitors foreign exchange exposures and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the
need arises.

The following table details the Group's exposure at the
end of Reporting Period to currency risk arising from
recognised assets or liabilities denominated in USD. For
presentation purpose, the amounts of the exposure are
shown in HKD, translated using the spot rate at the end
of Reporting Period.

@i

THEREEERREE (@)

BiBmE
REETERUERER
B IHAE B 1 LUy B S 5t
18 BY 55 & K £ B8 1 @ bR S
Rk - BRI RN G
733 TT © A5 [ 3R B 0 A 4
E ShBE L 2 A R BY SM S B
AER-AM BEEEEE
FESINE LB > R S TR R
EREPERINERL

TRFAVNKFERN RS
HASR PR B Rl A 3= o 5t B
WERBEENEEME
ETNEBAER - 525 H
By B ER 5 LA TS
;%@ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%ﬂﬁﬂ%ﬁ@lﬁ%@

2023 2022
—ET= ZEICHF
$'000 $'000
FT T
Financial instrument at fair B AFEFFAERD
value through profit orloss & T & 13,125 12,674
Trade receivables & 5 B UERX 641,055 427,710
Financial assets included in 5t AEMEWRIE &%
other receivables, deposits ~ KFENRIBZ &/REE
and prepayments 11,645 7,777
Bank balances and cash IRTTHERMIRE 54,062 64,310
Trade payables B Z IR (89,479) (66,794)
Financial liabilities included 5t A ELfHAE(ITFRIE ~
in other payables, accruals ~ FESTE AR BWIZE
and deposits received Z2EMErs (3,983) (7,523)
Loan from controlling KEERKEZEF
shareholder, unsecured IR (43,784) -
Bank borrowings, secured  IR1TEE > BILF (725,031) (430,972)
Net exposure arising from ERAEEMBEESE
recognised assets and Z R bgFER
liabilities (142,390) 7,182
Foreign currency sensitivity analysis SMEGRE T
The Group mainly exposes to foreign exchange AEBFEREBETR B

fluctuation of the currency of USD against the currency
of HKD. The Directors consider that the Group's exposure
to USD does not give rise to significant foreign currency
risk on the ground that HKD is pegged to USD. Therefore,
no sensitivity analysis of USD against the functional
currency of the respective group entity is disclosed.

TCBYINE R N R B o SR
750 BB ITEE TN
FEBEEREZETART
GEMEKRIINERE -
It BiER R TR R EE
ERIEEEZHRED

#ro
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35 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b)

(Continued)
(i) Interest rate risk

(FRIEFBERA LIATIIR)

35 H£FEMTAG

(i)

The Group's exposure to cash flow interest rate risk arises
primarily from its variable-rate bank deposits and bank

borrowings.

The Group currently does not have any interest rate
hedging policy. However, the management monitors the
Group’'s exposure to interest rate risk on an ongoing basis
and will consider hedging interest rate risk should the

need arises.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been prepared based
on the exposure to interest rates for the Group's variable-
rate bank deposits and bank borrowings at the end of
Reporting Period. The analysis is prepared assuming the
amount of these assets and liabilities outstanding at
the end of Reporting Period were outstanding for the
whole period. A 100 basis points increase or decrease
in interest rates is used when reporting interest rate risk
internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in interest rates. The analysis has been performed

on the same basis for 2022.

At the end of the Reporting Period, if interest rates had
been 100 basis points (2022: 100 basis points) higher/
lower in respect of the Group's variable rate bank
deposits and bank borrowings, with all other variables
held constant, there would increase/decrease the Group's
post-tax loss for the Year 2023 and decrease/increase the
Group's equity as at 31 December 2023 by approximately

HK$5,727,000 (2022: HK$3,516,000).
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THEREERRREE (B

FERE

KEBRASZREREF
%}_HZN\EEZZ;E g E/?/@\ﬁﬁ
TERRIBITER-

7k £ [ 35 B ) 4 E ) =
SR o AT BIEEE
SELEAEEAEAR
o 46 70 7B T B P S A
:K}_ngn o

FE R Z T

DU SRR 2 A 5 AR 1% 2R
EHARANEEZFEBIRT
ERRIRITEEME RN
FER R - PRE DT
B R 5% ﬁAﬁﬁiﬁﬂﬂim’T\E’J
ZEEEREBESER
CRARS A AE R o %IJTLDFW
THRIOEEMNRAZTEE
EBEENERNPRSHER
SERER TABSEEHF
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EIRZERR
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ERFE LA, TE100E
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35 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b)

(Continued)
(iii) Creditrisk

(FRIEH BB LIATIIT)

35 H£FEMTAG

(iii)

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to
trade receivables, loans and interest receivable, other
receivables and bank deposits. As at 31 December 2023
and 2022, the Group's maximum exposure to credit risk
which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to
failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties
is the carrying amounts of the respective recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated statements
of financial position without taking account of any
factoring that do not qualify for derecognition in the
consolidated financial statements. As at 31 December
2023, trade receivables amounting to HK$403,124,000
(2022: HKS117,327,000) has been transferred to financial

institutions under factoring agreements.

Trade receivables:

In respect of trade receivables, the Group has a credit
policy in place and will perform credit evaluations on all
customers requiring credit over a certain amount. Certain
trade receivable balances on open account terms are
covered by customers' letters of credit or are factored to

external financial institutions.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Group reviews
the recoverable amount of each individual trade
debt regularly to ensure that adequate allowance for
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.
In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment
under expected credit loss model upon application
of HKFRS 9 on trade receivables. In this regard, the
management of the Group considers that the Group's

credit risk is significantly reduced.

THEREEERREE (@)

S8R
AEBEERMBEERS
B EWERR - BB R K
B~ H fh FE W 78 K IR
TEH RZBEZ=FFK
T _FE+"B=+—
H RAHFAHRERBTE
(e = PN Ay
BEAZREEERKR ALK
EHRBERRAENENNE
ERIBEHEENRE
B> Rt REAAEERR
REMBRRARILES
FERRE - R _ET - =
+ZB=+—H &85
403,124,000 T (Z&2 -
F 1 117,327,000587T) B 7
FEWBR R TH IRIBRIB # 55
IR T SRS o

E 5 BIARTL -

FE SRR S » 5%
EEHEEENEERR
WRERAEERERBR
R-HBREENERET
EEFHE  LURER S TVETT
E T B 5 B UWRMAE ER
B EE P SRR RE
EINERRIEAE

mEEAMEERE K&
BERERSENEZE
BBy PIUR (Ol 580 » LIRS
] e [B] & BB 1F 58 2 R
BEEREE UL AEE
REREEYBRESER
BB TAMEEHERER
Ut B 5 B W AR TR 1T R
B fhomItms > AEE
EEERAAEEEER
RO RMRRER
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35 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(FRIEFBERA LIATIIR)

35 H£FEMTAG

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) E=FEMEEEEEREER @&
(Continued)
(iii) Credit risk (Continued) (i) ESEEK @)
Trade receivables: (Continued) EBZEKER . (8
The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables AEBEREL2PEBEE
based on lifetime expected credit losses, which is BIEFTEE S BWRADN
calculated using a provision matrix. As the Group's ESIRTEE A o M0 A B XE AT
historical credit loss experience does not indicate HoHRAEBENBREEE
significantly different loss patterns for different customer BESRIARRBAAEAR
segments, the loss allowance based on past due status is FRENEEEXFERA
not further distinguished between the Group's different EEE WRBHAIKRFE
customer bases. HNEBEEIrERAE
NABEREEE—TE
ﬁ_j\ o
As at 31 December 2023, allowance for impairment of WZZE2E_=Z5+_A
HK$71,564,000 (2022: HK$63,449,000) was recognised in =+—8B > B ZEWER™M
respect of trade receivables. The following table provides TSR B R 71,564,000/ 7T
information about the Group's exposure to credit risk and (ZE 4 63,449,000
expected credit losses for trade receivables: 7o) c TREVIBMAEER
FFEEREERBREZE
WERRTEHR(E fl&??ﬁ &
e
2023 2022
Z§-= ZEICE
Gross  Allowance Gross
Expected carrying for Expected carrying  Allowance for
loss rate amount  impairment loss rate amount  impairment
BEREEE RELE AERE BOSBX RELE  AERE
$'000 $'000 §'000 §'000
Tr Fr i T
Current (not past due) 0 (Rad) 0.21% 540,517 1,162 0.19% 395,052 733
0t0 3 months past due AME3ER 1.14% 195,792 2,230 1.38% 103,249 1428
41012 months past due AME1ER 21.49% 7,847 1,686 19.84% 3932 780
Morethan 1 yearpastdue  MEIEL £ 89.96% 73,909 66,486 10000% 60,508 60,508
818,065 71,564 562,741 63,449
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35 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(FRIEH BB LIATIIT)

35 H£FEMTAG

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

(iiii)

Credit risk (Continued)
Trade receivables: (Continued)

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience
over the past 3 years. These rates are adjusted to reflect
differences between economic conditions during the
period over which the historic data has been collected,
current conditions and the Group's view of economic
conditions over the expected lives of the receivables.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, increase in
expected loss rate resulted in an increase in allowance
for impairment. For the year ended 31 December 2022,
decrease in expected loss rate resulted in recovery of
long outstanding debt during the year.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as the
Group's largest trade debtor accounted for 20% of its
total trade receivables as at 31 December 2023 (2022:
26%). In addition, the Group's top five major customers
accounted for 41% of its total trade receivables as at 31
December 2023 (2022: 41%).

(b)

THEREEERREE (@)

(iii)

EERE (8
EZRIRER - (#B)
RHEGEERDERBERIF

MNERBRLR AEEE
HEZEHREITHEE UK
B U £ PR SR B BRI O
AR5~ B ATAR T S A £ [ ¥
FE W R IBTE 5T & HE B9 &8 7%
REHNERZENER-

BHE—_Z_=#+="A
—+—HLEEE FBHE
B B (B 1
MmeBE_EB-__F+_"H
—+—HILEE  FERAEE
ETRERFEARE R
REEF

I
=+—H ' &xEBERKE

%F?AEET%%W%
Wﬁmwd_v__ﬁ
%w T HMAEBREE

$$WWFK:7:E
+-B=+—H A&&EER
ATEFRGHEEZ R
IRFAREEA1 (B4 .
41%) o
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35 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(FRIEFBERA LIATIIR)

35 H£FEMTAG

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

(iiii)

Credit risk (Continued)
Loans receivable:

In respect of loans receivable from customers and
potential suppliers, the Group manages and analyses
the credit risk for each of its debtors before payment
terms and conditions are concluded by assessing the
credit qualities of the debtors, taking into account its
financial position, past settlement experience, collateral
held and other factors. Loans receivable balances are
monitored on an ongoing basis, management reviews
the loans receivable at each reporting date to ensure that
adequate impairment allowance is made. In this regard,
management considers that the Group's credit risk is
significantly reduced.

An analysis of changes in the gross amount of loans
receivable is as follows:

(b)

THEREERRREE (B

(iii)

EERE (8

FEWER -

HRBWER RBEMHE
BER  AEEEBEN G
BBANGEEER TEE
H B BENGEL
5~ PRAFA BOIR 1R f A HLAth
[RIZR - FEBE RE (T R AR R A2 A%
HREERDTERHA
MEE R - FFEREREW
ERgn BEEEERRS
B 3 28 8 Ut & R LABE 53
SHE R SBE R o BLUL T
= EEERREAEENE
ERBEERERLD

B EMBEES DU
RS

Lifetime Lifetime
expected expected
12-month credit loss credit loss
expected - not credit - credit
credit Loss impaired impaired
(stage 1) (stage 2) (stage 3) Total
2HEH 20N
128 FEEHE- EEER-
BHGERRE FEHAE REiAfE
(BRERR) (B2MEER) (H3MER) EH
$'000 $'000 §'000 §'000
T T T T
Balance at 1 January 2022 RZZZ"F-B—H
H4EER 3,900 = 3,184 7,084
Exchange realignment ERAE = = (251) (251)
Balance at 31 December 2022 RZEZZF+ZA
—+—AREER 3900 = 2933 6833
Balance at 1 January 2023 RZZEZ=F-F—H
R4S ER 3,900 - 2,933 6,833
Advancement during the year ERBR 3,672 - - 3,672
Exchange realignment ERAZ - - (83) (83)
Balance at 31 December 2023 e =
o 7,512 - 2,850 10,422
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35 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 35 HEMTHAG
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) E=REMEEEEEREER @&
(Continued)
(iii) Credit risk (Continued) i) SR G
Loans receivable: (Continued) JEINEZ . (&)
An analysis of changes in the expected credit loss THHREEEBEEESH D
allowance is as follows: Mal
Lifetime Lifetime
expected expected
12-month credit loss credit loss
expected - not credit - credit
credit loss impaired impaired
(stage 1) (stage 2) (stage 3) Total

2HER 2HFEM
28R  FEBHR- EEBR-
BHEESRE  JHEEEE {EEHE

(FRR) (MR (MR At
$'000 $'000 §'000 §'000
T T i T
Balance at 1 January 2022 RZZZ"F-B—H
S - - 3,184 3184
Change in loss allowance: BiEEEES.
- Exchange realignment -ERBE - - (251) (251)
Balance at 31 December 2022 N =
=+—Bi&ER - - 2933 2933
Balance at 1 January 2023 RZBZ=F—-FB—HKN
s - - 2,933 2,933
Change in loss allowance: BEREEE .
- Provision made during the year —ERPERE 94 - - 94
- Exchange realignment -ERBE - - (83) (83)
Balance at 31 December 2023 RZB_=%+_R
=+—Bi&ER 94 - 2,850 2,944
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35 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(FRIEFBERA LIATIIR)

35 H£FEMTAG

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

(iiii)

Credit risk (Continued)
Other receivables:

For other receivables, the Group measures impairment
for other receivables (including refundable deposit
for proposed acquisition and refundable deposit for
purchase) based on 12-month expected credit loss or
lifetime expected loss, depending on whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition. The directors of the Company make
individual assessment on the impairment of other
receivables based on historical settlement records,
historical default experience, past due status of the
debtors and forward looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort. For the Year 2023, the
Group recognised a reversal of impairment loss in
respect of refundable deposit for proposed acquisition
of approximately HK$1,720,000 as such amount was
received during the Year 2023. Such refundable deposit
was impaired in Year 2022 amounting to approximately
HK$3,865,000 as the recoverability of the amount was in
doubt.

For the Year 2023, the Group recognised impairment loss
on interest and other receivables, and refundable deposit
for purchase of approximately HK$1,174,000 (Year
2022: HKS nil). The directors of the Company consider
that there are no significant increase in credit risk of
other receivables other than the refundable deposit for
proposed acquisition since initial recognition.

Bank deposits:

The credit risk for liquid funds is limited because such
amounts are placed with various banks with good credit
ratings. The Group is exposed to concentration of credit
risk on liquid funds which are deposited with several
banks with high credit ratings.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group's
exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables and
loans and other receivables are set out in notes 19 and
20 respectively.
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(b)
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(iii)

8RR @
BingsE -
HPEHMEWRIE AEE
ER2EREREERB
> HEREEFREFZHE
HEWRIBRE (BiRiEE
WEEENIRERS N
WHEEENRELRS) »
HRHJE\ B ¥ 1A FE SR LIRS

BERRETBEEMN AAQ
T%%*&#Ff,ﬂﬁuaﬁ-
ERBAKE B ARG
HB AR 50 DA B 8 5B 9 A %
EMNRARNBEIMAEZ
AIBE M E R B E AR UG
B8R EEITE R 5T o 72
TECZFEAERBRR
T -FEWREER®
HmMEREREZRNES
B PR IEF £ 491,720,000
BT R EBEERE R
T _FERSBRAE
UK B4 F5E > A RE AT 4R
B2 E 49386500078 7T ©
R_E - =ZFE REEHE
=0 8 WL R B R E At FE U =R
BHREBWEEENTR
B &R EREA1,174,000
BT (ZTEZZF 28
TO) o AABEER A Hith
EUAHIE (B WEEEN
RIEBERERIN NEER
B B ¥ 45 HE 50 LA 2R Al 4 B
EEme

RITIE .
mBEENEEREER
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35 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b)

(Continued)
(iv) Liquidity risk

(FRIEH BB LIATIIT)

35 H£FEMTAG

(iv)

The Group’s liquidity position is monitored closely by the
management of the Group. In the management of the
liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level
of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the
management to finance the Group's operations and to
meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer

term.

During the Year 2023, the Group financed its working
capital requirements principally by funds generated from
operations, loan from controlling shareholder, and bank

borrowings.

The following table details the Group's contractual
maturities as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 for its
financial liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on
undiscounted cash flows of financial and lease liabilities
based on the earliest date on which the Group can be
required to pay. The table includes both interest and

principal cash flows.

THEREEERREE (@)

wRENE RS
rEBRZEEEREYE
BREBZ RBESRT
EEERBEsRARSE:
AEEGEERGEFEIEE
HARABEZRERRAEE
BYKE URKERZE
BEEERmEHERARR
R REEESE K

N TETZFEKEERE
EFEREEEENES K
HERRKRENERKRIRT
EERREEEEEE K

TRFLAEERAR _-Z
“=ZFERIZBIF+Z
ﬁ +—BEMEeRBzs

BN - TRIDRIBES
ﬂ&@ S BB RRMIRIR
%uu% ’ IL/{ZIK%;E\T—Ji
NEFHAAREERR K
NEREMNERFEZRERN

=
5°

Repayable on Total
demand or 1-5  undiscounted Carrying
within 1 year years cash flows amount
RHEKRY KURRE
R-ERfEE —-E1f nERE REf[E
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
i i Fi i
As at 31 December 2023 At )
+ZA=+-H
Trade payables BARMRN 164,622 - 164,622 164,622
Financial liabilities included in other SARMERTIE
payables, accruals and deposits received  FESERREKIRSE
ZEHEE 11,078 - 11,078 11,078
Leases liabilities BEEE 4,072 5,695 9,767 9,150
Loan from controlling shareholder, REERREZER
unsecured A 44,565 - 44,565 43,784
Bank borrowings (note 1) RITEE () 759,072 - 759,072 759,072
(8 R ES 100 20,300 20,400 16,150
983,509 25,995 1,009,504 1,003,856
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35 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

35 H£FEMTAG
(b) =REMEBEEREE @&

(iv) Liquidity risk (Continued) (iv) wEEERR (@
Repayable on Total
demand or 1-5  undiscounted Carrying
within T year years cash flows amount
BARENT REREE
R—EREE —Eff MERR REE
§000 §000 §000 §000
T T T T
As at 31 December 2022 R_EZ_F
+ZA=1-H
Trade payables BRRMRN 131812 = 131812 131812
Financial liabilities included in other SAHMEMRIE
payables, accruals and deposits received ~ FEEBRRBRIRE
ZEHEE 14456 - 14456 14456
Leases liabilities REEE 3276 7,194 10470 9616
Bank borrowings (note 1) RITEE () 483,666 = 483666 483666
(8 o BRIES 100 20400 20500 15207
633310 2759 660,904 654,777
Note 1 BEsET -

Borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are included
in the "Repayable on demand or within 1 year”time band in the
above maturity analysis. As at 31 December 2023, the aggregate
undiscounted principal amount of these borrowings amounted
to HK$438,517,000 (2022: HK$392,686,000). Taking into account
the Group's financial position, the Directors do not believe that
it is probable that the banks will exercise their discretionary
rights to demand immediate repayment. The Directors believe
that such bank loans will be repaid in accordance with the
scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements.
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P EMBE S FTARERE
KEBEIVEESTATER
#XYEA fﬁlﬁqﬂ%?ﬁj E%Ex o JA
S =ZE+-_A=+—H"
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35 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 35 £REITHG
SRASEERIEREE @)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(iv) Liquidity risk (Continued)

Note 1: (Continued)

In accordance with the terms of the loans which contain
a repayment on demand clause, the maturity profile of
these loans as at the end of Reporting Period, based on the
contractual undiscounted payment according to the scheduled
repayment dates, is as follows:

(iv)

REEEERE @
e )

RENBEREBREZFRINE
TR ZFERNREHE
ISR (S A RIRA
RERRBEFREERBH INT

Within 1 year 1to5years  Over5 years Total
—£p -E1f BRLE fit
§'000 §'000 §'000 §'000
T T T T
As at 31 December 2023 RZBZ=

+-B=+-H 429,015 9,091 9,734 447,840

As at 31 December 2022 S
+-A=+-H 379,002 9,690 11,765 400457
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36 FAIRVALUE MEASUREMENTS OF FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS

36

The Group's financial instruments that are measured at fair values and
are measured at amortised cost whose carrying amount differs from

(FRIEFBERA LIATIIR)

ERMTAATENE

FEBR AT EFEREHHMAS
ENEHMIE (HREERATEST

fair values, are as follows: B) T :
Carrying amount Fair values
IREE AFE
2023 2022 2023 2022
—g-= “E"F | ZBZ= _EICE
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T T Fr Tt
Financial assets: SHEE:
-financial instrumentat VIPL ~ —@AFEIABZNEHRTE 13,125 12,674 13,125 12,674
- derivative asset —TEBE 1,730 1,001 1,730 1,001
14,855 13,675 14,855 13,675
Financial liabilities: ERaE:
- (B — AR RES 16,150 15,227 15,133 11,270
Management assessed that the fair values of cash and cash EEETFMIAA ReEkREEEB

equivalents, restricted balance, trade receivables, trade payables,
financial assets included in other receivables and deposits, financial
liabilities included in other payables and accruals, loan from
controlling shareholder, and the current portion of bank borrowings
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the short term
maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of the non-current portion of interest-bearing bank
borrowings have been calculated by discounting the expected future
cash flows using rates currently available for instruments with similar
terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The Group’s own non-
performance risk for interest-bearing borrowings as at 31 December
2023 and 2022 were assessed to be insignificant.
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(FRIEH BB LIATIIT)

36 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS OF FINANCIAL 36 EMTAATFEEHAE @

INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that
are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period for
recurring measurement, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the

TRINHR RS HBRMEE S
BURTEFENEM T RO RIE
AEBGFEREATFENIRER

degree to which the fair value is observable in accordance with the ENRBE—EF=MH7e

Group's accounting policy.

Assets measured at fair value BAFEIENEE
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—4 -t BZH Mt
$'000 §'000 $'000 $'000
T T T T
31 December 2022 —E-"%+-RA=1+—-H
Financial assets at FVTPL BAFEHABGNEREE
- Deposit placed for life insurance  — AS{REZS
policy - 12674 - 12674
- Derivative asset in respect of early — S iR 5512 A BB EBRIN
redemption option of CB TEBE - = 1,001 1,001
Total st - 12,674 1,001 13675
31 December 2023 —E-Z&#+-RA=1+—-H
Financial assets at FVTPL BRATEStABRNEREE
Deposit placed for life insurance ~ AS{REBERSE
oolicy - 13,125 - 13,125
Derivative asset in respect of early S A[$EH R A1 BB BN
redemption option of CB THEEE - - 1,730 1,730
Total st - 13,125 1,730 14,855

RAFERIBEFE » R FERE
RIEEEE S

There were no transfers between level of fair value hierarchy in
current and prior years.
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36

iR R R MR

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(FRIEFBERA LIATIIR)

TWMTAATENE @

Assets measured at fair values (Continued) }E"‘EF{E%"I'EBTQE (€))
Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements on recurring basis: MR B EEETE=RINAFES
ERHER !
Early redemption
option on CB
Al AR RS
2 A BE [B] 1
$'000
Tt
1 January 2022 R — s = e = S
Upon issuance of CB BT IR E SRS 4,179
Loss arising on changes of fair value recognised RiEHERNATEESEENEE
in profit or loss (3,178)
At 31 December 2022 ‘f:;::¢+—)§_+—5 1,001
Gain arising on changes of fair value recognised RIEmERNATFEESEENK
in profit or loss 729
At 31 December 2023 B _=F+_F=+—H 1,730

Since the Level 3 of financial assets are not quoted in an active
market, Hull model is used to estimate the fair value. When
estimating fair value using valuation technique, observable inputs
and data from the practical market (e.g. share price volatility, credit
spreads and risk free rate etc) are adopted. If the observable inputs in
the market cannot be obtained, the observable input data that are
calibrated as closely as possible to the market observable data are
used for estimating the fair value.

Meanwhile, the credit risk, volatility, correlation, etc of the Group
and the counterparty are estimated by the management. The
changing of these factors will affect the estimated fair value of the
financial instruments; therefore, there were uncertainty of accounting
estimation on Level 3 of financial assets.
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36 FAIRVALUE MEASUREMENTS OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Assets measured at fair values (Continued)

The above gain/(loss) arising from derivative asset for the Year 2023
and Year 2022 has been included in “fair value gain/loss in derivative
asset” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Below is the summary of significant unobservable input to the
valuation of financial instruments together with a quantitative

(FRIEH BB LIATIIT)

36 ERITAATEIZE @

BRATEAENEE @)
TR ZFERTECFE B
TEBEEENKE (BB 25t A
mEBRmREMEmWEEN TEER
AT EWEEE

UFTBR_FE_=FR_F__
TTA=t+—HEMIBEMGENEKR

sensitivity analysis as at 31 December 2023 and 2022: Ao R E A BB EER TS8R
B :
Relationship of
Valuation Significant unobservable inputs to
Description technique Key input unobservable inputs  fair value
) RBATENRTRES
it fE{E Rl FTEBARE ERFIRRBARE ABBHMEZ
Derivative asset in respect of Hull model Expected volatility, credit  Expected volatility of The higher the volatility rate,
early redemption option of CB spreads, spot price and  40.54% (2022: 45.44%) the higher the fair value
risk-free rate
HrMRESRAELE SRR BHRREGERE BHKER054% (CE EBHEEs ATEES
BRNTEEE REBER TR 1 4544%)
ERREHE

The fair value of derivative asset in respect of early redemption
option of CB was determined using Hull model that considers the
possible future prices of each period in time as well as the respective
probability.

The fair value measurement of the derivative asset is positively
correlated to the volatility level. As at 31 December 2023, it is
estimated that with all other variables held constant, an increase/
decrease in the expected volatility by 10% would have decreased/
increased the Group's loss by approximately HKS$1,051,000 (2022:
HK$631,000) and HK$848,000 (2022: HK$898,000), respectively.

H TR R A BB BN ITE
BEEMNATETLVERAMBRENEE &%
BREE R T K EE R A BERRERE
Bk BRI

MEBENAFES2HE KBKF
EFEBEGR RN _TE_=ZF+_1
=+—RB B EFBEEMEER
FARSIERT  BEREE 0,
0% E A EE BB R D BR800
#91,051,0007%8 7T (ZZ2 24 | 631,0007%8

70) 848000787t (Z& = 4 © 898,000
BIT) °
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36 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS OF FINANCIAL 36 EMTAATFEAE @

INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
Assets measured at fair values (Continued)
Below is the summary of valuation technique used for Level 2 inputs:

BRATEAENEE @)
LURARARE ZREA BB ER
R

Description Valuation technique Inputs
i it R {ER i A B
Deposit placed for life insurance policy Expected cash flows Cash value quoted by an insurance
company
AERERE TEHRERE REBEABIPMERNIREEE
Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed EHEEATENAR
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—4 B B8R st
$000 $'000 §'000 $'000
F7T F7T T T
31 December 2023 —E-=%+-RA=+-H
(B AR ES - 15,133 - 15,133
31 December 2022 - "H#+"RA=+—H
CB AR ES = 11,270 — 11,270
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37

38

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(FRIEH BB LIATIIT)

37

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group did not have any

material contingent liabilities.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH

FLOWS

(a) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

activities

38

HAGE
B _=ER_B-__&+_A
=t+—B AERTEEANEANARE

=

mARERERME
@) FMEEHFIEEARNER

Loan from
controlling
Bank shareholder,
borrowings unsecured  Lease Liabilities (B Total
REER
RENER
RIEE RILA HEERE  mhRES st
§000 §000 5000 §000 5000
Tr o Tr T i
Balance at 1 January 2022 RZEZZF-F—H
i 538545 - 1204 - 539,769
Changes fom fnancing activities:  BEEEIHES !
Advancement of bankinstalment X BTHHER
loans 12981 - - - 12981
Repayment of bank instalment loans B 3R1THHIE 2829 = = - (2829)
Net decrease in factoring loans REETAFE (70,199) - : = (70198)
Net increase in other bank borrowings  ELtE(T1E SIS 6,360 - - - 6,360
Interests on bank borrowings paid ~~ BAHETEERIS (18910) - - - (18910)
Interests on (8 paid BRIERESHE - - - (100) (100)
Capital element of lease rentals paid BT ERLE RS - = (1577) = (1577)
Interest element of lease rentals paid -~ BRI EHH - - (175) - (179)
Total changes from financing activities BB EEIMEENAE (72,59%) - (1,752 (100) (74449)
Other changes: Hitgs)
Finance costs charged to Profit orloss - RAEZHIRHIBE A
(hote7) Wi7) 18910 - 175 883 19968
Increase in lease liabilties from ERFIREELNA
entering into new leases during EafEm
the year - - 10327 - 10327
Increase inliability component of (8 S FI#1IRRESR IFHY
oninitial recognition during the iRESEEAN
year HAgm - - - 14444 14444
Exchange realignment ERREE (1,193) - (359) = (1551)
Total other changes At @8z 17717 = 10,144 15327 43188
Balance at 31 December 2022 RZE__E+_°H
=+—HEvESR 483,666 - 9616 15007 508,509
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38 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 38 FARERERMTE @
FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(a) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (a) MEIZHFAEESEMNHIE
activities (Continued) “@)
Loan from
controlling
Bank  shareholder,
borrowings unsecured  Lease Liabilities B Total
KE kR
RRMER
Ri7feE g HEafR  THERES L h
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
r r n r r
Balance at 1 January 2023 RZEZ=%-F-H
i 483,666 - 9,616 15,227 508,509
Changes fom financing activities:  BIEZERES !
Advancement of bank instalment loans T2 SR/ D HRE R 3,289 - = s 3,289
Repayment of bank instalment loans BB R1THEAER (5,536) 5 S = (5,536)
Net increase in factoring loans REETEMZE 229,572 = 5 = 229,572
Net increase in other bank borrowings Eﬁﬂfﬁﬁfﬁ =i 48,467 - - - 48,467
Increase in loan from controlling RELRRENED
shareholder, unsecured (I T&T ) 5810 - 43,470 e = 43,470
Interest on bank borowings paid - BAHETEERIE (33,551) - = s (33,551)
Interest on CB paid B TRRESHE - - S (100) (100)
Capital element of lease rentals paid ~ BTAEREEAHH - - (3,304) - (3,304)
Interest element of lease rentals paid BT EREF S5 - - (436) - (436)
Total changes from financing activities BRE & BNRYE B AE T 242,41 43470 (3,740) (100) 281,871
Other changes: Aed.
Finance costs charged to profit orloss KB Z I BRMIBRE AL A
(note 7) (Ftz7) 33,551 314 436 1,023 35,324
Increase in lease liabilties from entering ~ 5 ~ = EE ;T E
into new leases during the Year 2023 EEMRE&EEM - - 3,129 - 3,129
Disposal RE - - (23) = (23)
Exchange realignment ERER (386) 5 (268) = (654)
Total other changes HhESRE 33,165 314 3274 1,03 31,776
Balance at 31 December 2023 RIEZ=f4- ﬁ
=+—HbER 759,072 43,784 9,150 16,150 828,156
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R e R R MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

38 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH

FLOWS (CONTINUED)
(b) Material non-cash transactions

During the Year 2023, the Group has the following material

non-cash financing activities:

(FRIEH BB LIATIIT)

38 iZAWE

MERMEE (B

b) EEXRIFRERS

RTECZFECAERAEMUT

ERFREMEED !

- During the Year 2023, the Group has no acquisition of —
property. During the Year 2022, the Group acquired a
property from Nicegoal Limited by issuance of CB and
PSCS of the Company to satisfy the Consideration.

- the Group entered into new lease agreements and —
recognised right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of
approximately HK$3,129,000 (2022: HK$10,327,000).

NTET=FEAEEN
Exdlogs- /L) - —
B AEEEEBARAT
WEE—IEY %X FRBITK
NE AR ES R KAR
AR RS EMRE

AEBTUHEERHZEL
BIAEHAEEEKRTEES
E493,129,000 T (=&
— 4 1 10,327,00057T) ©
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(FRIEFBERA LIATIIR)

39 STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES 39 ZSATINEFEIR R RE#E

OF THE COMPANY
2023 2022
—EZ= B F
$'000 $'000
Fi Tt
Non-current assets ERENEE
Investment in subsidiaries REATNEE 15,464 14,396
Total non-current assets EMBNEEMRE 15,464 14,896
Current assets RENEE
Derivative asset TTEEE 1,730 1,001
Amounts due from subsidiaries =N 154,069 158,242
Deposits and prepayments BERFEMTIE 10 37
Bank balances IR1T45ER 306 273
Total current assets MEEERE 156,115 159,553
Current liabilities mEafE
Other payables, accruals HhfENRIE Bt & 13,482 13,666
Amounts due to subsidiaries NI ENCIE = 10,493 6,583
Total current liabilities MENB[RAREE 23,975 20,249
Net current assets RENEEREE 132,140 139,304
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
CB AR ES 16,150 15,227
Total non-current liabilities JEMEN B EARRE 16,150 15,227
NET ASSETS BESEE 131,454 138,973
CAPITAL AND RESERVES B RKiHE
Share capital (&N 10,751 10,751
Reserves T 110,703 118,222
PSCS KA R AR A 1B 58 25 10,000 10,000
TOTAL EQUITY iR 131,454 138,973
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(FRIEH BB LIATIIT)

39 STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES

OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

39 FABNMBIRRERRHE (@

Movement in the Company’s issued capital and reserve

AT BITRERHEEE

Shares held
forthe Perpetual
Restricted ~ Share-based subordinated
Share ~ Share Award payment  Convertible Retained convertible
Share capital ~ premium Scheme reserve  bond reserve earnings Subtotal securities  Total Equity
Rt RiR
REHUT  MRGIEM A *AT4
ks RIYEE HERG  ERE  BHRE  RIEN gt AR s
§000 §000 §000 5000 5000 §000 §000 5000 §000
T i 1 1T T i I T T
At1 January 202 RZE-"%-B-H 10,09 107477 (3629 903 S (10741) 104,106 - 104106
Recognition of equity component of (8 FESR T AR B AN BR AR
5 - - - 9735 - 9735 = 9735
lsue of PSCS BRI RE - - - - - 10000 10000
Loss for the year EREE - - - - 9497) (9497) = 9497)
lste ofshares ARG 655 24911 - - - 25,566 - 25566
Shares purchased for the Restricted ~~ ATRFIE RN EBSTEIE AN
Share Award Scheme & - - (2199) - - - (2199 - (21%9)
Recognition of equity-settled share-  BESILLERAEEE 2 LKA
based payment fiFE = = 1311 = = 1311 = 1311
Shares vested for the Resticted Share SR ARA7 SR B 512
Award Scheme ERERMA - - 5! (7) - (150 - -
Distribution to holder of PSCS AR R R
READDR . . s . (50) (50) - (50)
At 31 December 2022 RIB-"E+"R=1-H 10751 132388 (5,104) 1641 9735 (20438) 128973 10000 138973
At T January 2023 RIEZZ£-F-H 10,751 132,388 (5,104) 1,641 9,735 (20438) 128973 10,000 138,973
Loss for the year FREE - - - - - (5,047) (5,047) - (5,047)
Shares purchased for the Restricted AR EIE RN EBSTEIE AN
Share Award Scheme R - - (2,990) - - - (2,990) - (2,990)
Recognition of equity-settled share-  BESILEREE 2 LKA
based payment fIFE - - - 568 - - 568 - 568
Shares vested for the Resticted Share SRR ARA7 SR B 518
Awiard Scheme ERERR - - 937 (810) - (127) - -
Distibution to holder of PSCS ARATRTRRESHEA
MR - - - . . (50) (50) - (50)
At 31 December 2023 RZB-=E+"F=1-H 10,751 132,388 (1,157) 1399 9,735 (25,662) 121,454 10,000 131,454
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Five-year Financial Summary
L EFEMHHE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)  (BRIEB BERER> LUBITHR)

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-controlling MRBERBEM BEENSEBMERUKRE

interests of the Group for the last five financial years is set out below. E-BEMRFERERNBZESIUT -
RESULTS E4
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E-= —E _E_—F _EBE_ZF _T-NE
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Fit F T Tt Fr
Revenue Wi 2,529,796 2,689,094 2,640,100 1,756,038 1,936,844
(Loss)/profit before tax BRI AT (5538)
Vet (5,202) (33,867) 23,107 1,771 (8,249)
Tax G (4,958) 831 (6,487) (1,650) (863)
(Loss)/profit for the year FR (BB
gl (10,160) (33,036) 16,620 121 9,112)
Attributable to: MUFALFEG:
— Owners of the Company  VNCIEZ 2SN (16,160) (32,386) 6,735 (5,115) (16,985)
- Non-controlling interests —JEERER 6,000 (650) 9,885 5,236 7873
(10,160) (33,036) 16,620 121 9,112)

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS  && - (SR IR

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—EC-= ECCE T -F TITE TZ-hE
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T Fi F Tt Fi
(Restated)
(1R E5)
Total assets BEMAE 1,354,286 1013434 1,094,117 1,028,529 949,354
Total liabilities BB (1,026,207) (670,884) (753,771) (707,035) (629,642)
Non-controlling interests JEERR (37,463) (31,386) (35,518) (28,080) (25,840)
PSCS KARER

EIE:AY g (10,000) (10,000) = = =

Equity attributable to the owners Z<A TR A
of the Company (G 280,616 301,164 304,828 293414 293,872
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Glossary

R

AGM
BRRBFRG

Annual Report

FR

Articles of Association

EEEEAA

Audit Committee
BREES

AVT
MR

Best Sheen

(E3=

Board
Ex5g

Board Diversity Policy
EFEMESTTIEER

CB
AR ES

CEO
TEABEL

CG Code
AT

Chairman

S

CODM
TBEERES

Company

PN/NS|

Company Secretary

NEIME
Controlling Shareholder(s)

ERRRER

annual general meeting of the Company

KABRRBFARG

annual report for the financial year ended 31 December 2023

BE_Z_=—F+_A=1T—HLEYMBRFEZFR

articles of association of the Company

KRB ABEEZMER

audit committee of the Board
EEEBE%EEY

AVT International Limited, a subsidiary of the Company
BB ERBEREBRAR RAABMBAZ

Best Sheen Limited
EEERAE

the board of directors of the Company
KRFIEEE

board diversity policy of the Company
FABREFEMEZSTTIEER

the convertible bond in the principal amount of HK$20.0 million

AEEA2008 B BT BRKRES

chief executive officer of the Company

A BT R,

Corporate Governance Code as contained in Appendix C1 (formerly Appendix 14)
to the Listing Rules

EHRAIMERC (BT A&+ 00) PR8id R ERTH

Chairman of the Board

EREXRE

chief operating decision maker

TBEERES

Apex Ace Holding Limited
FERIERBRAT

company secretary of the Company

KABRBME

controlling shareholder(s) (has the meaning ascribed thereto in the Listing Rules) of

the Company
KNBERRKRE (BB LHHRAEFZANEE)
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PR

CovID-19
CovID-19

Director(s)

5%

Dividend Policy
% BER

Dr. Chow
#pEE

Global Offering
2IKEE

Group
~EE

HKD/HKS
BTT

HKFRSs
BAMBREER

HKICPA
EEBHOAE

HKSAs
B AE R

Independent Auditor

18 31 A% BB

INED(s)
BIFRITES

Listing
£

Listing Date
EHHE

Listing Rules

ERA]
Main Board

EWR

Coronavirus disease of 2019
20198 AR E B IR

directors of the Company

KFABEF

dividend policy of the Company
KRB REBEER

Dr. Chow Terence

SEHBE

global offering of ordinary Shares
EREEEER

Company and its subsidiaries

FABREWEAF

Hong Kong dollars
BT

Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
BEAMBHRSEL

Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
EERHPAG

Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
BAEEL

independent auditor of the Company

NUNSIEE VR 2 Gl

independent non-executive Directors

BIJFRTES

The issued shares of the Company were initially listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange

AT BETRDIBA I ERER LS

16 March 2018
2 N\E=A+AH

Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange

Bex2Pragss AR A

the stock market (excluding the option markets) operated by the Stock Exchange
which is independent from and operated in parallel with the GEM

B PrE EM B L N CGEMKR BEAGEMIE 1T EB 2 TR 55 (R EIEHET5)
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Glossary

R

Memorandum and Articles

RAD B 4R

Model Code

Mr. CH Lee
FEENRE

Mr. Cheung
sRITE

Mr. Lee
FRE

Mr. Lo
Bk

Mr. Yim
BTk

Ms. Lo
Bzt

NCTOR
BB gHERLE

Nicegoal

EW

Nicegoal Investments

EBRE

Nomination Committee
RREEE

Nomination Policy

RBHBR

PRC
FRE]

Prospectus
BRER

PSCS

KAR PR 5

memorandum and articles of association of the Company

RABEB S 2 A AR

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
Appendix C3 (formerly Appendix 10) to the Listing Rules

EHRAIMERC3 FiRMiEE+) PR LT AESETRSXZNERE
Sl

Mr. Lee Chak Hol
FEERE

Mr. Cheung Siu Kui
SRNERST A

Mr. Lee Bing Kwong
FRAKE

Mr. Lo Yuen Kin
e

Mr. Yim Kwok Man
BB E

Ms. Lo Yuen Lai
ETEZ Tt

terms of reference of the Nomination Committee

REEEIRIESE

Nicegoal Limited

EBARRF

Nicegoal Investments Limited

EBREBRLQT

nomination committee of the Board
EERRLEETY

nomination policy of the Company

RABRBER

People’s Republic of China
hEARHEME

prospectus of the Company dated 28 February 2018
AABIHBAZE— N \FZAZ+N\HZBRER

the perpetual subordinated convertible securities in the principal amount of
HK$10.0 million
REREA1008 B BT LKA RPIARKE

ANNUAL REPORT 20233 179



Glossary

PR

Remuneration Committee
¥FI'E)\H§/ = =

Restricted Share Award Scheme

PR MR D 2B 5t 8

RMB
AR

SFO
a5 MR E IR A

Share(s)
&R

Share Option Scheme

BERREStE

Shareholders

BB

Stock Exchange

Bk 32 PR

Subsidiaries

(N EYANE
Substantial Shareholder(s)
FERE

TWD
e

USD/USS
=TT

Year 2023/Reporting Period
REFE RS AR

Year 2022
TETTFE

%
%

remuneration committee of the Board
EEFHWEZES

restricted share award scheme adopted by the Board on 30 August 2019

EFER_T-AF/N\B =T HEMZRHER M R 58

Renminbi

ARH

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
BERERES BB/ FRIAE A

Company's issued ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each

RABBREBIBTZEETEER

share option scheme adopted by the Company on 15 February 2018
KRR ZBE—-N\F_A+ILBHMNZ BRESE

shareholders of the Company

KATIRER

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BEAMERZFIARAR

all or certain subsidiaries of the Company (as the case may be)

ARBPRAERETHBAR (RIBERME)

substantial shareholder(s) (having the meaning ascribed thereto in the Listing

Rules) of the Company
AABEBRE (BB LTRUBTZANEE)

New Taiwan dollar

Mmar

United States dollars

ETT

financial year ended 31 December 2023

BE_Z_=—F+_RA=1t—HLEMBFE

financial year ended 31 December 2022

BE_Z__F+_A=+—HLYHFE

per cent

B
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